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PREFACE.

The present work is not a mere revision, nor even a redaction,
of the “ Parochial History of Waterford and Lismore,” published
a quarter of a century, or so, since. It is, in fact, a new and in-
dependent work, although, necessarily, it incorporates practically
all the material of the older book. Owing to the circumstances
under which the earlier volume was compiled, that work was not
satisfactory from the writer’s point of view ; it was, for instance,
defectively proportioned, and less complete than it might have been.
The book was really a reprint of newspaper articles, hastily put
together and printed from week to week in a Waterford paper.
The work now presented is perhaps as complete as it is, at present,
possible to make it, although much detail of minor importance has
been omitted. An immense amount of new material—over fifty
per cent. of the whole—has been added and all the old material
has been recast, corrected and revised. As a consequence of the
great present-day cost of printing brevity and condensation have
had to be studied and practised. It is hoped that neither has been
attained at the expense of clarity.

The story—at least in any considerable detail—of the ancient
Irish (Celtic or pre-Invasion) and Hiberno-Norman eras is rather
lacking in popular appeal. For this reason the history in question
is lightly passed over in the present volume, but it is by no means
ignored ; a summary is given, which, it is trusted, the reader will
find sufficient for all ordinary purposes. Attention is concentrated
on the penal and post-penal centuries; these being nearer to us,
are more popularly intelligible.

In a compilation of his pages the writer has made use of all
the usual authorities, printed and in manuscript. If he has not
added a bibliography it is because he does not regard this now
fashionable apparatus as worth while; he suspects, in fact, that
much of the formal bibliography appended to books like the present
is literary affectation. Suffice it for him to say that, in addition to all
the usual, and many unusual, sources, he has made extensive use
of place-names, tombstone inscriptions, baptismal registers, old
newspapers, Irish and other manuscripts, prerogative and other
wills, family history, legal deeds, sworn affidavits of informers,
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taxations, visitations, recantations, proclamations, directories, and
even broadside ballads and oral tradition. Regarding so-called
popular tradition the writer would like to add, first, that most of it
is not tradition at all, but modern invention, secondly, that the so-
called local legend is a concoction more worthless still.

To give the names of all these to whom the writer owes acknow-
ledgment of help received would require many pages. Hundreds
of intelligent long-memoried, old men whom the author, to his
profit, interviewed in course of his investigations, have since passed
to their reward. May their interest in God’s house and their
Church’s story redound to their eternal welfare. To the additional
hundreds still living, whose kindly aid he has never asked in vain,
the writer can express his thanks, only in general terms. He must,
however, make individual mention of the following to whose
courtesy and learning he stands indebted for valuable notes, sug-
gestions and criticisms :—the late Canon Carrigan and the late
Mr. I. R. B. Jennings, Messrs. Seamus O Casaide, M.A., B.L,,
Charles McNeill, Henry D. Keane, Solicitor ; J. F. McCarthy of the
National Education Office, Richard O’Foley, Mathew Butler, Very
Rev. Canon McGuirk of Dublin and Miss Pauline Henley, M.A.,
University College, Cork. He begs finally to acknowledge his
deep indebtedness to the Cork University Press, and in particular
to Professor A. O’Rahilly, for relieving him of the anxiety ordinarily
involved in book publication.

The compiler disclaims any intention of offering the present
work as an adequate history of the diocese. It claims rather to
be an ordered collection of material which will save the future
historian half a lifetime of labour. Also it will, for the present,
satisfy the general desire for knowledge of our diocesan past. In-
deed it may well be, that publication, in its present form, of the
material here gathered will actually provoke emergence of the future
historian in question.

- In a work, such as the present, wherein many thousands of
isolated facts have, for the first time, been got together, put in order
and co-related, some errors are inevitable. Occasional occurence
of these latter, therefore, will scandalise only the inexperienced
and the pharisee; all other readers will make due allowance for
circumstances. The writer is bold enough to hope that not many
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errors will be found in the following pages and that such as may
occur are of little account ; at any rate, he has taken all reasonable

pains, and perhaps somewhat more, to avoid misstatements and to
prevent ambiguity.

P. POWER.
Dec., 1936.
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Introduction.

Reference to our prefixed map will show that the present
Diocese of Waterford and Lismore includes practically the whole
County of Waterford, with two baronies, and portions of two others,
of Tipperary County. The diocese is therefore roughly co-terminous
with ancient Decies as the latter principality extended in the
12th century. In addition to the County of Waterford and the
considerable area of Tipperary referred to, the diocese includes five
small townlands of Co. Cork but, as if to counterbalance the five
Co. Cork townlands, five small townlands of Co. Waterford form
part of the parish of Leitrim in Cloyne Diocese. The five Co. Cork
townlands lie on south side of the Blackwater in the parish of
Ballyduif while the alienated Co. Waterford area adjoins the same
river on the north. Formerly the diocese was of much greater
extent : in the first half of the 12th cent. it seems to have embraced
about one third of the present Cloyne, and at a later period—for some
centuries—the parishes of Kilworth, Co. Cork, and Tybroughney,
Co. Kilkenny, were reckoned as belonging to Lismore.

Controversy has expended itself on the question of the earliest
Christian preacher in the Decies. Both personality and period
of the apostle in question are somewhat uncertain, though it is
likely that we have now as much data on the subject as we
shall ever have. It must be granted as extremely probable that,
at least, the seaboard of Waterford had received its first Christian
message previous to the coming of St. Patrick. Contiguity to
Britain and the Continent, together with such documents as
Declan’s *“ Life”” make such a theory tenable if they do not actually
establish it {V7de “ Beatha Deglain "—Irish Texts Society, 1914]. We
find ourselves on firmer ground when we come to St. Carthage
(otherwise Mochuda) who, in 630, or thereabout, established him-
self at Lismore and founded there a famous abbey and a monastic
school. Lismore became the ecclesiastical capital of Decies and
within the territory which it ruled there grew up many other
religious establishments, sometimes governed by bishops, e.g.,
Molana, Mothel, Ardfinnan, etc.

B
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2 INTRODUCTION.

As the present Diocese of Waterford and Lismore is the geo-
graphical representative of ancient Decies at the period of the
latter’s greatest extension some notice of the principality and its
primitive population will not be inappropriate to our introduction.

About the beginning of the Christian Era the region comprised
in the present-day Co. Waterford appears, according to Ptolemy,
to have been occupied by two peoples or tribes—the Iverni,
to the west and the Brigantes in the east. How far inland the
two peoples carried their sway we do not know; indeed Ptolemy
has himself only second, or third, hand information. Neither do
we yet know for certain whether our two peoples, or either of them,
were Celts. As far as we can at present gauge, the Brigantes were,
most probably, of Celto-Germanic origin; the Iverni may have
been Pre-Celts. These Iverni, whoever they were, seem to have
been an important people—the most important, at one time, in
pagan Ireland. They it was who, probably, gave its name Ivernia,
Juverna, or Hibernia to the whole country; they seem to have
occupied approximately the entire Co. Cork, with portion of Kerry,
and the Co. Waterford west from Dungarvan. The eastern half
of Waterford would appear to have, at a later date and even up
to the beginning of historic times, belonged to Ossory and Leinster.
How Decies commenced to be formed and to extend its boundaries
north of the Suir and the Knockmaeldowns—even into the plain of
Cashel—is told in an old saga, * The Treking of the Desii,” of
which we have more than one version. According to this account,
which, in the main, may be accepted as history, the Desii were
originally a people of Meath, whose home was in Bregia, around
Tara. Driven out from that place in the time of Cormac MacAirt,
they or one section of them, after much wandering, settled in the
present Co. Waterford, whence they expelled the original stock, or
rather, perhaps, reduced the latter to servile status. Some little
time later—shortly before the coming of St. Patrick—the Desii
extended themselves to the north of the present county boundary,
from which they drove out the Ossorians. The part of Decies
lying within the present County Tipperary-—mostly a fertile lime-
stone plain—became known as Northern Decies, while the older
portion of the petty kingdom was distinguished as Southern Decies.
Tt is not necessary for our purpose to elaborate the story here out-
lined ; details of the latter may have to be modified as a result
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of further research, but it is unlikely that the broad lines will be
materially affected. It is somewhat remarkable that the national
apostle did not extend his missionary journey into Decies—at any
rate, into Southern Decies. The previous preaching therein of
St. Declan suggests a reason for the omission. The ““ Life” of
Declan refers to a visit—apparently hurried—of Patrick’s to the
vicinity of Clonmel, but it is fairly evident that no part of Southern
Decies had the benefit of the apostle’s direct ministry.

Into the very interesting questions of old Irish church discipline,
organisation and jurisdiction it is not necessary, in a popular work
of history, to enter, or, at any rate, to proceed very far. Suffice
it, for our purpose, to state that discipline of the old Irish church
differed, in many respects, from present day practice. Needless
to add that difference in discipline implies no divergence of faith ;
while doctrine is essential, discipline is only accidental. The most
apparent, if not the most important, peculiarity of early Irish
ecclesiastical life was the method of church government. Often,
if not generally, the organisation took on a monastic, or semi-
monastic, character. The territorial church ruler was often the
abbot of a monastery ; true, the abbot was usually a bishop, but,
it was his abbatial, rather than his episcopal, character which was
emphasised. And sometimes, as in the Columban monasteries,
the abbot remained a simple presbyter. How did this presbyter-
abbot provide in matters requiring episcopal powers ? By retaining
in his monastery and still under obedience to him a monk in bishop’s
orders. In old Irish estimate then the bishop was inferior to the
abbot, and, if the abbot was also a bishop he was really an abbot
primarily. Moreover, both abbacy and episcopacy were semi-
hereditary ; they descended in the sept so that no outsider was
eligible while there was a suitable candidate (“a good man ”) of
the founder’s family. This and other anomalies of Irish Church
organisation are a natural enough outcome of the country’s isolation,
of popular reverence for Patrician tradition, and of Celtic legal
and social systems on to which the ecclesiastical system was cleverly
grafted. But must it all not have made for a kind of religious
anarchy ? To think so is to mistake the acumen of old Irish
law-givers—ecclesiastical and civil. Foreseeing such danger our
ancient legislators provided against ambiguity and dispute; this
does not, however, mean that disputes did not arise. For all
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their conservatism our Irish church founders were men of original
and daring minds who generally chose the shortest way to their
destination.

In few cases—if, indeed, in any—can we now follow in detail
the developments to which the system just outlined led in the
Decies. We find bishops—some of them certainly, and most of
them probably, of abbatial character—at Lismore, Ardmore,
Clashmore, Mothel, Kilbarrymedan, Donoghmore, Kilcash, Molana,
Kilsheelan, and other places. Their areas of jurisdiction were
not called dioceses, but they were miniature dioceses in all but
name, and they were often called parishes (parochiae—CJr. Farahy,
Co. Cork); they had their limits in tribal, or territorial,
boundary, and, presumably, they expanded or contracted with
the latter. Though there were occasional bishops, or bishop-abbots,
at the centres enumerated above there was no very lengthened
succession in any, if we, perhaps, except Lismore, Ardmore and
Donoghmore, and, in all cases, except at Lismore, the areas of
jurisdiction were circumscribed. Aslateas 1210, Pope Innocent III,
in a grant to Donatus, Archbishop of Cashel, alludes to a then
existing Cathedral of Ardmore. In the same document, by the
way, the Pope refers to Clonmacnoise as then subject to Cashel.
At the Synod of Rathbreasail in 1110, presided over by the Papal
Legate, Gelasius, an attempt was made, perhaps for the first time,
to reduce the number of Irish bishops, and to fix geographical,
as distinct from territorial, boundaries to dioceses. The number of
bishoprics was actually reduced to twenty-six—corresponding to
main territorial divisions. The legislation does not seem to have
become immediately effective ; it was not till nearly half-a-century
later that, at Kells and in 1152, the formal diocesan system became
operative. The dioceses aligned at Kells are, with some modi-
fications, the dioceses of to-day.

At Rathbreasail the Diocese of Lismore was defined as bounded
by Waterford Diocese on the east, and as extending to Cork on
the west. There is no reference to a Diocese of Cloyne; we are
left to assume that the present Cloyne to south of the Blackwater
and east of Cork belonged to Lismore. The region scheduled
embraces the present parishes of Carrigtwohill, Midleton, Killeagh,
Youghal, Ballymacoda, Cloyne, Aghada, Lisgoold, Rathcormac,
Castlelyons, Fermoy and Aghern, with portion of two others. This
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former westward extension of Lismore had its origin in the
foundation by Mochuda (Carthage) of several churches within that
region, ¢,g., Spike Island, Ballybricken, Rostellan, Ballyhooley
and Clondulane. Aslate, at least, as the 16th century ene additional
large parish, scil., Kilworth, was included in Lismore (vid. Taxations
and Visitations). How transfer of the last named parish to Cloyne
was effected we do not now know. To account for transfers similar
to the present, the story was evolved, and stereotyped, of a neglected
“sick call,” and the consequent indignation of the parishioners
leading to demand for annexation to an extern parish or diocese.
Apparently also, one parish, Tybroughney, of the present Ossory,
once, and for many centuries, belonged to Lismore. It is not
improbable that the semi-monastic character of these parishes
had something to do with their transfer to other dioceses.
Tybroughney was impropriate in the great Augustinian House of
Athassel, while Kilworth and, presumably, Leitrim were depend-
encies of the Cistercian Abbey of Fermoy (‘‘ De Castro Dei”),

The church and monastery of Lismore, which grew to be one
of the renowned centres of ancient Irish learning and piety, owed
its foundation to St. Mochuda of the 7th century. Mochuda,
otherwise Carthage, was a native of Kerry, and he had been abbot
of Rahan in Offaly. It is probable that there had been a Christian
church at Lismore previous to the time of Mochuda, for in the
Saint’s Life there is an implied reference to such a foundation.
Be this as it may, Mochuda, driven out of Rahan, with his muintir,
or religious household, migrated southward, and, having crossed
the Blackwater at Affane, established himself at Lismore in 630.
In deference to Mochuda’s place of birth the saint’s successor in
Lismore was, for centuries, a Kerryman. Lismore grew in time
to be a great religious city, and a school of sacred sciences, to which
pilgrims from all over Ireland and scholars from beyond the seas
resorted. The rulers of the great establishment were all, or most
of them, bishops, though they are more generally styled abbots
by the Annalists. Among the number are several who are listed
as Saints by the Irish Martyrologies, scil :-—

Iarloga, abbot and bishop of Lismore ... Jan. 16,
Mocolmog, grandson of Boennae Jan 22,
Cuana, abbot Feb. 4.

Ciaran, abbot . Feb. 4.
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[Most probably the name Ciaran, which appears only in the
Martyrology of Gorman, is written here in error for Cuana]

Ronan, bishop of Lismore Feb. 9

Aedhan, bishop of Lismore ... ... March 16,
[He died A.D., 761.]

Eochaidh, abbot of Lismore ... April 17,

[He died, 634; he was therefore the immediate successor
of Mochuda.}

Cathaldus .. May 10.
Mochuda (with hundreds) May 14.
Maeldeid . May 21.
Cronan, abbot of Llsmore . June 1.
[He died, 717.]
Christianus (died 1186) June 12,
Aedhan, abbot of Lismore July 19.
Eoghan Oct. 16.
Comman, grandson of Claran abbot of
Lismore Oct. 31.
[His name is wrltten Colman in Martyr. Donegal.]
Munchein, abbot of Lismore ... Nov. 12,
Joain Nov. 13.
Connait, abbot of Llsmore (died 759) Nov. 15.
Sillan, bishop of Lismore Nov. 21,
Maedoc, bishop of Lismore ... Nov. 29.
Macoige, abbot of Lismore ... Dec. 3.
Suarilech Ua Ciarain, abbot of Lismore ... Dec. 4.

[He died 773

It does not fall within the scope of such a work as the present
to tell the full story of Lismore ; indeed the time for such a narrative
is not yet; for our immediate purpose we must be content with
an outline sketch. With the Synods of Rathbreasail and Kells the
succession of what we may call secular or purely diocesan bishops,
begins. This is not to say that the bishops from Mochuda to
Malchus were not true diocesan rulers in Decies. From the mid
12th cent., however the diocese became more strictly defined,
and independent of tribal or dynastic boundaries. Malchus who
was bishop in 1134, or thereabout, was an ecclesiastic of outstanding
learning and virtue. Up, at any rate, to this time the bishop of
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Lismore had not quite lost his monastic character, nor his school
its ancient fame. The city, at the time, possessed no fewer than
twenty churches (old Irish monastic style), and the remains of
some survived up to the 18th cent. Among the famous strangers
who came, in the time of Malchus, to study sacred science at Lismore,
were Malachy of Armagh and Cormac the future King of Cashel
and the builder therein of the wonderful chapel which still bears
his name. Of Bishop Malchus we are, unfortunately, not told
enough to enable us to decide whether he be identical with the first
bishop of Waterford, as identity of names, date and character
suggest. On the whole it seems very likely that there was but a
single Malchus, who was transferred to Lismore from Waterford.
Malchus had been a Benedictine monk and it may not be without
significance that his successor in Lismore was also a religious—
Christian O’Conarchy of the Cistercian order—and that the Cistercian
and Benedictine orders were, at the time, regarded as, more or
less, identical. Christian, who had been Papal Legate and had,
as such, presided at the Synod of Cashel in 1172, ultimately resigned
his see and returned to the cloister, wherein he ended his days,
at Abbeydorney in Kerry. From the resignation of Christian the
story of Lismore becomes less obscure. The see, as often as not,
was ruled by bishops of foreign origin. Felix, Bishop of Lismore,
attended the Lateran Council in 1179. Another successor of
Mochuda, Robert de Bedford, who died, 1222, had an unseemly
controversy with the cotemporary bishop of Waterford about
certain church lands. Thomas, elected, 1253, whose family name
is not given, suffered ill treatment at the hands of Matthew le Poer,
who arrested and imprisoned him. He also had a lengthened
controversy with David MacCarvil, Archbishop of Cashel, who
laid claim to a large area of Lismore diocese, scil. :(—the region
bounded south and west by the river Suir. Thomas le Reve, who
had for a while held the office of Lord Chancellor, and in whose
time the union of sees took place, died at a great age in 1393.
Richard Cox, appointed, 1279, re-opened the dispute over church
property with the bishop of Waterford. As late as the 15th cent.
the primacy of Lismore, among the Sanctuaries and Schools of
Munster, seems to have been tacitly acknowledged. In recognition
of the status in question, special immunities were granted to the
city and church of Lismore, as well as to the attached manors,
by the Provincial Synod, held at Limerick in 1453. These ire
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cluded freedom from exactions by anyone, even the Lord of Desmond
or the king’s representative. See Appendix XIII.

There are some indications of intimate relations between
Lismore and Waterford, even before formal union of those sees.
The recurring controversies about church lands, for instance, seem
like legacies from a time when some property was held in common
by the two sees. It would also seem that certain ineffective attempts
to unite the sees had been made previous to the time of Bishop
Le Reve of Lismore, but it was during the latter’s reign that formal
union was actually effected. This last was in 1363, when Roger, a
Franciscan, Bishop of Waterford, was transferred to Llandaff, in
Wales.

Waterford diocese—as distinct from Lismore—is of diminutive
area—embracing little more than the Danish city and cantred.
There would, in fact, be room in Ireland for some three hundred
dioceses of like extent. The diocese was also of comparatively
late formation. Foundation of the see was somewhat anomalous.
Originally, no doubt, as Deisi territory, the region embraced would
have been loosely subject (Irish style) to Lismore. The Northmen,
however, who had founded the walled city and were pagans, had
occupied the place since the ninth century. Gradually, as they
settled down to peaceful ways, Christianity spread among the
Lochlonach, till by the mid twelfth century they had been converted,
at least in greater part. It is symptomatic of their relations with
their Irish Christian neighbours that, when the Christianised Danes
wished to formally organise their church, they should apply for
aid, not to the successor of Patrick at Armagh, nor to the coarb
of Mochuda in Lismore, but to the Archbishop of Canterbury,
beyond the Irish Sea. Doubtless the English Archbishop judged
that—somewhat irregular though it might be—the demand of
the Danish converts should be sympathetically met. At any rate
he did comply with it and consecrate a bishop for Waterford, in
the person of Malchus, a Benedictine of Winchester, but an Irishman
by birth. As bishop of Waterford, Malchus was to be a suffragan
of Canterbury. It is possible, nay probable, that in the course
they took archbishop and citizens had the sanction of Rome;
at any rate their policy was acquiesced in, if not approved of or
dictated by, the Irish king, Murtough O’Brien. Murtough was
a man very zealous in the cause of religion and he had struggled
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hard to bring Irish church discipline into more perfect agreement
with the Roman. It was during the episcopacy of Malchus
(1096-1110) that the cathedral, or christchurch, of Waterford
was erected. This cathedral was re-endowed by King John in
the beginning of the thirteenth century. At the latter period too
it received confirmation of its statutes and possessions from Pope
Innocent III. This also is the period to which a once generally
received, but now exploded, opinion attributed the gift to the
cathedral of the antique vestments still preserved in Waterford.
Gradually—as a result of trade, neighbourship, inter~marriage and
common interests—the foreign colony of Waterford developed
an Irish mentality, and, as a consequence of the new orientation,
the church of Waterford transferred its allegiance from Canterbury
to Cashel. Augustine, who was bishop on the coming of Strongbow,
had, although an Englishman, been consecrated by the Archbishop
of Cashel. This Augustine, by the way, attended the lateran
Council, and, on his road to Rome, took an oath to do nothing to
the English king’s prejudice.

The original christchurch of Waterford was built about 1050,
on site of the present Protestant cathedral, where its foundations
may be traced six or eight feet below the modern floor level. As
the building was of considerable size we may assume that the
Catholic population of the walled city was comparatively large,
and that, in fact, the whole city had, by that date, accepted Christ-
ianity ; this, our assumption, is substantiated by the fact that
provision of the church was apparently a public voluntary act of
the civil ruler, Reginald, son of Sitric. This church was erected
into a cathedral when, nearly half a century later, Waterford
received its first bishop in the person of Malchus, a Benedictine.
That word, chrisichurch is, by the way, of Scandinavian origin,
and means, simply, head, chief or mother, church. The original
Danish church projected some twenty-four feet to front, or west,
of the present Cathedral, and terminated, on its east end, sixty
feet short of the latter building. Little more than a century and
a half from its erection, Reginald’s great church was taken down,
or, rather perhaps, modified and enlarged by addition of an apse,
some sixty feet long, to serve as the church of Holy Trinity parish.
This practically new Cathedral was re-endowed by King John, and
a little later it received confirmation of its statutes and possessions
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from Pope Innocent III. Later still, from time to time, various
side chapels—seven in all—were added. The completed building
embraced, therefore, the Cathedral proper with short nave and long
choir, the Parish Church of Holy Trinity, and the chapels known
as St. Saviour’s, Our Lady’s, St. Nicholas’s, St. James’s (Rice’s),
St. John the Evangelist’s, St. Catherine’s (Lincoln’s and Lee’s),
and St. Anne’s (White’s and Barron’s). Architecturally the old
Cathedral would be, if it still stood, the most interesting building
in Ireland. But, alas, it was demolished to make, it is said, a job
for a builder, in 1770, and the present unbeautiful structure erected
in its stead. -

At the Suppression, the old Cathedral, with which the history
of Waterford for 500 years was closely bound up, passed into
Protestant hands, and in these it has still remained, except for a
brief interval in the mid-seventeenth century, and for a much
shorter time on the death of Queen Elizabeth. For a succinct
account of the new Cathedral, on a new site, which the poor dis-
possessed Catholics provided for themselves, the reader is referred
to the chapter on Holy Trinity Parish (Within). All Bishop
Augustine’s successors, fifteen in number, were Englishmen, or
of English descent. Two of them—David (1204-10) and Robert
{(1210-23)—carried on an acrimonious controversy regarding church
property, with the Bishop (Robert de Bedford) of Lismore. Bishop
Robert of Waterford, for his high handed violence in the dispute,
was actually deprived and excommunicated. His predecessor’s
fate was no less tragic ; he was murdered by one of the Co. Waterford
Powers, a partisan, no doubt, of Lismore. Stephen de Fulburn,
an Hospitaller, who was bishop 1273-86, was translated to
Tuam. During his episcopacy of Waterford, Stephen was, for a
time, Lord Treasurer of Ireland, and for another while, Lord Justice
or Viceroy; he set up a mint and coined money in Reginald's
Tower. Bishop Stephen was succeeded in Waterford by his brother,
Walter, (1286-1307) a Franciscan, and for a time Lord Chancellor.
Roger Craddock, also a Franciscan, the last bishop of Waterford
(1350-67), became involved in a dispute about jurisdiction with
his metropolitan. Roger had convicted two men for heresy in
the castle of Bunratty, and, as this place was outside his jurisdiction,
he was impeached by the Archbishop of Cashel. Ralph (Kelly),
the Archbishop aforesaid, went further; he set out for Waterford
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with a troop of armed men, entered the city by stealth through
Colbeck Gate, and, having forced his way into the bishop’s lodgings
seriously assaulted Roger and some of his domestics.

Though the sees of Waterford and Lismore were formally
united in 1363 they continued to have separate cathedrals and
chapters down to the 16th century. From the union to the Re-
formation we have a list of thirteen bishops who occupied the
dual see. - Of these only one, Nicholas O’Hennessy, bears a distinctly
native name. We may assume that the others, like the bishops
of Waterford before the union, were all, or almost all, of English
origin. O’Hennessy was a Cistercian ; he had been abbot of Fermoy
—De Castro Dei. In his time the chapel of St. James (otherwise
Rice’s chapel) was founded in the Cathedral by James Rice, a
burgess of Waterford. Bishop O’Hennessy’s successor was Thomas
Purcell, who had got made, by the hand of his secretary, John
Russel, a chartulary, or collection of documents, relating to the
see of Lismore. This volume had it survived, would to-day rank
in value with the Black Book of Limerick, or the Red Book of
Ossory ; alas, it perished in a fire, said to be accidental, in 1617.

The Bishop of Waterford and Lismore at the Reformation
period was Nicholas Comyn (1519-1551). If the dates given by
Ware and Gams be correct, Comyn must have been a bishop for
more than forty-two years, and it is hardly to be wondered at that
he resigned his see in 1551. Possibly the difficulties of his position
had as much to do with resignation as his age and infirmities.
He had been translated from Ferns (1509-19), and during his tenure
of office he restored and decorated the Cathedral of Waterford.
Apparently Comyn took the oath of Supremacy, for the Pope,
in 1550, appointed one John Machray (MacGrath), a Franciscan,
to succeed—not Comyn, but Comyn’s predecessor, Thomas Purcell.
Whether MacGrath was ever consecrated may be doubted, and it
is still more doubtful that he ever took possession of the see.  Patrick
Walsh, Dean of Waterford, was consecrated by Royal mandate
in 1656. Walsh’s orthodoxy and canonical status are, and have
been, matters of controversy. There can be little doubt of his
schismatical consecration, but, from the fact that he was not deposed
in Mary’s reign, we may conclude that he had received absolution
from Cardinal Pole. His reversion to schism under Elizabeth
argues utter lack of sincerity. Bishop Edmund Tanner, of Cork,
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who was a prisoner in Walsh’s custody (1576), is stated, on reliable
authority, to have finally reconciled the erring prelate. Dr. Tanner’s
jurisdiction was, pro lem., very wide and apparently it included
Waterford and Lismore, for he was captured in Clonmel—probably
while exercising episcopal functions there. Walsh died two years
later, after an episcopate of twenty-seven years. Evidently he
was from first to last—but, let us hope, not to the very last—a
pitiful time-server of Miler MacGrath type. From his consistent
patronage of Peter White, the redoubtable Catholic Dean, we may
assume that he remained always a Catholic at heart, for the Dean
was a most strenuous opponent of the new religion. For his
notorious recusancy White was ousted from his Deanery in 1570,
but so successfully, in his dual office of Dean and Schoolmaster,
had he combatted the new tenets in his native city that reforming
Lords-Deputy and '‘Preachers of the Word ©’ reported Waterford
the most unregenerate city in Ireland. In June, 1566, there is (Cal.
Carew MSS., Vol. IIL) a letter from Walsh to Sir Henry Sydney
resigning his Deanery on account of infirmity and age, and strongly
recommending Peter White as his successor. Bishop Walsh is
referred to in the ““ Provision "’ of his successor, Patrick Comerford,
as ‘“ bonae memoriae,” whence we may infer that from his recon-
cilation by Bishop Tanner, he persevered till death in full communion
with the Holy See. After his death it was found that Walsh,
drring his episcopate, had played ““ ducks and drakes ” with the
diocesan property, much of which he had alienated.

The Papal Letters (Cal. Papal Registers, ed. Bliss and Twemlow,
12 vols.) throw a lurid light on the spiritual state of the Diocese,
and of the Irish Church generally, during the century or two im-
mediately before the Reformation. To be sure—-and we must
always read such documents with this fact in our minds—it is
‘mainly the unusual that the chronicler records, largely in reprimands
to evil doers and to the froward that the Letters deal. But when
all allowance is made for the Annalists’ view point, and the
immediate purpecse of the Roman Court, the evidence of religious
decay is overwhelming. Avarice, simony, perjury, immorality
and murder were many times more frequent than they are to-day,
and these vices had invaded the Sanctuary. If we seek the
tap-root of the evil we shall find it in the Church’s wealth—
where the carcase is, there will the vultures gather. Unfit men,
for gain, intruded themselves, or were intruded and permitted to
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intrude, within the ranks of the clergy. The jingle of the Church’s
money bags perverted more souls in a century than the labours
of missionaries gained in twice the time. Church offices and emolu-
ments came to be regarded as the natural perquisites of younger
sons and bastards of noblemen. A mandate of Pope Paul I1. (1469)
assigns to Theobald Butler, aged twelve years, ‘“ of noble birth,”
and deriving direct from the Earls of Ossory, a canonry in Lismore
Cathedral and the prebend of Donaghmore ; another letter of the
same pontiff collates to the prebend of Seskinane, one Donat
MacNamara, aged eleven years, and also of noble blood. As often
as not the newly elected canon, abbot or bishop had first to be
dispensed from the impediment of illegitimate birth. It would
be possible to explain, but impossible to palliate, the circumstances
in which this scandalous state of things arose; the present is,
however, hardly the place for such a discussion.

John White, no doubt a native of Waterford, was appointed
Vicar Apostolic on the death of Bishop Walsh and henceforth—
for half a century—the diocese was governed by vicars, James
White succeeded his namesake—presumably also his kinsman,
in 1600 ; both Whites had studied at Douay. The number of dis-
tinguished priests of the White family, who in the troublous 16th-
17th century upheld the Catholic cause in Waterford, is bound
to excite the student’s wonder ; it may also puzzle him not a little,
It is as remarkable as the brilliant band of ecclesiastics which the
old diocese sent out at the same time to the colleges and universities
of France and Italy and Spain. Besides Peter, John and James
White already named, there was Patrick White, recommended
for a bishopric in 1668, Thomas White, S.J., founder of the Irish
College of Salamanca, and Stephen White, S. J., known as Polyhistor
and as perhaps, the most learned man in Europe of his day. A
“ Dmus. Patricius White, clericus,” who was, most probably,
a member of the same family, is returned in the 15688 Visitation
as then Precentor of Waterford Cathedral. James White seems
to have been succeeded as Vicar, about 1615, by Thomas Walsh,
also a native of the city, and later, archbishop of Cashel. Walsh
had been nominated bishop of Waterford, but, owing to persecution,
he was not consecrated for that see.

From the death of Bishop Walsh in 1578, the diocese remained
without a bishop for over fifty years—when Patrick Comerford,
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of the Augustinian Eremites and a native of Waterford city, was
nominated in 1629. Comerford was a relative of the Waddings,
Whites and Lombards of his generation. Having taught theology
in various foreign colleges of his order Dr. Comerford was con-
secrated bishop of Waterford at Rome, and the event was the
occasion of a great Irish fete in the Eternal City. An account of
the celebrations in booklet form and in Latin, ‘‘ Coronatae Virtuti
. . . . D, Patritii Quemerford, 1629,” was printed at the time, and
at least one copy of the work exists (in the Merchants’ Quay Library).
As a staunch supporter of the Nuncio’s policy, Dr. Comerford
became a prominent figure in the Ireland of his day, and it was in
his cathedral of Waterford that the most important of the clerical
conventions were held. - Even the Nuncio, accustomed to Roman
fervour and ecclesiastical observance, was impressed by the tone
of Waterford’s Catholicity and the good order of Dr. Comerford’s
diocese. The Italian Prelate’s, “ Parva Roma,” all but replaced
King Henry’s Urbs Intacta as Waterford’s pseudonym. Shortly
after Dr. Comerford’s arrival in Waterford, scil., in 1631 (Mar.
12.), we find the new bishop writing to Rome earnestly soliciting
for himself or for his nephew, Michael Hackett, the ‘ Monasterie
of Cahir,”" 7.e., the Augustinian Priory of that town, which he alludes
to as then in possession of his own cousin, and as having been
founded by his ancestors. In his correspondence at this period
he usually, for safety, signs himself “* Wm. Poore,” or ““ William
Browne.” One of Bishop Comerford’s acts was to draw up a list
of parochial patrons and dedications. Such a compilation—possible
perhaps in the early 17th century—is quite impossible to-day.  Alas,
Dr. Comerford’s priceless catalogue has, like so many other diocesan
records, disappeared; indeed we have only indirect and casual
evidence that it ever existed, scil.:—from a letter of Father
Stephen White, S.J. (““ Polyhistor ) to Father John Colgan, O.S.F.,
the hagiographer (Reeves, Proceedings, R.I.A., 1862,—Memoir
of Stephen White). On failure of the Confederate cause, Comerford,
like nearly all the Irish bishops, had to take refuge beyond the
sea. He died in France, 1652, and was buried in the Cathedral
of Nantes. For his monument there a stately Latin epitaph was
composed by his nephew, Father Michael Hackett, whom ‘' Térna ”’
conjectures to be identical with Padraigin Hackett, the Irish poet.
Among the Wadding MSS. (Merchants’ Quay, Dublin) are letters
from Comerford to his distinguished Franciscan kinsman. In
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one communication from Waterford, Nov. 29th 1629, the new
bishop styles his native land ‘ the poorest and most oppressed
country that I saw since I left it until I returned . . . As for trading

. . it is so much forgotten that scarce a man doth know of what
colour is the coin in this miserable island.”” Two years later (March,
1631) found the bishop in less pessimistic mood ; he writes “ex
loco mansionis nostrae’ to his “loving and very kind cousin” ;—
“This your native place caput extulit undis is as if it were after a
long storm, and if any place in the Kingdom have any stirring or
trade this will not overslip it.” In 1648 Comerford signs a memorial
to the Nuncio begging a revocation of the censures. Other diocesan
signatories to the document are :—

Fr. Peter Strange, 0.5.D., Waterford Thomas White, Vicar, Clonmel
,» Joseph Everard, OS.F. ,, Fr. Edmund Bray, O.S.F. ,,

,» John Hartry, Ord. Cist. ,, ThomasPrendergast, S.T.D. ,,
,» Edmund Clere, S.J. ) John Gough, S.J. )
.»» MichaelBarron, Aug. Prior ,, William McGrath, S.J. .

Robert Power, Dean . Andrew Sall, S.]J. .
Michael Hacquet, Precentor ,, :

On the death of Comerford, the Holy See reverted to
government by Vicars. The vicar from 1648 to 1676 was Dean
Robert Power, of the Curraghmore family. Thomas White, ““lately
dead,” had been Vicar General of Lismore. White, sometime
before his death, was 80 years of age and ‘‘ useless to rule.”

In an appendix to Bishop Comerford’s ‘‘ Coronatae Virtuti,”
is a list of distinguished Waterford men then, or about that
time, publicly teaching theology or philosophy on the Continent.
It includes :—

Patrick Sherlock ... ... Compostella
Stephen Murty ... Salamanca
Thomas Comerford ... ... Spain
Richard Walsh ... Salmonia

S.J.

Richard Wadding ... ... Coimbra | 0S.A

John Walsh ... Spain J )

Charles Luker ... Compostella
{Consultor of the Holy Office) }

Thomas Strange ... ... Santander

Peter Walsh ... Naples

William Morgan ... ... Compostella ]
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The document ends with allusion to the great Catholic laymen
of the city—Walshes, Waddings, Sherlocks, Brownes, Cuffes,
Leonards, Woodlocks, Skiddys and Whites, ‘“ who for religion’s
sake relinquished honours and social position for chains, prisons
and immense (¢éngentes) money fines.”” It will be noted that all
the names are of the Galldacht.

Meantime, the ancient cathedrals of Lismore and Waterford
had passed completely into Protestant hands. The Lismore
cathedral indeed had actually become a ruin till its restoration by
the Great Earl of Cork, Richard Boyle. Boyle has been praised
for his piety in making these repairs, but it is well, for truth sake,
to remember that the restoration was really only delayed justice.
As “ Oeconomus "’ of the cathedral, our ennobled adventurer had
become possessed of extensive lands donated long ago by pious
Irishmen for the upkeep of that church. An Inquisition (Black-
friars, Waterford) refers to a ruinous building in Lismore called
* Christe Churche.” Boyle, who had come to Ireland as a
money-less young man, in the later years of Elizabeth, amassed a
fortune here. He was able, astute and—notwithstanding his family
motto—not over scrupulous. He developed his west Waterford
and Co. Cork property till it had increased many times its
original value, and he was able to say he had not a papist
on his immense estate. In parts of the diocese outside
Boyle’s immediate jurisdiction and influence, the lot of Catholics
was generally less miserable. Probably Boyle’s Protestant tenantry
were more liberal than their lord. At any rate some Catholics,
and even a priest or two, maintained a precarious foothold
within the Lismore region; we do not know the names of the
daring and harrassed missionaries; indeed their real names
were often unknown to their contemporaries and correspondents ;
to baffle spies and informers they assumed aliases and changed
their abodes as necessity and prudence demanded. On its re-
storation, Lismore cathedral had incorporated in it—where they
stand to the present day—considerable portions, including the
chancel arch, of the earlier building. The Waterford cathedral,
known as Christ Church, was, on the other hand, never allowed
to fall into utter decay. It was maintained by the state, the city
corporation, or the new ecclesiastical order.



INTRODUCTION. 17

It may be very well doubted whether any city of its size in
Ireland, or elsewhere, in ancient or modern times, produced,
within a hundred years, a greater number of eminent men than
did Waterford of the 17th cent. It may also, by the way, be doubted
whether any city is more ignorant or less appreciative of its
heritage :—

I. Luke Wadding, O.S.F., the least forgotten of the famous
band, is the greatest man that Waterford, or indeed, perhaps,
Ireland, has produced. His father was Walter Wadding, of the
affluent merchant class, and his mother, Anastatia L.ombard, was
aunt of the future archbishop of Armagh. Educated in Peter
White’s famous school, young Wadding turned his youthful eyes
and heart towards service of the church. On his parents’ early
death he left Waterford and Ireland for ever, and shortly after-
wards, in 1606, he entered the Franciscan novitiate at Matozinhos
in Portugal. Ordained in 1613, he was sent, after three years’
supplementary study, to teach theology at Salamanca, where his
kinsman, Thomas White, had founded a college for poor Irish
students. While professor in Salamanca, Father Luke took a
prominent part in the controversy, then afoot, on the doctrine
of the Immaculate Conception. Wadding took the affirmative side,
which he supported with prodigious learning and fervid eloquence.
He wrote three volumes on the subject; these were published
in Rome, 1654-56. Wadding’s name, in Irish minds, is chiefly
associated with the Catholic Confederation of Kilkenny, to which
he contributed, not only money, which he had collected in all the
currencies of Europe, but arms, men and moral support. This
greatest son of Waterford died, Oct. 18th, 1651, in his beloved St.
Isidore’s, which he himself had founded, and in which his embalmed
body is preserved. His fame and memory are the special heritage
of his native city. For his services to the Catholic cause the
Confederate Council had petitioned for his promotion to the
Cardinalate, but Father Luke, himself, intercepted the document,
which never reached its destination. One respectable writer goes
as far as to say that Wadding was proposed for the vacant Papal
throne and that his name received certain support in the conclave.
Wadding’s literary remains would amply fill an ordinary modern
bookcase. His best known work is the ‘“ Annales Minorum,”
or history of his own order; this prodigious work is in eight

immense volumes (folio).
C
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I1. Peter Wadding, S.]J., was son of Thomas Wadding of
Waterford, and his wife, Mary Walsh of the same city, sister to
the future confessor-archbishop of Cashel. At the early age of
14 years Peter entered the Irish College of Douay, in 1597.
Graduating M.A., in 1601, he immediately joined the Jesuit order
at Tournai in Flanders. After his ordination he taught the queen
of sciences successively at Antwerp, Prague, Olmutz, Gratz and
Louvain. His reputation as a theologian and a Latin stylist
became European, and, on the strength of it, he was selected in
1629, Chancellor of the University of Prague. His opus magnum,
“De Contractibus ” is even still occasionally quoted. He also
wrote a tract, ‘“ De Incarnatione ”’ and various other works, theo-
logical and philosophical. While teaching theology at Louvain
(1622-28), Wadding had for a while, as his pupil, the renowned
Bollandus. Our great Waterford Jesuit died at Gratz in 1644,
aged 64 years. Besides his printed works, Wadding left nearly
forty treatises in MSS.; most of these are still preserved in the
Bodleian Library at Oxford.

ITI. Luke Wadding, S.]., was brother, or rather, half-brother
of Peter, whose career has just been sketched. His mother was
Anastasia Devereux, and he had four brothers, also members of
the Society. There was, in addition, a brother, Richard, who became
an Augustinian. Luke matriculated at famous Salamanca, in or
about 1608, and, two years later, he entered the Jesuit order at
Villagarcia. Like his cousin and full namesake, the great Franciscan,
Father Luke, S.J., was an effective supporter of the Confederate
cause for which he was instrumental in raising 20,000 Castilian
crowns. In 1649 we find Wadding Professor of Law in the Imperial
College, Madrid, and a theologian to the Inquisition—with a fame
for learning, wide as the Spanish realms. At the same period he
became prefect of the Irish mission, an office of immense respon-
sibility, which involved supervision of all the Jesuit Irish Colleges
in Spain. In the library of Salamanca University are many MS.
volumes—all that survives to-day of Father Wadding's literary
work, and in the library of St. John’s College, Waterford, is, at
least, one printed volume which belonged to him, and which bears
his autograph signature.

IV. Ambrose Wadding, S.J., was brother of Peter and Luke,
of the same order and surname. He died in Dillingen, at the early
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age of 35 and before he had time to fulfil the brilliant promise of
his youth. He entered the Jesuit order at Rome in 1603, and we
find him Professor of Moral Theology and of Hebrew at Dillingen
in 1614. Dying in 1619, he left behind him nine philosophical
‘theses—to be defended by candidates for the Doctor’s degree,
besides a MS. treatise on Moral Theology, which is preserved in
the Benedictine Abbey of Engelberg.

V. Michael Wadding (Miguel Godinez), S.J., was a full
brother of Peter’s, of the same order. Under his Spanish name
of Godinez, Michael is to-day the best remembered member
of the family. In compliance with their father’s dying wish,
Michael, with his brothers Ambrose and Luke, set out for the
Continent, where he entered the Irish College of Lisbon. From
Lisbon he transferred himself to Salamanca, and, later, he entered
the Jesuit noviciate at Villagarcia, where he became intimate
with the great Suarez. The acquaintance or friendship, powerfully
affected Michael’s future life. Years afterwards Wadding thus
refers to the renowned theologian: ‘‘ Father Suarez was a very
holy man . . . who wrote twenty-two great volumes of theology.
I knew him well in the later years of his life. His companions
-often found him wrapt in ecstacy and surrounded by a celestial
radiance.” Father Wadding offered his services for the then most
difficult mission-field of the Church—among the Indians of Mexico.
Here he laboured with extraordinary zeal and amid incredible hard-
ships ; crossing mountains by perilous paths, trudging—knap-sack
-on back and parched with thirst—over burning plains, swimming
rivers, encountering wild beasts and wilder men, the saintly Jesuit
carried the gospel to barbarian tribes. He saw two of his companions
transfixed with arrows and a third clubbed to death. It was in
the sun-baked solitudes of blistering plains, in the gorges of mighty
mountains and in the gloom of forests where foot of European had
never trod before that our Father Miguel thought out the material
which, later, he embodied in his wonderful *“ Theologia Mystica.”
This famous book, which he wrote in Spanish, almost equalled the
Imitation of Christ in popularity. It went through numberless
editions, was translated into Latin and thence into various European
tongues and enjoyed for two centuries a great reputation as a
standard work on the higher spiritual life. One picture of the past
it gives us from its holy author’s memory—*1 recollect in my
boyhood seeing a band of soldiers going around the streets (of
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Waterford) trying, with gleaming pikes, to force the Catholics
to Protestant worship . . . I knew some fathers of my own: order
who, disguised as soldiers, celebrated Mass in secret and administered
Sacraments.”

- VI Peter Lombard—first cousin to Luke Wadding, O.S.F.,
and in his day a mighty force at Louvain and the Vatican—was
born in Waterford, 1554. He studied philosophy and theology in
the Pastoral College at Louvain, where he had for his closest friend,
Nicholas Comerford of Waterford, then studying for his Doctor’s
degree. At this very time the Pope had prepared for his own use
a list of all the Irish students ‘‘ of great promise "’ then on the
Continent. The very first name on this list is * Petrus Lombard,
Waterfordiensis.”” As a consequence, Peter, on his ordination,
was not allowed to return home but was retained at Louvain as
Professor, first of philosophy and, later, of theology; the green
hills of Ireland he was, in fact, fated never again to see. Lombard
was amongst the first to detect and the foremost to denounce the
errors of his fellow professor, Baius, and, young as he was, he was
chosen by the University to lay before the Holy See the doctrinal
sentiments and the submission of that famed seat of learning.
Rome heard Lombard and was loath to let him depart; it laid
hold of him and he never returned to Louvain. As member of
the famous Congregation, ‘' De Auxiliis,” Lombard took a leading
part in the historic 17th century controversies concerning Grace ;
indeed he acted as Chairman of the Congregation when the Pope
could not himself attend. Possibly it was at the instance of Hugh
O'Neill, then a fugitive in Rome, that Lombard was, in 1601,
nominated to the highest dignity in the Irish Church—The Primacy
of Armagh. Time after time the new archbishop tried to set out
for his distant diocese, but he was, as often, detained in the Eternal
City by what Rome considered more pressing business than the
Irish mission. His duties as bishop he could discharge through
deputy, but the work to be done in Rome few, or none, but he could
do. Dr. Lombard’s vicar in Ireland was David Rothe, afterwards
bishop of Ossory. Rothe acted not only for Armagh but as a kind
of general legate to all dioceses, like Waterford and Lismore,
deprived of bishops. In 1620 we find a very remarkable petition
from Lombard to the Holy See—to be permitted himself to ad-
minister his native diocese and to have the other Irish sees then
vacant committed to the charge of bishops then actually in the
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country. The great churchman and scholar died at Rome in 1625,
and was laid to rest in the Parish Church of Palombara, twenty
miles from the city. Lombard’s best known work is his ‘‘ De
Regno Hiberniae Commentarius’’; this was printed at Louvain
some years after the author’s death and was reprinted at Dublin
in the last century and at Cork, a few years since. His most im-
portant work is a Statement of the Catholic principles involved
in the domestic disputes raging at the time amongst English
Catholics. "

VII. Thomas Walsh was born at Waterford in 1580—not in
1588, as Meehan states—while his father, Robert, was in prison
for religion’s sake. His mother was Anastasia Strong, while his
aunt, Mary, was wife of Thomas Wadding and mother of the dis-
tinguished Jesuits. He left Waterford in 1598 for Lisbon and there
he studied for a few years. Later he came to Salamanca where
he received Holy Orders. On his return to Ireland he engaged
in missionary work in and around Waterford, whence we find him
repeatedly reported by spies. In June, 1610, he is reported as
lodging at Thomas Harold’s and in 1613 he is returned by priest-
hunters as Bishop Elect of Waterford, as supported by his friends and
as a noted preacher. Walsh, though nominated for Waterford, was
not consecrated—owing to a fresh outburst of persecution ; instead
he governed the diocese as Vicar, and with such wisdom that Pope
Urban VIII. in 1624 named him Archbishop of Cashel. Owing
largely to the canting zeal of the great Earl of Cork, Munster, at
this period, was a place of special danger and difficulty for a bishop.
The clergy hid in woods or in peasants’ cabins. Mass was said,
when it cou'd be said at all, in cellars, improvised shelters or in
the open air ; there was neither church nor monastery, but though
discipline had become relaxed, though the people were ill-instructed,
and scandals many, there was little if any apostacy, at any rate,
in Waterford. Presiding at a meeting of clergy in a wood the
Archbishop was taken in 1633, but as nothing definite could be
proved against him, he was released after a short imprisonment.
During the Confederate controversy Walsh stood unflinching by
the Nuncio although he did not entirely approve of the latter’s
measures. His answer to Rinuccini was—in nomine tuo laxabo
rete. Towards close of memorable 1641 it devolved on the arch-
bishop to reconcile the venerable Cathedral of Cashel—soon, alas,
to be desecrated by atrocious Inchiquin. Nine years later, when
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Cromwell's savagery was spreading terror through the land, Walsh
summo ned a Provincial Synod at Limerick in order to impress on the
Munster clergy their duty to stand by the people at any cost. On
the approach of Ireton he retired within the city walls with his
suffragans, the bishops of Limerick and Emly. The Bishop of
Emly was taken and executed, but Walsh escaped—-only, however,
to be captured a little later. He was carried to Clonmel where for
six months he underwent appalling treatment. Finally the feeble
old man was put, without food or other necessaries, on board ship
and transported to the Continent. Worn out by suffering of mind
and body and scarcely able to walk, the heroic confessor made his
way to Compostella in Spain where he ended his days, in 1654.

VIII. Paul Sherlock was born at Waterford—in, most probably,
what is now Arundel Square, about 1599. When he had reached
his 18th year he left his native city forever—to enter the Society
of Jesus, in Spain. In the latter country he spent the rest of his
life, and so Spanish in outlook did he become, that many writers
have mistaken him for a Spaniard. He died at Salamanca in 1646
at the early age of forty-six years. Sherlock’s monumental work,
his Commentary on the Canticle of Canticles, in three great folio
volumes, was published at Lyons in 1640 and has been reprinted
more than once. A second and lesser known work of his,
“ Hebraicum Dioptera,” was also published at Lyons.

IX. Patrick Comerford, O.S.A., we have already met among
the post-Reformation bishops of Waterford.

Contemporaries and fellow diocesans of the famous ecclesiastics
enumerated were Dr. Geoffrey Keating, Thomas White, S.J., Stephen
White, S.J. and Eugene Duhy, O.S.F.

X. Geoffrey Keating, a native of New Burgess, in the present
Ballylooby parish, was born about 1570. We do not know where,
exactly, he received his early education, but his Irish style is fair
evidence that he studied for a while in one of the bardic schools.
Such a school seems to have flourished in the neighbourhood of
Cahir and under hereditary guidance of a family of MacGraths,
down to, at least, our great historian’s boyhood. Where, or by
whom, Keating was ordained we shall probably never know. We
find him in the Irish Seminary of Bordeaux in 1600, and he must
have returned to Ireland shortly afterwards. According to Halliday
he was pastor of Outragh (Cahir) in, or about, 1610, and, later,
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he appears to have been pastor of Tullaghortan (Castlegrace) in
the same district. The new parish priest was not only able and
learned but he was zealous and eloquent as well. He denounced
vice in high places as in low and soon he had to fly for his liberty
and probably for his life, It was during the period of enforced
exile from his parish, and possibly after release from its obligations,
that Dr. Keating conceived the idea of his future “ History.”
On the death of his persecutor, the Earl of Thomond, in 1624,
Keating, no longer burdened with parochial obligations, set out
to collect material for his great work. In his task he encountered
immense difficulty. First he had to locate the scattered manuscript
authorities, then to gain access to them and finally to decipher and
collate them and to translate them into the Irish of his time.
Enthusiasm, perseverance and scholarship triumphed and the
projected * Forus Feasa,” or History of Ireland, was completed.
Not content with providing a text for scholars in the best literary
style the devoted author seems to have prepared a second version
in popular or vulgar mode, and thus we have two recensions of
the great work. Further works of Keating are two ascetical treatises
—Key to the Shield of the Mass,”” and “ The Three Forked Shafts
of Death,” as well as various poems, chiefly elegiac. Most of
Keating’s poetry is devoted to eulogy of the Catholic Butlers (Barons
of Cahir and Dunboyne); it suggests gratitude for patronage and
protection. It is fairly obvious that Dr. Keating was possessed
of private means; or else he had very liberal support. Up to the
Cromwellian period the ranks of the Irish clergy were mostly re-
cruited from the gentry and upper middle class. About 1644,
when, under the Confederation, Catholics had regained possession
of their churches, Keating collaborated with the pastor of Tubrid
in building a mortuary chapel at the latter place; this chapel,
though now roofless, still stands. During the hapless truce—and
—peace (with Ormonde) controversy, Keating took, it seems,
the side of Bishop Comerford, Archbishop Walsh and the Nuncio ;
this was the side of the native Irish to which Keating did not, by
blood, belong. He probably lived long enough—too long he,
possibly, thought-—to see the failure of the Catholic and Irish cause.
He died, so it has been claimed, in 1650, or thereabout, and, in
all probability, he was buried within the chapel he had helped to
build. On the other hand it might fairly be inferred from the
inscribed mural tablet that Keating was already dead in 164i.
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Dr. Keating is Ireland’s earliest and greatest historian, and he is cur
foremost writer of classic Irish prose. His poems have been edited
by Rev. John MacErlean, S.]J., and “ History of Ireland,” edited
by Rev. Dr. Dineen, has been published in four volumes by the
Irish Texts Society. (See, under Ballylooby Parish, infra.)

XI. Thomas White, S.J., though born as early as 1556, seems
to have been brother of Stephen, known as Polyhistor, and of James
White, V.A. of Waterford. He was educated partly in his native
Clonmel and partly at Valladolid in Spain. In the latter city the
number of destitute Irish students moved his compassion and
charity. On their behalf he begged aid from King Philip II., whom
he finally induced to endow a Seminary for their relief at Salamanca.
Later he himself became rector of the Irish College at Santiago
and he was at the same time and indeed, all his life, a main prop
of another Irish College—at Seville. White’s life was spent largely
in the cause of his Irish students, on whose behalf he travelled all
over Spain seeking the patronage of prelates, nobles and all who
were in a position to aid. He died in his college of Santiago in
1622, at the comparatively early age of 64 years.

XII. Stephen White, S.J., was a native of Clonmel where
he was born in 1574. At the age of sixteen, or thereabout, he
entered the Irish College of Salamanca which had been founded
a few years earlier by his elder brother, Thomas. Having won
the doctorate from his alma mater he was appointed to teach
theology in the University of Ingolstadt, and, later, at Dilingen.
He is referred to by Rothe as ** almost the first theologian of the
century,” and as ‘‘the wonder of Germany.” He was styled
“ Polyhistor,” for his great and varied learning. After an absence
from Ireland of nearly forty years Father White was recalled in
1629 to a professorship in the short lived Jesuit University of Dublin.
Alas, for Irish hopes, the place was raided by our sinister acquaint-
ance, the Earl of Cork, the building confiscated and teachers
and scholars dispersed. Father White lived for some seventeen
years longer. We do not know where he died; it was probably
in Clonmel or Waterford. He and Keating would therefore, in
all likelihood, have been not merely contemporaries and fellow
diocesans but, actually, next-door neighbours, and doubtless, they,
were mutually—and well-acquainted. Only a single work of White’s,
his ' Apologia Pro Hibernia,” has ever been printed ; other works
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survive in manuscript and the two most valuable are not now
known to exist. His energies seem to have been largely expended
in helping other scholars and literary workers like Ward, Ussher,
Colgan, Fleming and the Germans—Raeder, Crombach and
Rossveyda.

XIII. Bonaventure (Bartholomew) Barron, O.S.F., was nephew
of the great Luke Wadding and brother of that Geoffrey Barron
of Clonmel, who for his services to the Catholic cause, was hanged
in Limerick by Ireton. Bartholomew’s mother, who died when
he was only in his 6th year, was Mary Wadding ; long years after-
wards he celebrated her virtues in exquisite Latin verse which
Sir Samuel Ferguson has gracefully rendered into English metre.
The orphaned youth was sent by his brother and guardian, Geofirey,
to study philosophy with the Franciscans of Timoleague and in
this convent, within sound of the southern sea, he took the habit
of St. Francis in 1626. His noviciate completed young Barron
sailed to France whence he travelled overland to Rome. Here, for
the first time, he met his uncle, Luke Wadding ; henceforth they
dwelt together for many years in St. Isidore’s. After the usual
long years of study he was ordained and commissioned to teach
theology in his own alma mater. In St. Isidore’s he spent nearly
the remainder of his long life. Here he heard in 1652 the terrible
news of his brother’s execution, here in 1668 he declined the mitre
of Cashel and here finally he was laid to rest in March, 1696.
Father Bonaventure wrote Latin prose and verse of singular grace
and purity. His earliest printed work is *“ Orationes Panegyricae,”
published at Rome 1643, and his latest, “ Theologia Universa ”
(6 vols.), which was issued at Paris in 1676, In between, he
published some six additional works from the presses of Cologne,
Florence, Lyons and Wurtzburg.

XIV. Eugene Duhy (O’Duffy), O.S.F. We have reference to
him as early as 1577—in Holinshead’s Chronicle, where he is
described as “‘ a preacher and maker of Irish.” His Irish sermons
made him famous among the new Irish as well as the old. So stirring
was his eloquence and so interesting his presentation of divine
truth that he was known to preach for three hours at a stretch
without wearying his hearers. He ended each discourse with a
quatrain summary which he left to his audiences to carry away
and remember. Wadding relates that O’Duffy, in his day, was
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regarded by the common people like one of the old Testament
Prophets come back to earth; indeed he actually attributes to
O'Duffy some gift of prophecy. Aodh MacAingel refers to O'Duffy
as already dead in 1618. His famous metrical satire on Miler
McGrath was written about 1677. How O’Duffy became vicar
of Tubrid we do not know for certain; we cannot, however, but
surmise that it was through patronage of the Lord Cabhir.

A Report to Propaganda, 1668, enumerates Waterford among
the dioceses in which, at the time, a bishop ‘' could not perhaps
safely live,” though there is in that diocese the greatest need of
a vigilant prelate, “ since vices have crept in more than elsewhere.”
On this latter account the Report recommends the appointment
of at least two Vicars Apostolic—one to be Dean Robert Power of
Waterford, of a distinguished local family and protected by a
multitude of friends, and the other, Dr. Roger O’Gorman, Abbot
of Molana of the Canons Regular, “now moving on to sixty years
of age.”” “Other diocesans suggested for promotion are Thady
O’Brien, Dean of Lismore, and Patrick White of Waterford. Dean
Power’s will was proved in 1680, the presumed year of his death.

John Brenan was in many respects the most notable prelate
that ever ruled the ancient see. He was a native of Kilkenny in
which historic city he first saw the light, about the year 1625. With
Oliver Plunkett he accompanied Father Scarampo to Rome in 1645,
on the latter’s return from his mission to the Confederate Catholics
of Ireland. He next appears as a brilliant student, and afterwards
as a lector, of the Propaganda College, and as agent in Rome
of the Irish clergy. The secretary of Propaganda was able to
testify of him—when his name was proposed for the vacant see of
Waterford—that he had met few men in his time so learned and so
pious, and the same time so prudent. One who knew him well
describes him as unassuming and very amiable, of ardent zeal and
boundless energy. He was nominated for the see of Waterford on
May 12th, 1671. As the youthful bishop set out for his distant
diocese there were high hopes for the future of religion. Charles IT,
who died a Catholic, was well disposed towards professors of the
ancient faith, but, knowing the temper of his dear English subjects
and wishing to die with his head on his shoulders, he did
not allow his benevolence to exceed the passive. Priests and
bishops were tolerated and allowed to exercise their functions
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without much interference and Penal Laws, though not abrogated,
were, to a certain degree, suspended in execution. It was soon
evident to friends and foes that Dr, Brenan was a great force in his.
new sphere. He held visitations and ordinations, provided pastors
for long orphaned parishes and held Diocesan Synods. The diocese
had thirty priests labouring on the mission and Robert Power,
kinsman to the Earl of Tyrone, was Dean. In 1677 Brenan was
elevated to the archepiscopal see of Cashel, but, owing to poverty
of the latter, he was allowed to hold Waterford and Lismore in
administration. The next year saw culmination of the Titus
Oates plot. Amongst the accused in Ireland were the Archbishop
and his friend Lord Power, of Curraghmore, against whom informa-
tions were sworn by three wretches, of the character familiar on
such occasions—McNamara, Fitzgerald, and Nash. Dr. Brenan,
however, was extremely difficult to track. Extraordinarily active,
he was felt everywhere throughout his dioceses and beyond, but
his retreat or place of abode could not be found. It was, as a matter
of fact, never discovered, nor do we to this day know for certain
where it was. It is probable that he found temporary asylum
at Curraghmore, Kilcash, Clocully and Cahir. But his chief refuge
seems to have been in Lord Cahir’s castle of Rehill. McNamara
swears to having seen him at the first named place ; an informer’s
word is of proverbially doubtful value, but this wily wretch would
be careful to make his evidence circumstantial ~The advent of James
to the throne in 1685 gladdened the hearts of the Catholics and set
their adversaries ascheming. In October of that year Brenan
came still further into the open ; he convened a provincial Synod
in Thur'es at which, amongst other things, it was enacted, that
priests should no longer celebrate Mass in the open air, that the
faithful were to be instructed how to make good confessions and in
the knowledge necessary thereto, that Parish Priests were to keep
exact registers of baptisms, marriages, and deaths, &c., &c. Harris
makes complaint that James distributed the revenues of Cashel
amongst the Catholic bishops on the death of the Protestant Arch-
bishop Price of that see. Had James done so he would have done
a thing imprudent and unconstitutional, but he would scarcely
have done anything unjust. What the king really did was to pay
pensions or annuities to certain Catholic prelates, &c., out of the
Irish treasury and out of church property unjustly seized on by
Archbishop Price’s predecessors. Dr. Brenan was allotted {200
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per annum, and this we may presume continued to be paid from
1686 to 1690. 1In 1686 the Archbishop paid his respects to Clarendon,
the Viceroy, in Dublin, and, four months later, when Clarendon
visited Limerick, he made a second call upon him. We next hear
of our bishop in connexion with the negotiations preceding the
Treaty of Limerick. He was one of the Commissioners appointed
to fix the terms to be demanded. Alas, his proved a fruitless task !
After Limerick, as before, Brenan continued to reside in his dioceses
and to make careful reports thereon to the Holy See. He was one
of the very few bishops who remained in the country; he seems,
in fact, never to have left his charge except for a short period in
1673 when there was a particularly violent outburst of persecution
in the south. Then, Dr. Brenan fled for a while to his friend and
brother confessor, Oliver Plunket, at Armagh. They had both to
seek refuge in the mountains of the north, where during a severe
winter they lived in a semi-thatched shieling and frequently found
it hard to procure enough oaten bread to sustain life. Such were
the times, the difficulties surrounding a bishop’s work and the
secrecy in which he lived and with which he moved about, that his
brother bishops, in exile after the Revolution, could hear no account
of the Bishop of Cashel; he was supposed to be alive or to be in
Ireland, but none knew for certain. He died in 1693 and was buried
in the tomb of Dr. Geoffrey Keating at Tubrid. It was no doubt
at his own request that he was interred with Keating ; veneration
or affection for the historian, whom he can hardly have personally
known, may have suggested his choice of a burial place—or it may
be the latter was suggested by their common retreat in the castle
and wood of Rehill.

On the death of Archbishop Brenan, Rev. Paul Bellew, Parish
Priest of Waterford, was elected Vicar-Capitular, and as such
continued to govern the diocese till the appointment of Bishop
Pierse in 1696.

Richard Pierse was a native of Ardfert and had been nominated
by King James for Waterford as early as 1694, Macaulay states
that a priest had been bribed by promise of the mitre of Waterford
to preach at St. James’, London, against the Act of Settlement in
1686. Pierse had been an army chaplain in the service of James
and had followed his royal master beyond the seas. He was a
graduate of the Sorbonne, from which he had received a mastership
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in theology, and was only thirty-five years of age on his appoint-
ment to Waterford. This latter fact suggested one of the grounds
of an objection to his promotion made by the Bishop of Limerick.
Dr. O’'Moloney, the bishop aforesaid, objected to Dr. Pierse on the
ground of his youth and inexperience, and alleged that political
considerations rather than regard for the interests of religion had
influenced the King in this nomination, &c. In Dr. Pierse’s brief of
appointment to the see of Waterford were faculties, or dispensation,
for consecration by a single bishop. A few months after his con-
secration the bishop had to fly to France, and there we find him at
various periods up to 1715, The statute of 1697 had ordered all
bishops and regulars to quit the kingdom. Dr. Pierse must have
been in Ireland in 1697 and in 1700 for in those years he held ordina-
tions in Waterford and Thurles respectively. In 1699 a plot of
ground near Bailey’s Lane was assigned by the Corporation as a
site whereon the Catholics might build a church and, we are naively
told that, as the place was not on any thoroughfare and the Papists’
chapel did not offend the eyes of the Protestant populace, the
Protestant Bishop Foy made no objection. In 1702 Pierse was
certainly not in Ireland for Propaganda that year communicated
to the French Nuncio its desire that.the bishop should return to
his diocese. To this communication and to others such the bishop
returned the reply that though resident abroad, owing to the
dangers of the times, he had made adequate provision for govern-
ment of his diocese by the appointment of competent vicars, The
vicar at that period, by the way, was Bellew, On the other hand
the bishop himself, in a letter from Paris 1706 (Feb. 4) explains
that “ I lay in my most afflicted land for a period of nearly six
years '’ and that the writer is now ‘' in exile in France for the sake
of religion.” Dr. Pierse on this occasion writes in the name of
Ireland, petitioning for the beatification of Vincent de Paul. In
1712 we find Pierse acting as suffragan or assistant to the Archbishop
of Sens, and itis probable that he remained in Sens till his death
there in 1739. 1In 1713, according to the sworn testimony of Tyrrell,
the most active priest hunter of his period, Pierse was in Ireland
and resident at Kilcash. Tyrrell’s evidence notwithstanding, it
is not by any means clear that the bishop ever returned ; he signed
a certificate in Paris in favour of Dame Marguerite MacCarthy,
Aug. 23rd, 1723. He was appointed Vicar-General of Sens, and
Canon and Treasurer of the Cathedral there. By his will his body
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was honorably interred in the chapel of St. Columba, within the
cathedral; it is explained that he had a particular affection for
that chapel and celebrated Mass there regularly in his last years.
‘ The Dublin Evening Post ” of June 4th, 1739, in its notice of the
bishop’s death, stated that Pierse was formerly Provisor for Munster
of the Lombard College, Paris, that he was accustomed to sing
High Mass annually on St. Patrick’s Day in the Irish College and
that it is thought he will be succeeded in Waterford by his nephew,
Abbé Fitzmorris, who also holds a benefice in Sens.

From the death of Bishop Pierse the diocese seems to have
been ruled for three years by Rev. William O’Meara (afterwards
bishop, in succession, of Kerry and Killaloe), as Vicar.

In 1739 Sylvester Lloyd, of the Order of St. Francis, was trans-
lated from the see of Killaloe to Waterford. Bishop Lloyd was
author of a large catechetical work in English—really a free trans-
lation of the great Catechism of Montpellier—printed at London
in 1712. He was also author of a smaller work of the same general
character, in English and Irish. In 1744 Lloyd too had to leave
the country, but, though in poor health, he soon returned. The
late Mr. W. H. Grattan Flood (Waterford Archaeological Journal,
1897, p. 232) states, or quotes someone as stating, that our Bishop
Lloyd was the Irish agent in Paris who countered successfully,
the atrocious 1723 proposal of the Irish Parliament as to punish-
ment of unregistered ecclesiastics. Lloyd, however, was not Bishop
of Waterford or even of Killaloe, in 1723. Possibly it is only in the
bishop’s name that Mr. Flood is incorrect and that the ecclesiastic
meant is really Bishop Pierse. Our good bishop died at Waterford
in 1747 or the year following. During his episcopacy of Killaloe
Bishop Lloyd promoted to parishes, not according to seniority, but
by concursus, and we may assume that he followed the same practice
in Waterford.

Thomas Stritch, a native of Clonmel, was recommended by
King James (James Francis Edward) and actually named by the
Holy See, as Coadjutor to Dr. Lloyd and Bishop of Teia in partibus,
1743. Stritch does not, however, appear to have been consecrated.
Symptoms of insanity, it is said, manifested themselves and prevented
consecration,

Peter Creagh, Dean of Limerick, was next proposed for the
coadjutorship. In 1736, when there was a vacancy in the see of
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Limerick, Dr. Creagh’s was one of the three names forwarded to
Rome, but he was then considered too young for episcopal responsi-
bilities. He was nominated Bishop of Avaro ¢# pariibus and Coad-
jutor to Dr. Lloyd in 1745. On Dr. Lloyd’s death the coadjutor
of course succeeded and, during the whole term of his episcopate,
Dr. Creagh continued to reside in Carrick-on-Suir. Probably he
chose the latter place because of its central position and because
it was a safer retreat for a bishop in those days than Waterford. Dr.
Creagh took no part in public affairs but devoted himself zealously
to the work of his holy office. Some years previous to his death he
seems to have been in feeble health, for in 1770 he made application
for a coadjutor. He died in 1774 in the twenty-fourth year of his
episcopacy, and was interred in old Carrickbeg parochial cemetery
(“ Relig na Muc ”’) where his resting place is marked by a large
table tomb bearing the following inscription :—“ I.N.R.I. Hic
jacet quod mortale erat TI™! et Rev™ D.D. Petri Creagh Episcopi
‘Waterfordiensis et Lismorensis. e e e e
. Natus anno 1707 obiit pridie Idibus Februarii anni 1775
Episcopatus anno 30. Requiescat in Pace.” It was Dr. Creagh,
by the way, who established the Annual High Mass for the deceased
bishops and priests of the diocese. His residence in Carrick still
stands and every intelligent Carrick man can point it out as the
quaint two-story house adjoining Dowley’s grocery establishment
in Main Street. Here that venerable prelate, who had guided his
clergy and people in trying times, and amid difficulties that few
to-day can realise, met the angel of death and passed to his reward.

Dr. William Egan, who had been coadjutor bishop since 1771,
succeeded on the death of Bishop Creagh. He was a native of
Waterford city, where he first saw the light in 1726. His father was
Luke Egan and his mother’s maiden name was Fitzpatrick. At
an early age he entered the Irish College of Seville where he finished
his ecclesiastical studies and was ordained about 1750. He had
but a short time returned to his native diocese when, in April,
1751, on the death of Father Hennessy, S.J., pastor of Clonmel,
he was appointed to the vacant parish by the Society of St. Paul
of Clonmel, according to immemorial privilege. A Rev. William
O’Donnell had, however, obtained a papal brief appointing himself.
Both appealed to Rome, which replied in 1754 in favour of Father
O’Donnell, on the ground that collation to a benefice falling vacant
in April belonged to the Holy See. Father Egan however appealed
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a second time and, in view of the additional evidence which he
adduced, the decision of the preceding year was reversed and the
right of St. Paul’s Society recognised. At Father Egan’s collation
in Clonmel Rev. Darby Ryan, Parish Priest of Kilcash, and Rev.
Francis Lane, of Carrick, were present. Probably it was memory
of the hardship it had inflicted on himself that prompted the pastor
of St. Mary’s to pen a pamphlet in 1754 on the practice of papal
appointments to Irish parishes. The pamphlet appeared anony-
mously and was entitled—'* The case of Papal Months and Re-
servations particularly with regard to Ireland, fairly stated. By
Romano-Hibernus. Printed in the year 1754.” The writer has
never met this work, though Dr. Renehan, from whose MS. notes
in Maynooth College, he learns of its issue and authorship, had
apparently seen and handled a copy. During his pastorate
of Clonmel Dr. Egan built the present parochial house of St. Mary’s.
In 1771 he was named coadjutor to the venerable Dr. Creagh and
Bishop of Sura in partibus, and was consecrated privately at
Taghmon, Co. Wexford, in the house of his brother-in-law. As
coadjutor and as bishop of the diocese Dr. Egan continued to live
in Clonmel. His lot was cast in troublous times. A spirit of law-
lessness bordering on anarchy prevailed amongst the peasantry
of the diocese. Whiteboys, levellers, and members of other secret
societies undertook to redress wrongs and in redressing them they
caused greater evils than those they set out to remedy. Arson,
bloodshed, murder, abduction, highway robbery and other outrages
were events of every day, or rather every night, occurrence, as
anyone may see who reads through a file of newspapers of the period.
The clergy, barely tolerated, or less, by the law, strove what they
could to prevent outrages and preached respect for authority and
order, but the ignorant and exasperated peasantry saw in the Law
only an oppressor. The well meant efforts of the poor priest too
often resulted in exposing their author to suspicion or perhaps
to violence at the hands of desperadoes and nocturnal gangs. Rev.
Nicholas Phelan’s is a case in point. Father Phelan was pastor of
Kilcash, but he was forced by Whiteboys, whose deeds he had
denounced, to fly for his life and to abandon his parish. During
his career as Parish Priest and Bishop, Dr. Egan, by his urbanity,
gained the goodwill of the local gentry and of the Irish government.
Perhaps his gentleness and amiability trenched on timidity. When
one of his brother priests, the pastor of Clogheen, was taken on
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a.capital charge the popular voice reproached the Parish Priest
of Clonmel that he made no effort to save the priest. In the absence
of documents and at this distance of time it is difficult for us to
judge with accuracy that which puzzled contemporaries. Dr. Egan
lived to see the erection of the present cathedral, which was built
simply as a parish church, and by the sole exertions of the Parish
Priest, Rev. Thomas Hearn. On the death of Archbishop Butler
in 1791 an effort was made to have Dr. Egan promoted to Cashel,
but the Bishop himself vigorously resisted the attempt, with the
result that Dr. Bray—resisting too to the very end—was appointed
to the vacant see. Archbishop Bray was, by the way, closely
connected with Waterford, his mother being a Power of Bawnfown,
a near relative of Rev. Nicholas Sheehy and of the Countess of
Blessington. Rev. Francis Power, Vice-President of Maynooth
College, was, it is of interest to note, of the same family, a native
of Clonmel and a first cousin to Dr. Bray. Bishop Egan, who had
been forty-four years resident in Clonmel, died suddenly in July,
1796, and was buried in St. Mary’s Church where his tomb bore the
following inscription : * Hic sepultae sunt exuviae mortales Gulielmi
Egan Waterford. et Lismoren. episcop. Docti et illustris. Has
unitas ecclesias Temporib. Tempest. solerter prudenter firmiterque
per annos 25 rexit, Obiit die 22 Julii A.D. 1796, aetatis 75.”

Dean Thomas Hearn, of Holy Trinity, presided over the diocese
as Vicar-Capitular from July, 1796, to January of the following
year, when Rev. Thomas Hussey, president of Maynooth College
was appointed bishop. In August, 1796, the clergy of Waterford
and Lismore had sent a deputation of their number to the arch-
bishop and bishops of the province, praying that a priest of the
diocese might be appointed. Dr. Bray however postulated in
favour of Dr. Hussey, alleging that the latter was much esteemed
by the late Dr. Egan who had frequently spoken of Hussey as the
priest best qualified to succeed him. Dr. Hussey had been chaplain
to the Spanish embassy in London before his appointment to May-
nooth, and was well known and highly esteemed by many British
statesmen of the day, on whose behalf he had occasionally acted
in the capacity of political agent. In 1794 he had refused a Govern-
ment gratuity of £1,000 for his past services in negotiations with
Spain. His letters to and from Edmund Burke will be found in
the great statesman’s correspondence as arranged and published
in 1844 by Earl Fitzwilliam and Lieut.-General Sir Richard Bourke

D
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(London, Francis and John Rivington, 4 vols.) Dr. Hussey’s
fearless pastoral and sermons thoroughly alarmed the Munster
bishops who feared that their confrere of Waterford would provoke
the Government to harsh measures. The times they thought were
inopportune for such daring avowals. As a matter of fact, as we
know from Burke’s correspondence, the Irish Government did
take great offence at the bishop’s action. Dr. Hussey apparently dld
more than merely speak or write ; he assumed the outward marks
of dignity becoming a bishop; he lived too in a house and in a
style superior to his predecessors. His residence on the Gracedieu
Road, above the present Morley Terrace, still stands. In this
Georgian house, he, however, resided a few months only; he was
obliged, owing to various circumstances, to live much abroad, the
diocese in his absence being superintended by Dean Hearn. During
the bishop’s absence his house was occupied by military from 1798
to 1801; and for the damage done he claimed compensation, but, it is
probable, claimed in vain. Although Dr. Hussey’s income was small—
only £300 a year, of which £50 came out of the parish of Clonmel—
he managed to build and endow convents, almshouses, and schools.
He encouraged Brother Edmond Ignatius Rice in his noble work,
and introduced the first teaching orders of nuns into Waterford.
An instance of the Bishop’s fearlessness will bear recital here.
A Catholic soldier in Carrick-on-Suir was court-martialled for re-
fusing to attend Protestant service. * The Sentimental and Masonic
Magazine,” Dec., 1794, commenting on the affair states that the
regiment was the 14th Light Dragoons, that the soldier was sentenced
to 200 lashes and that 90 of these had already been inflicted. At
that time to express sympathy with an unfortunate victim of
military despotism was to risk one’s liberty or life. Dr. Hussey
proceeded straight to Carrick, presented himself at the barracks
there and demanded the soldier’s release. The officer in charge
insultingly refused the priest’s demand and added he would horse-
whip him through the town were it not for his clerical coat. You,
replied Hussey, wear the coat of a brave man but it covers the heart
of a coward; only a coward could utter such a threat. “ You
shall not remain here, sir,” furiously retorted the officer. “ Nor the
soldier, either,” quietly added the priest * for I shall report your
conduct this day and obtain his release.” He did report the whole
case to the Duke of Portland and the soldier was liberated. Dr.
Hussey had applied for a coadjutor in the person of Dr. Walsh,
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President of the Irish College, Paris, but before any appointment
the great bishop died at Dunmore East, July 11th, 1803. Accom-
panied by the Vicar-General he had bathed that morning, as was his
custom between five and six o’clock, and while putting on the last
of his clothes, he was seized with a fit (probably apoplectic) in which
he died, without having recovered consciousness, at 9 o’clock.
Forty priests attended the obsequies on the 13th. A tablet to
his memory, within the cathedral precincts, is inscribed :—

D.O. M.
Hic Jacent Sepultae Exuviae Mortales
Revdendis. and Iustris. Dom.
Thomae Hussey S.T.D.
Qui per septem annos,
Ecclesiam Waterfordiens. et Lismorens.”
&ec., &c.

On Dr. Hussey’s death nomination of the Vicar-Capitular was
left to the Archbishop, who appointed Rev. Thomas Flannery, of
Clonmel. Archbishop Bray strongly recommended Dr. Thomas
Keating, of Dungarvan ¢ if in health ” to fill the vacant see. Bishops
Troy and Moylan had recommended Rev. John Power. Rev. John
Power, Parish Priest of St. John’s, was chosen and was consecrated
by Dr. Bray in 1804. By the way, both Bishops Bray and Power
incurred censure for omission of the professio fides at the consecration
ceremony and Father Connolly, O.P., agent to the Irish bishops,
under date March 30th, 1805, writes notifying their absolution
therefrom. Dr. Power was a native of Waterford and a distinguished
student of Louvain, which he entered in 1781 and where he became
professor. To him is due the formal foundation of St. John's
College. He lived as Parish Priest and as Bishop in the old house
of the manor until recently used as the police station, and made
both Holy Trinity and St. John’s mensal parishes. In 1811 he
issued a Pastoral, given in Finn’s Leinster Journal, condemning
the caravats, then active for evil in the diocese. He died January
17th, 1816, and is buried near the sacristy entrance to the cathedral,
where the following inscription appears on his tombstone :—

“ Beneath this Slab are deposited the mortal Remains of the
Right Revd. Joun Power, D.D. He was consecrated R. C. Bishop
of the United Dioceses of Waterford and Lismore on the 25th of
April, 1804, and died on the 27th of January, 1816, being 51 years
of Age.
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He was a man of varied and profound literary acquirements.
‘His piety was sincere and unaffected, and the numerous Institutions
established by him to effect the moral improvement of his people,
afford undoubted evidence of the zeal and fidelity with which he
discharged the duties of his High Office.

During his life he possessed the respect of all, and for his death
there was an universal manifestation of regret by his fellow Citizens
of every class and denomination.

May he Rest in Peace. Amen.”

Dr. Power was apparently much beloved and respected in his
native city and extraordinary honour was paid to his memory.
His funeral procession comprised practically every citizen of
Waterford including the Protestant Bishop and clergy. Starting
from the Cathedral it passed up Broad Street, and on to John's
Bridge whence it deployed along the Waterside to the Quay, up
the Quay to the Bridge and back, viz King’s and George’s streets,
to the cathedral beside which the burial took place.

Dr. Robert Walsh, Parish Priest of Dungarvan succeeded,
by brief dated July 4th, 1817. In the previous February the
Parish Priests of the diocese had met in Carrick-on-Suir to select
three names for submission to Rome. The meeting postulated
unanimously for Dr. Flannery of Clonmel who, however, refused to
accept nomination. A second meeting, also in Carrick, took place
the following April when Dr. Robert Walsh was chosen Dignissimus,
Dr. Garret Connolly Dignior, and Rev. Thomas Hearne of Killea
Dignus. The meeting added a rider recording its objection to the
appointment of any extern cleric. Apparently there was something
to explain regarding Dr. Walsh’s selection, for the meeting also
issued a public statement, signed by Revs. John O'Neill, Carrick,
Patrick O’Meagher, Newcastle, and William O’Meagher, Rathgor-
mack. Dr. Walsh was consecrated in the cathedral in presence of
Bishops Murphy (Cork), Sugrue (Kerry), Marum (Ossory), O’Shaugh-
nessy (Kildare) and Tuohy (Limerick).

The new bishop, though of personal integrity and excellence,
seems, unfortunately, for himself and the diocese to have rather
lacked clearness of view, judgment of character, and that firmness
of purpose which in a crisis is so necessary for a bishop. Accusations
of inefficient administration were made and the bishop found it
necessary to defend himself before Propaganda. Certain it is, that,
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especially during the closing years of his episcopacy, there was
much unrest in the diocese—innumerable complaints and many
accusations, some of them manifestly extravagant. The source
and fountain head of the trouble was the poor bishop’s patronage
of a certain Parish Priest who had gained his confidence and basely
abused it to the detriment of Dr. Walsh and peace of the diocese.
A glimpse of the Penal Laws in active operation as late as Dr.
Walsh’s episcopacy is afforded by the punishment at Waterford in
1820 of a suspended priest, Rev. James Browne, for celebrating the
marriage of two Protestants, Browne was fined £500, an immense
sum in those days ; presumably the impossible fine was never paid.
The bishop, in 1818, issued a strong and dignified Pastoral in con-
demnation of quasi-political disorders. This probably is the reason
why the “ Cork Freeholder,” Jan. 7th, 1818, not over elegantly
styles him ““a lickspittle loyalist,” Another long Pastoral of the
bishop’s appears in full in the ““ Kerry Evening Post,”” Feb. 14th,
1820. Bishop Walsh died at Rome, October 1st, 1821, and Gams
(“ Series Episcoporum ’’) notes that, at the time, the unfortunate
prelate was under sentence of privation.

Bishop Patrick Kelly, of Richmond, Virginia, United States
of America, was translated to Waterford by brief dated February,
1822. When a bishop dies in Rome appointment of his successor
rests absolutely with the Holy See. As the late bishop had died
" In curia Romana’ and as Propaganda had already, for good
reasons, determined on the translation of Dr. Kelly from Richmond,
the congregation intimated to the diocese through Rev. Garrett
Connolly, V.G., that, if the clergy postulated for Dr. Kelly, the
latter would be appointed. Dr Kelly was a native of Kilkenny city ;
he had studied in Lisbon and taught theology in Birchfield College,
Kilkenny. He governed the diocese of Waterford with much
energy and decision, but, unfortunately, he was spared only seven
years. During his episcopate took place in 1826 that memorable
politico-religious struggle in Co. Waterford, known as ' Stuart’s
Election,” which had so palpable and immediate effect on Catholic
Emancipation, and for the result of which he was personally, in no
small degree, responsible. Having lived to see Catholic Emancipa-
tion achieved the good Bishop died October 8th, 1829, and was
buried in Holy Trinity Cathedral where his monument is inscribed :
“H.S.E., Revmus Patritius Kelly Ecclesiae Waterford. et Lismorensis
Episcopus, quam cum per 8 circiter annos integerrime rexisset,
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obiit annum agens 52, VIII Id. Octobris MDCCCXXIX. Praesul
antiquae prorsus fidei amore erga patriam, et singulari admodum
religionis studio insignis Illustrissimo Patri ac desideratissimo
moerens posuit Clerus populusque Waterfordiensis. R.I.P.” Dr.
Kelly’s funeral procession followed the route of his predecessor’s.
““The Waterford Mirror ” of Oct.12th, 1829, states that he was
buried in front of the second confessional from the altar on the Gospel
side within the cathedral.

It is of interest to record that a gold snuff-box presented to the
Bishop as a memorial of the famous election is in the possession
of Dr. Kelly’s grand nephew, Mr. John Stephenson of Fairbrook.

Rev. William Abraham, president of St. John’s College, Water-
ford, was, by brief dated January 23rd, 1830, appointed successor
to Dr. Kelly. Dr. Abraham is claimed to have been a native of
Glendine (Templemichael) parish. According, however, to family
tradition, he was born at Killeagh, Co. Cork, where his father was
a blacksmith. His parents removed first to Glendine and later
to Headborough, Co. Waterford, where young Abraham grew up.
He studied in Maynooth, and after his ordination joined the staff
of St. John’s College. At “ Stuart’s election ’’ (1829) Rev. William
Abraham was the only priest who voted for Beresford, the
anti-Emancipation champion. Bishops Kelly and Abraham, who
succeeded in the order named, held office for seven years each.
Dr. Abraham died January 23rd, 1837, and was interred in the
Cathedral, Waterford. Dr. Abraham seems to have had a knack
of being on the unpopular and gentry side. As bishop he incurred
the odium of the mob about 1835 when he espoused the cause of
Wyse in a city election. During his episcopate also there was some
controversy between the Bishop and the Franciscans relative to
formal opening of the present Franciscan Church ; indeed there are
some repercussions of the dispute in the first years of the following
episcopate.

Rev. Nicholas Foran, P.P., Dungarvan, was consecrated bishop,
August 24th, 1837. Dr. Foran, who was a native of Trinity
Without parish, was ordained in 1808, after an exceptionally brilliant
course at Maynooth. Six years later he was appointed president
of the newly established college in Waterford. Later still he was
offered and declined, in succession, the presidency of Maynooth
College, and the newly created bishopric of Galway. He was
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appointed Parish Priest of Lismore in 1824 and translated to Dun-
garvan in 1828, During his pastorate of Dungarvan he erected,
entirely out of his own resources, the fine schools of the Christian
Brothers, which, on their completion, he presented to Brother
Edmund Ignatius Rice. After a long episcopate he died rather
suddenly in Dungarvan, May, 1855, and was buried in the Cathedral.

Rev. Dominick O’Brien, P.P., St. Patrick’s, Waterford, suc-
ceeded. Born in Waterford city (1798), of which he, his father,
and grandfather were freemen, he was educated in the Diocesan
Seminary and, afterwards, at the College of Propaganda, Rome,
where he took his degree of Doctor in Divinity. On his return to
his native city Dr. O’Brien was first appointed chaplain to the
Ursuline Convent and, in 1826, professor in St. John’s College,
In 1834 he became president of the latter establishment. Nineteen
years later he was promoted to the pastorship of St. Patrick’s which
he held for less than two years—till his appointment as bishop in
1855. During his episcopate Dr. O’Brien built the present St.
John’s College on St. John’s Hill, and devoted to it all his private
resources. In days long before the Gaelic Revival Dr. O’Brien
was an enthusiastic patron of Irish scribes and a collector of Irish
MSS. He died in 1873 and was buried in the Cathedral. The Bishop
and his personal friend and V.G., Rev. Dr. Flynn, died within a
couple of days of one another. In their early days they had been
fellow members of the College staff. The writer can recall Dr.
O’Brien’s appearance in his old age. The bishop was of low stature
and decidedly obese, but he had a very handsome head and features.
He left his library, including many rare Irish books and some MSS.,
to St. John’s College.

Rev. John Power, P.P., SS. Peter and Paul’s, Clonmel, was
nominated coadjutor to Dr. O’Brien, May 6th, 1873, but the bishop
died before Dr. Power’s consecration, which took place, July 20th,
1873, at the hands of Archbishop Leahy, assisted by the Bishops
of Cork and Cloyne. There were also present on the occasion
the Bishops of Ross, Galway, Ossory, Killaloe, and Providence,
U.S.A. Dr. Power was a native of Affane parish, Co. Waterford,
and studied in St. John’s College. In 1852 he became Parish Priest
of Powerstown and was translated to SS. Peter and Paul’s in 1866.
He died in December, 1887, aged seventy-eight years, and was
buried in the Cathedral at Waterford. Dr. Power was very tall—
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the tallest ecclesiastic in the diocese or, perhaps, in Ireland. His
build was not, however, proportioned to his height. He had florid
features and spoke impressively—with manifest deliberation.
When in pontificals his figure towered over choir and assistants.
A. M. Sullivan in his * New Ireland ” describes a painful incident
in which Dr. Power—then chaplain to the jail—figured at a double
execution in Clonmel.

Dr. Pierse Power, Coadjutor Bishop, succeeded. He was a
native of Powerstown parish, Co. Tipperary, and studied at St.
John'’s College and Maynooth, His course at Maynooth was so
distinguished that on its completion, or, at least, while a member
of the Dunboyne establishment, he was chosen to teach for a time
the class of third year’s theology. On leaving Maynooth he was
for some time attached as curate to St. Mary’s parish, Clonmel. He
became successively professor and president of St. John’s College,
Waterford, and, in 1881, Parish Priest of Dungarvan. Five years
later he was nominated Coadjutor Bishop. He became Bishop
of the diocese in 1887 and died in May, 1889. He was buried in
the Cathedral.

Rev. John Egan, a native of Killaloe, succeeded. His reign
was also very brief. He died in 1891, deeply regretted by clergy
and people and was buried in the Cathedral.

Canon Richard Alphonsus Sheehan, Administrator of SS.
Peter and Paul’s, Cork, was consecrated Bishop of Waterford in
Jan., 1892 and held the see till his death, after a brief illness, in 1915.
A man of tireless zeal and energy, of broad sympathies and exact
information, Dr. Sheehan left his mark on the diocese. During
his episcopate he introduced the system of Religious Examination
of schools, an annual synod, more frequent conferences of the clergy,
besides reorganising the diocesan finances, building new schools
and parochial houses, founding a diocesan magazine, receiving the
diocesan Chapter and abolishing some old abuses, like hiring fairs.
In 1893 Dr. Sheehan provided the Cathedral with a new cut
stone facade and a few years later he built a fireproof chamber
for custody of the valuable antique vestments. As one of the
two secretaries to the Irish bishops, Dr. Sheehan drew up the
programme for the National Synod of Maynooth (1900} and. his
hand is clearly to be seen in the synodal decrees. Dr. Sheehan
was a ready, logical and tactful speaker; like most people who
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are able to see both sides of a question, he was moderate in
his views and prudent in his actions; his prudence of action
did not always save him trouble; a priest of the diocese, Rev.
Thomas Commins, whose conduct had brought upon him ecclesias-
tical censure, instituted an action at law against the Bishop and,
although judgment was unreservedly in the latter’s favour, Dr.
Sheehan was saddled with heavy costs because the plaintiff had
no means. Like all his predecessors for over a hundred years,
except Bishop Robert Walsh, he was buried in the cathedral
precincts. It is, by the way, a rather remarkable phenomenon
that the bishops of outstanding mark for the last century and a
half—Hussey, Kelly, Sheehan—have been non-natives of the
diocese.

Bernard J. Hackett—at the time in his 54th year—was con-
secrated Bishop in March, 1916. He was a native of Dungarvan,
had studied in Maynooth and been ordained in 1888. Immediately
on ordination he became attached to St. John’s College, on
the teaching staff of which he continued for the next sixteen years.
He also acted for a while as secretary to the bishop, Dr. Pierce
Power. Obeying a call to the Religious state he entered the Re-
demptorist novitiate in 1904 and, after profession, he laboured
on the mission staff of the Order, 1905-16. His preaching possessed
a winning fervour which readily drew sinners to God. His favourite
work was direction of young men for which his sympathetic nature
specially qualified him. Dr. Hackett possessed a remarkably quick
mind—ready, perhaps, rather than profound—with a judgment
rather intuitive than reasoned. Like his predecessor he died after
a brief illness. He was buried within the precincts of St. John's
Church, June, 1931, His premature end was much regretted by
the people of Waterford to whom he had endeared himself.

There was a long delay—of almost a year—in nomination
of Dr. Hackett’s successor. In the interval Ven. Archdeacon
Byrne, as Vicar Capitular, administered diocesan affairs. On the
feast of SS. Peter and Paul, 1932, Dr. Jeremiah Kinane, Professor
of Canon Law in Maynooth College and a native of Cashel diocese,
was consecrated Bishop of Waterford. All the bishops of the
Diocese since Dr. Hussey’s time—with the single exception of
Bishop Patrick Kelly—received episcopal consecration in Waterford
Cathedral.
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Reference will be found in the following pages and under the
various parishes, to a certain early church sites or cills. These
- represent primitive Celtic cells or churches of the oratory type, and
oratories are so called because it was at one time concluded from
their diminutive size that these buildings were used by the
founder merely for his own private devotions. As a matter of fact
they were the churches of the period—the sixth, seventh, and two:
succeeding centuries ; they are distinguished by high pitched roof,
antae or prolongation of side walls and inclining door jambs. The
Irish oratory was generally of wood—a fact which accounts for the
comparative absence of survivals. Of the oratory proper there is
only a single surviving example in the diocese ; this, St. Declan’s.
at Ardmore (the Beannachdin), is of stone and it is not of the earliest,
but rather of second early, type. Oratory, or early Celtic church,
sites are generally found surrounded by a circular fence of earth.
Where the fence has been demolished its outline can easily be traced
by the practised eye. Probably two out of every three early church
sites in the diocese are indicated by the circular fence or some trace
of it. The subject of these early churches, which has hiterto received
little or no attention, is one investigation of which is bound to
throw much light on the discipline and practices of the early Church
of Ireland. Exclusive of places, like Clashmore, Ardmore, Kill-
rossanty, Kilcash, etc., etc., which have been occupied by church
buildings down to at least the sixteenth century, there are scores
of church sites altogether unmarked by a trace of building or
cemetery. In many cases nothing survives save tradition and an
Irish name indicative of the place’s former sacred character. The
sites are popularly and variously known as kyles, killeens, killeen-
achs—names all derived from the Latin loan word, cill, a church.
Occasionally they are known by names or paraphrases like Deapna
na ngépLace, significative of burial. Even tradition of the sacred
character of the place is sometimes lost. There is, however, a
vague dread of meddling with the spot, which remains untilled and
untouched, perhaps in the middle of a cultivated field; still-born
infants are interred there, and occasionally ogham inscribed names,
- ““stone chalices,” Celtic inscriptions or other ecclesiastical objects
have been found connected with it. In addition to ¢l and its
derivatives other names for early churches are Teampul (Temple-
michael), Domhnach (Donaghmore), Mainister (Dunamainistreach),
Teach (Tacheyny), Aracal (Darrigle ?), Eaglais (Aglish), Disert
(Ballindesert), &c.
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The “ oratory” type of church structure was succeeded,
somewhere about the middle of the 8th century, by a small stone
building comprising nave and chancel, joined by a round-headed
chancel arch. The arch at first was plain, of chiselled stone, but
later it was decorated heavily by sculpture in the style known as
Hiberno-Romanesque. We have surviving examples of this type
at Donaghmore, Kilbunny, Kilcash, Kilsheelan and elsewhere.
The Anglo-Norman invasion, in the 12th century, wrought a revo-
lution in Irish church architecture as in many other things. The
round arch gave way to the pointed and the Irish-Romanesque
became obsolete. The vast majority of our diocesan ruined churches
belong to this period and class. They are of a half a dozen sub-
types—chancelled and unchancelled, monastic, parochial and votive.
They are early English, decorated and perpendicular, according
to period. In most cases they replace more ancient churches of
native style. Their story as a rule is this: erected between the
12th and 16th centuries, they were taken over by the Reformers
and their endowments confiscated; for lack of worshippers or
revenue they were allowed to fall into their present decay. Roofless,
stripped of bells and woodwork and mostly overgrown by ivy they
remain mute witnesses to a former unity of faith. These humble
structures and their surrounding cemeteries are now generally
vested in local elective bodies but, alas, it must be said their con-
tinued condition of untidy desolation is little less than a national
disgrace. Sometimes the grey walls, which had already grown
old in God’s service when schismatic fury first burst upon them,
have been pulled down for sake of their poor materials and the
profaners have not always been Protestants. Characteristic of all
these little church buildings is {a) an east and west direction, 7.c.,
orientation or observance of the “ Holy Line, ” and (b) a Sacrarium
or credence in the south-east corner of the chancel. The general
planincludes an east window—the most ornate feature of the building,
a west doorway, a small window in the south side wall near its
east end, to light the altar, and putlock holes in the side walls
towards west of nave. These last were intended to carry the beams
of a wooden gallery, probably the lodging of the attached presbyter.
Less general but still fairly common features are a Holy Water
stoup beside the entrance door, or a baptimsal font lying on the
ground within the ruin. The walls of thelittle church are now buried
feet deep, in the black graveyard soil ; this is not because the
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masonry has sunk but because the earth has been piled up through
the burials of centuries. In more than fifty per cent. of the churches
the building consists of a single compartment only, 7.e., there is no
structural division into nave and chancel. Roughly speaking the
early English style denotes a 12th or 13th century origin, the decor-
ated or flamboyant a 14th century building and the perpendicular
belongs to the century or so immediately preceding the Reformation,
The more observant visitor will notice that there are no interments.
or, at any rate, no old interments, on the north side of the church
building or cemetery ; this is in conformity with ancient Christian
symbolism which regarded the north as the side of paganism, and
which reserved that region of the graveyard for the burial of suicides
and the excommunicated. Occasionally a small Protestant meeting
house has taken the place of the original church. When the ancient
churches were seized by the Reformers they were in good condition ;
Canon Law made adequate provision for their upkeep and repair ;
under their new guardians, however, they were, with few exceptions,
like St. Mary’s, Clonmel, and the Cathedral of Waterford—allowed
to fall into ruin. To-day not a 16th century church of the
diocese remains in Catholic hands; portion of Abbeyside monastic
chapel is embodied in the modern church, the parish church of
Carrickbeg incorporates portion of the old Franciscan church
and Clonmel Friary as well as the parish churches of Colligan,
Faithlegg, Fews and Kilgobinet stand on, or beside, the olden sites.
In most, if not all, the cases just enumerated the ancient site has
been re-acquired by purchase.

Destruction or decay of the pre-Reformation churches was
almost universal. Meantime the Catholics, deprived of their ancient
temples, were driven to worship wherever, and as best, they could—
in private houses, cellars, old stores, improvised shelters, or under
the canopy of Heaven, More than this—the law forbade them to
worship at all ; such worship was declared criminal and the priest
who officiated became a felon. In country parts the most common
type of Mass-house was a temporary shelter formed by two dry
stone walls with tree branches laid across and covered with furze
and straw. Here the faithful met and the harassed pastor, on
whose track hung human blood hounds, broke to his people the
Bread of Life. If one Mass-place became unsafe it was easy to
temove to a safer. But, not infrequently, the ruling powers con~
nived at both priest and meeting ; much depended on the mind of
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the administration for the time being and more, perhaps, on the
temper of the local magnate, magistrate, corporation, or established
church authority. In Cahir, Kilcash and Carrick, thanks to Butler
influence, there was more toleration than in, say, Lismore where
canting Boyle and his crew held sway. The Lords of Curraghmore,
though they had ceased to be Catholics, stood politically by those
who retained the faith, and so on. During most of the 18th century
and the early part of the 19th, toleration became expedient or
fashionable. Under its influence more substantial Mass-houses
were built, with walls of cemented stone and regular roofs of thatch.
Priests began to move freely about and bishops came forth
from their hiding places, as law after law against them was repealed.
Finally came the Volunteers in the seventeen eighties and Catholic
Emancipation in 1829 when, thanks to O’Connell and agitation,
the last links of the penal chain were formally broken.

Corresponding roughly to the respective types of church
fabric enumerated were the types of clergy who through the cen-
turies ministered in them. In the pre-Invasion, or native-Irish,
period—the Celtic period as it is very commonly called—an in-
digenous priesthood, deriving directly from St. Patrick and native
tradition, served the oratories and the later small-sized Romanesque
churches. This priesthood and Celtic Church had some peculiarities
of discipline—the outcome of their isolation and their deep con-
servative sense. ¥From Lives of Saints and such sources we gather
that the Church’s support was from attached lands aided by offerings
in kind, especially on the occasion of funerals. Church structures
were of diminutive size and, when extra accommodation became
necessary, instead of enlarging the building the community erected
a second, or even a third, little church alongside the first. Mass
was said much less frequently than at a later period and wine for
the Holy Sacrifice must have been difficult to procure. The
attached cleric, who was known as the coarb of the original founder,
lived within, or close by, the church and he had, as his companion,
a clerk or servitor, besides (at any rate, if he were of higher grade)
a lay steward called the Erenach. It must be owned that, not-
withstanding much recent study, we are but poorly acquainted with
the intimate, or domestic, life of the Early Irish Church ; it is pretty
evident that as a result of recent research hitherto accepted notions
of the Church and period must be revised. Marked characteristics
of clergy and religious were a strong ascetic spirit, love of monastic-
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ism and pilgrimage—all tempered by a robust individualism.
The Synod of Rathbreasail (1115) set itself to bring Irish church
discipline into more perfect harmony with Rome and the Continent.
The Anglo-Norman Invasion, half a century later, carried the reforms
some steps further and brought in a host of foreign clergy of much
less ascetic spirit than their Irish forerunners. While doing little
to improve native morals the Invasion introduced new vices and
a less decorous clergy. We have already seen that it is to the
Hiberno-Norman era the majority of our ruined churches belong.
The clergy, though mostly Irish-born, were—especially in the richer
livings—of foreign descent. Nearly all the bishops of Waterford
and Lismore, between the twelfth and sixteenth centuries, bear
un-Irish names and some of them were actually Englishmen. The
Crown and Rome so co-operated in church matters that it was
not always easy for the laity, or the less educated clergy, to know
where Church right ended and Civil right began. In fact the
Church came to look like a department of the State. Lax in-
terpretation of discipline commenced with the Invasion and grew
with the centuries till its culmination in the 16th century debacle.
The clergy, recruited from the upper classes, were mostly uneducated
though they were less ignorant than the laity. Sometimes they were
ignorant of the Irish language; Pope Paul II. (mid. 15th century)
issued a Bull, to the Bishop of Lismore forbidding him to confer
care of souls on anyone unable to speak the language of the place.

By aid of the Papal Registers, Annates, Theiner (“Monumenta’’)
and State Papers it is possible to compile a partial catalogue of Post-
Invasion to Reformation incumbents—prebendaries, rectors, etc.,
but these ecclesiastics are seldom more than mere names. Mostly
they are of English birth or lineage and often they are non-resident.
Such lists, therefore, are hardly warranted for our present purpose
especially taking into account the great expense of printing. Under
the Penal Laws (1560-1790), quite a new ecclesiastical economy
developed. In the earlier part of-the period the ranks of the clergy
continue to be filled from the land-owning and opulent burgher
classes ; their influential connection served the clerics well by way
of protection and often by way of maintenance. As the old pro-
pertied classes died out, were exiled, or apostatised to save their
estates, another type of candidate for the service of the altar arose.
This was the ecclesiastical student of peasant birth—pious, steadfast
and, often, intellectually gifted. He studied in hedge schools or
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in the house of the local priest, was ordained at home, and after
-ordination set out to study in a foreign college :—

*‘ The Priests are on the ocean green ; they march along the deep.”
“The object of ordination before his college course was that the
poor student might be able, in part, to support himself by Mass
offerings from pious French, Spanish or Flemish Catholics. Return-
ing home the young priest was immediately, or in a short time,
collated to a parish, or union of parishes, and, as the income from
this was only a few pounds, he more often than not, was obliged
to supplement his stipend by leasing and farming land. To his
own people he was known as pastor of the parish, but to the Govern-
ment set his status was a puzzle, for he dressed as a layman and
kept out of the public eye. A certain proportion of the clergy
was home trained, that is the priest had never been abroad or indeed
within the walls of a Seminary. These men had got a knowledge
of classics in a hedge school and some theological training from a
competent Parish Priest of the diocese to whose tuition they had
been committed by the Bishop or Vicar Apostolic. The training
given was a poor substitute for the University Course at Louvain
or Salamanca, but it was the best that could be done and when the
day of trial came the poor hedge-school graduate was not found
wanting. On the other hand many of the foreign students never
returned to Ireland ; they accepted ecclesiastical preferment abroad
and there they ended their days—far from the green hills of their
youth. We have recurring complaints from bishops and vicars
of their want of priests while numbers of their most promising
diocesans are detained in foreign lands. Their training, in famous
foreign universities, gave many of the penal-era clergy a culture
and a polish which almost seems misplaced in circumstances of
their after lives. Fewness of the clergy and poverty of the flock
made adequate religious instruction of the people an impossibility.
Take as an example, the parish of Passage in the eighteenth
century: the Catholic population was six thousand, spread over
an area of about thirty square miles, and ministered to in the
beginning of the century by a single priest and, later, by a Parish
Priest and one curate. There were no regular schools, though
there were a couple of untrained and incompetent itinerant teachers
who, now in one locality, again in another, taught the rudiments
to a few children of the more prosperous farmers. The poor peda-
gogue of the day was a teacher only betimes; he kept school in
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the winter and, if not incapacitated by bodily infirmity, he turned
farm labourer in summer. There were over one thousand Catholic
families in the parish of whom considerably more than half were
in such poverty that they were unable to make even the smallest
offering towards support of the clergy or upkeep of the poor chapel.
Parochial organisation there was none nor possibility of any.
Sacraments were received but rarely, and then, with but the bare
minimum of preparation. Only persons of the so called better
classes were able to confess without aid. In such circumstances
it is no wonder the ignorance of the people wasappalling, no wonder
there were outbursts of savagery and brutal retaliation, no wonder
disorder and riot were chronic. The clergy alone possessed any
influence over the masses of the population; they appreciated
what the consequences of rebellion were for their poor people,
but the latter, maddened by oppression and wrong, often broke from
the control of the priest and occasionally, for the moment, turned
on him as the enemy, because he preached obedience and restraint.

All the churches of the diocese, with perhaps only two exceptions
scil., Waterford Cathedral and St. Patrick’s, date, as regards their
material structure, from the nineteenth century. The church
buildings from the preceding century which survived into the
nineteenth, were of very inferior masonry and roofed with thatch ;
they were consequently short lived. A wave of church building
passed over the diocese during the first twelve years of the century
and succeeding waves about the Emancipation period and in the
early forties respectively. All the churches erected during the
first half of the century were plain unambitious structures, cheap
but solid, suited to the climate and to the circumstances of the
congregations, and roomy enough to accommodate the then dense
rural population. About the early sixties a revival of building
set in, under the influence of which churches of greater architectural
pretensions arose. Gothic—generally the early variety-—was then
the prevailing fashion, and Tramore, Portlaw, Clogheen, the Nire,
etc,, are good examples of its application and the result. The
churches of the second half of the nineteenth century, if artistically
more beautiful than their predecessors of the first half and otherwise
more ambitious, are perhaps, on the whole, no better suited to the
practical needs of a country congregation.

The present parishes of Waterford and Lismore are, as a rule,
made up of a number of small ancient parishes and the present
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parish boundaries follow the lines of the ancient non-conterminous,
or outside, boundary of the group of ancient parishes forming the
union. The modern parish of Ballylooby, for instance, is formed:
by the union of the old parishes of Whitechurch, Tubrid, and
Tulloghortan ; its boundary is the outward, ¢.e., non-conterminous
boundary of the three. The present unions appear to have been
mostly effected during the seventeenth century. Pluralising of
benefices became a necessity owing to scarcity of priests, poverty
of the people, and sequestration of church property. What was
done through necessity in days of persecution has been since con-
tinued for convenience. The ancient parishes, except those repre-
senting ancient bishoprics and monastic parishes, were generally
of small extent. Diminutive size is specially characteristic of the
parishes of Waterford diocese ; the population was evidently more
dense in that region, or perhaps the material resources were greater.
The identity of modern, with old, parish boundaries is only a general
rule ; there are some exceptions. In a few cases we have evidence
when the change was effected ; to the period or occasion of the change
in the majority of cases we have no clue. Parts of Ardmore, for
instance, are now incorporated in Old Parish, Aglish, and Dun-
garvan. The object of this re-arrangement is obvious—convenience.
Parts of the ancient parish stood isolated like islands in the sea of
another parish. In the case of one particular isolated fragment
of a parish re-arrangement was impossible, for the reason that
the fragment in question is isolated not merely within another
parish but within another diocese. This is the small part of Lismore
diocese entirely isolated by the parishes of Ballyclerihan and Knock-
graffon within the diocese of Cashel. This isolated area possessed
for a while, in recent times, a church of its own—at Castleblake ;
the most curious feature of this cut-off fragment of the diocese is
that it was divided, and is still divided, between two parishes of
Lismore—Mora and Inislounaght, now Powerstown and St. Mary’s.
The explanation of these detached areas is to be sought mainly in
ancient civil topography and tribal history.

Unfortunately the patrons or titulars of the diocesan churches
have been largely forgotten. Bishop Comerford in the 17th century
made a list of diocesan dedications but this has been lost for centuries.
The popular * pattern ” often helped to perpetuate the memory
of the patronage. Transplantation, on the other hand, especially
in Co. Tipperary, helped to obliterate ancient customs and memories ;

E
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in some cases the patterns, as being the occasion of glaring abuses,
were suppressed generations ago, and so effectually that no memory
of their date survives which would enable us to determine the
ancient patronage. In recent times there has been an effort to
amend rather than to abolish the ** pattern.”” InIreland the custom
of allotting patrons to churches seems to have been popularised
by the Normans. The Irish in pre-invasion times called their
churches after their founders (e.g., Kilgobinet, Kilbride), but evidenca
is not very convincing that they had the idea of a formal titular or
patron. In old Irish church names, therefore, we find simply the
name of the founder incorporated with an Irish word for church, or
the word for church with some qualifying term as—*‘great,”” “small,”
‘““white,” “‘of the yewtree,” “‘of the hillock,” etc., etc. The Normans
appear to have rededicated (if the Irish naming can be regarded as a
dedication) the churches in the majority of cases; for instance, St.
Mochorog’s at Ballygunner became St. Mary’s, St. Otteran’s at
Killotteran became St. Peter’s, and so on. In the confusion and
uncertainty of the Penal times, when hunted pastor and harassed
people built a thatched and mud-walled chapel in some sequestered
place, they never dreamed of transferring the patronage from the
parish church; they expected, and the expectation did not die for
a century and more, to see restoration some day of the old church
and its endowments. When at last the successors of the thatched
and mud-walled chapels came to be regarded as ##e parish churches
with the parish burial grounds attached, the ancient patrons had
been, in very many cases, forgotten. Occasionally too, while still
remembered, the old were passed over in favour of new patrons.
Apropos of titulars, it is curious to note how frequently in the Diocese
the name of the Baptist occurs, also the Holy Cross, and Our Lady’s
Nativity ; there are fashions sometimes in devotions as in other
things.

Usage of centuries has made us all but forget that Waterford
and Lismore were for hundreds of years, in reality as in name,
independent dioceses with separate bishops, deans, chapters, and
cathedrals. Indeed, although united since the fourteenth century,
the two dioceses are still, occasionally in the Catholic practice and
more frequently in Protestant usage, regarded as distinct. So perfect,
however, has the amalgamation, five hundred years old, become
that to-day it has obliterated all popular memory of the ancient
co-terminous boundary,
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At its northern end the boundary line in question commences
at the mouth of the Clodiagh River, one mile or thereabout to the
north-east of Portlaw; thence the line follows up the Clodiagh
stream to the meeting-place (just to rear of Portlaw Presbyterian
‘Church), on its left bank, of the townlands of Coolfin and Bally-
cahane. Coolfin lies on the east of the dividing line—therefore in
Waterford diocese ; Ballycahane, to west of the line, lies within
Lismore. From the point just alluded to the line of division runs
south—along the watercourse which passes a few yards to west of
the Catholic church and cemetery, Portlaw—and follows the co-
terminous boundary of the two townlands mentioned till Glenhouse
townland is struck. Our line next continues south, keeping Glen-
house, Lahardan, and Kilmogemogue on the east, and Ballycahane
and Hackettstown on the west, till the south-west point of Kil-
‘mogemogue is reached, when it takes a sharp turn to the east along
the south boundary of Kilmogemogue (with Ross and Kildermody
on the south), crosses the railway line eight and a half miles from
Waterford, and desists from its easterly trend only when the north-
-east point of Ballyduff West is reached. Hence it runs in a direction
generally south, with Carrickanure on west and West-Ballyduff and
‘Coolagadden on east, till the Old Cork road is struck. Here the
Jine turns again, keeps Amberhill on the north and Lower Knocka-
derry and Johnstown on the south to the north-east point of
Johnstown. Then there is another turn to the south; the line
continues along the east mearing of Johnstown, with the latter
townland and Smoormore on west, and Amberhill and Raheens
on the east, till the north-western angle of Ballycraddock townland
is reached. From the north-western angle in question there is,
next, another easterly sweep ; the line follows the northern boundary
of Ballycraddock, with Raheens on the north, as far as the north-east
point of the former townland. Henceforward the line is very
regular and natural. From the point last mentioned it runs south,
with Ballycraddock and Killone on one side and Loughdaheen on
the other, to the southmost point of Loughdaheen townland and
Lisnakill parish. Thence the boundary line hugs the Dunhill
streamn to the sea. A slight difficulty is caused by one short section
of our reconstructed boundary line, viz. ;—the section which bounds
Coolfin townland on the west. Coolfin, with its church of Kilbunny,

- for a time, constituted an independent ecclesiastical division ;
generally, however, it was reckoned as portion of Kilmeadan parish
and hence as pertaining to Waterford rather than to Lismore.
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Parishes touching the boundry line on west; Clonegam, Guil-
cagh, Newcastle, and Dunhill.

Parishes touching the boundry line on east; Kilmeadan,
Lisnakill, Reiske, and Islandkeane.

Modern frontier parishes, Waterford diocese ; Portlaw (in part),
Ballyduff (in part), Butlerstown, Fenor.

Modern frontier parishes, Lismore diocese; Portlaw (in part),
Ballydufi (in part), Dunhill.

The word ““ parish "’ is used throughout the present work, in
more than one sense—as, indeed, it is in Irish popular parlance
generally. First, and principally, it is used to designate the modern
area under jurisdiction of a single Parish Priest. This may be made
up of two, three, or more ancient pa}:ishes, which were, for con-
venience and through hecessity, amalgamated as at present during
the Penal era. Secondly, the term is applied to what is now some-
times called the civid parish, that is, the smallest pre-Reformation
ecclesiastical unit. These ““ civil ” or *“ old,” parishes are really
amongst the most ancient of Irish territorial divisions; based on
pre-Invasion fuaths and friochacheds, they go back to the very
dawn of Christianity. It is unfortunate that the new six-inch maps
of the Ordnance Survey do not show the parish boundaries as the
older maps did. Thirdly, the term ‘“ parish " is to-day often used
to connote one of the constituent divisions, with its proper church,
of the modern parish ; thus we sometimes speak of Burncourt
parish or Faithlegg parish or even Kilbrian parish, as distinct from
the union of Clogheen, Killea and Kilgobinet. Presumably, parishes,
in our second (foregoing) sense, were, like dioceses, first formally
organised in the early 12th century, though, practically, they are
older by many centuries.

In pre-Reformation times the ecclesiastic corresponding to
our parish priest or parochus was styled the Rector, while our
modern curate would be called Vicar. The parish income was
divided into three equal parts of which the rector ordinarily received
two like our parish priest. The Vicar’s share was one third.
Impropriate parishes are parishes to which Religious Houses, or
even laymen, had the right of appointing the pastor. The Prior
of Mothel, for instance, appointed the Parish Priest of Ballylaneen,
but in this, and such cases, it was reserved to the Bishop to confer
jurisdiction. Impropriation rights were originally accorded to the
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1.—Diocese of Lismore,

1. Lismore 38. Dysert

2. Tallow 39. Kilsheelan (in parts)
3. Kilwatermoy 40. Killaloan

4. Templemichael 41. St. Mary's

6. Kilcockan 42. Inislounaght (in parts)
6. Aglish 43. Kilronan

7. Kilmolash 44, Newcastle

8. Affane 45. Molough

9. Modeligo 46. Neddins
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11. Whitechurch 48. Ardfinnan
12. Ardmore (in parts) 49. Rochestown

13. Grange (in parts) 50. Ballybacon

14. Ballymacart (in parts) 51." Tullaghorton

15. Kinsalebeg (in parts) 52. Shanrahan

16. Clashmore (in parts) 53. Templetenny

17. Ringagoona 54. Tubrid

18. Colligan 55. Whitechurch

19. Dungarvan 56. Cahir

19a. Kilrush 57. Mortlestown
20. Kilgobinet (in parts) 58, Outragh
21. Clonea 59. Derrygrath
22. Stradbally 60. Rathronan (in parts)
23. Ballylaneen 61. Kiltegan

24. Fews 62. Donoghmore

25. Kilrossenty 63. Mora
26. Seskinane 64. Baptist Grange (in pats)
27. Rathgormack 65. Lisronagh
28. Mothel 66. Kilgrant
29. Rossmire 67. Templetney
30. Monksland 68. Kilcash
31. Kilbarrymedan 69. Garrangibbon
32. Dunhill 70. Grangemockler
33. Newcastle 71. Templemichael
34. Guilcagh 72. Newtownlennon
35. Clonegam 73. Kilmurray
36. Fenoagh 74. Carrick-on-Suir

37. Kilmoleran

1I.—Diocese of Waterford,

A. Kilmeedan S. Ballygunner

B. Lisnakill T. Kilmacleague

C. Killotteran U. Rathmoylan

D. Trinity V. Carbally

E. Kilbarry W. Killea

¥. Kilburne X. Kilsaintnicholas (in parts)
G. Kilronan Y. Kilmacomb

H. Reiske Z. Rossduff

1. Islandkeane AA. Kilcop

J. Kilbride BB. Crooke

K. Drumcannon CC. Faithlegg

M. Monamintra 1. Trinity Within

N. Kilcaragh I1. St. Patrick’s

0. Killure III. St. Stephen's

P. Killsaintlawrence IV. St. Michael's

Q. St. John’s Without V. St. Peter’s & St. Olave’s

R. Ballinakill VI. St. John's Within
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builder of the church and they descended to his heirs ; these latter
often, in the course of time, handed them over to monasteries or
convents.

Some other terms, of frequent use in works like the present, and,
perhaps, needing definition or explanation, are :—monastery, abbey,
priory, friary, commandery and cell. These and such words are
loosely, and often—improperly, used in current speech and writing.

Monastery is a generic name for a religious house though it is
now generally restricted to religious establishments of men. Convent
does not differ much in meaning from the last, though, popularly,
it is generally restricted to a religious house of women. An abbey
is a house—generally Cistercian or Benedictine—governed by an
abbot. In pre-Invasion, or old Irish, times any religious house
might be called an abbey. A priory is generally a house of Augus-
tinians (Canons Regular or/and Eremites) or of Carmelites. It is
governed by a Prior. A friary is a convent of friars—Franciscans
or Dominicans. Commanderies or preceptories are houses of the
Military Orders—Templars and Hospitallers. A cell is a small
religious house dependent upon an abbey.

Again, lay readers are often puzzled by names of the various
parts in a religious house e.g. choir, apse, cloisters, garth, chapter-
house, dorter, etc. The choir is that part of the conventual church
occupied by the community during recitation of the Divine Office.
To the choir of a cathedral or a monastic church corresponds the
chancel of an ordinary parish church. The apse is the space,
sometimes considerable, to rere of the high altar. The cdoistérs are
the paved passage, usually a hollow square, in which the com-
munity takes walking exercise in bad weather or after dark. The
hollow square around which the cloisters or ambulatory runs is the
garth, It is generally grass covered and the cloisters are lighted
from it by a series of windows or by an open arcade. The chapter-
house, or chapter room, is the chamber in which the community
assembles for reading of the Rule or for transaction of community
business. Refecfory and dorter are the dining and sleeping apart-
ments respectively. It may not be superfluous to add that the
chancel arch joined {or separated) nave and chancel in the church
and that it was round or pointed according to period. Across it—
at least in great churches—at spring of the arch, stretched the
rood-beam on which rested a great crucifix styled the rood. This
faced towards the nave.
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and Garraban.

This small and very modern division is made up of the entire
ancient parish of Clonea with the portion of Dungarvan parish
which lies beyond, or to east, of the Colligan river and a fragment
(with its church of Garranban) which, till 1862, formed part of
Kilgobinet parish. Date of its foundation as an independent parish
is not certain but probably it extends no further back than close
of the eighteenth century. Clonea is not named in the list of parishes
having pastors in 1704 ; in fact it is, perhaps, the only old parish
of the diocese so omitted.

The parochial churches, three in number, are of no architectural
pretensions. One of them (Abbeyside), which dates from 1832-4
and is a plain rectangle in plan, stands on the site of the old Augusti-
nian Priory (Eremites) of Dungarvan and embodies portion of the
ruin. Garranban and Ballinroad—both roughly cruciform—were:
built in 1807 and 1804 respectively. The parochial patrons are
St. Augustine (Abbeyside), St. Vincent de Paul (Garranban) and
St. Lawrence the Martyr (Ballinroad). Ballinroad is really the
representative proper of ancient Clonea at which, it is stated, a
‘“ pattern ”’ was formerly held, on August 10th (St. Lawrence's.
Day).

The surviving Baptismal and Marriage Registers commence
only in 1828.

SUCCESSION OF PASTORS.

Rev. William Hearn was “ Popish Priest ”’ in Abbeyside, 1790
(Catholic Qualification Rolls).

Rev. James Power appears as pastor of Abbeyside in Bishop
Hussey’s Clergy list of 1801.

Rev. William Roche was Parish Priest in 1801 ; he was trans-
lated to Aglish about 1808.

Rev. Michael Keating ; he died 1820.

Rev. James O’Brien; translated to Knockanore in 1828.

Rev. Patrick O’Donnell translated to Ballylooby in 1830 or

following year,
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Rev. John Shanahan, after a pastorate of twenty-two years,
died in January, 1863, aged 71. He built the present church of Abbey-
side, 1832-4.

Rev. Thomas O’'Meara ; appointed in February, 1863 ; trans-
lated to Newcastle in 1860.

Rev. Maurice O'Gorman; died in 1861. Judging from the
frequency of his signature, as owner, on the title page of old books
Father O’Gorman must have been a man of literary tastes.

Rev. Michael O'Donnell ; died February, 1868. He was nephew
to his predecessor; a brother of his died Parish Priest of St.
Lawrence O’Toole’s, Dublin, and another brother was Parish
Priest of Dalkey.

Rev. Michael Maxey succeeded Father O'Donnell in 1868 ; he
died, May, 1878,

Rev. Thomas Hannigan, appointed May, 1878 ; translated to
Powerstown, December, 1881,

Rev. Richard Dunphy, appointed 1881; translated to Tour-
aneena, 1892,

Rev. Pierce Coffey, appointed March, 1892 ; transferred to
Tramore, 1895.

Rev. John Power, appointed 1895 ; transferred to Carrick-on-
Suir, 1898.

Rev. William Queally, appointed in 1898 ; resigned after a
pastorate of six months; he had not been canonically collated.

Rev. Patrick Walsh, appointed 1898 ; translated to Ardmore,
1900,

Rev. Patrick Byrne, 1900-1924,

Rev. William Walsh, translated to Ballybricken, 1928.

Rev. Michael Crotty ; he was translated to Cahir, 1933.

Rev. Nicholas Dunphy, 1933.

ECCLESIASTICAL ANTIQUITIES, ETC.

In Abbeyside are the ruins of a Priory of Augustinian Hermits,
whence the place derives its name. The remains comprise the
low square tower of the monastic church, with side walls and east
gable of the choir. The tower is incorporated with the modern
parish church to which its elaborate stone-ribbed basement vaulting
serves as entrance porch. Adjacent to the monastic ruin is a large,
ruined castle which belonged to the Magraths. The Priory was
founded in 1295 by ancestors of the Earls of Desmond ; it was
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further patronised by the Magraths and by the O’Briens of Com-
meragh. The house, which was of no great size or importance,
was suppressed under Henry VIII, and, later on, its property was
given to Sir William Taaffe. Though formally suppressed the
community managed to keep up some sort of succession in Dun-
garvan. Bishop John Brenan testifies to the existence there of a
small community at various dates in the second half of the 17th
century and a Parliamentary Return for 1731 notes an Augustinian
Friary in Dungarvan.There are some grounds for belief that, during
the penal era, Augustinians (presumably of the Abbeyside-Dun-
garvan community) ministered, from time to time, as pastors in
some of the neighbouring parishes.

The ruined church of Clonea, standing within its ancient
cemetery, preserves, in its round-headed and wide-splaying south
window a pre-Invasion, or old Irish, feature. The church con-
sisted of nave and chancel communicating by a pointed chancel
arch 10 feet 3incheshighby 6 feet 9inches wide. Alltrace of the
chancel, which was evidently a later addition, has disappeared, but
the nave is in a good preservation—35 feet long by 21 feet wide,
with walls about 11 feet in height and 3 feet thick. The most
notable single feature of the ruin is the round-headed window just
alluded to; this is 22 inches by 9inches externally and splays to 6 feet
6 inches by 3 feet 4 inches within. Two styles of masonry are
distinguishable in the building—a semi-cyclopean below and regular
coursed rubble above. In the whole county of Waterford only
about half a dozen examples of pre-Invasion church architecture
survive—a fact which invests our present ruin with a special interest
and importance.

Within the parish are three old cemeteries—Abbeyside (attached
to the parish church), Clonea and Kilminnin (*“ My Finnian’s
Church ) ; there are also sites of early (Celtic) churches at
Kilgrovan (with ogham inscriptions), Kilineen (‘‘ Loinin’s, or
Finian’s, Church”) and Knockyoolahan. On the townland of
Gurteen is a remarkable Holy Well, marked ‘‘ St. Gehan’s Well ”
on the Ordnance Map. This ordnance form is very misleading ;
the name is really tobap Via~ndome, t.e. “Friday Well”; out of
014 ndome the Survey authorities managed to manufacture * St.
Gehan.” The well is situated at bottom of the lawn adjoining
Glendine House ; it was formerly in high repute locally and, even
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still, “rounds " are sometimes made, especially on Fridays; it
consists of two circular basins some ten feet apart. The more
easterly basin is accounted the original and ‘‘ real "’ well.

The parish, though small in population and extent, has pro-
duced some distinguished sons, ¢.g., the late Bishop Patrick O’Connor
of Armidale and his uncle the well-known Irish scholar, Rev.
Patrick Meany, who died Parish Priest of Clogheen in 1889. There
was also a Rev. John Meany, uncle to the last named and grand-
uncle of Bishop O’Connor, who was a notable Irish preacher and
writer. His sermons (surviving in MS.) are regarded as models of
Irish prose,



Parish of Aglish and Ballinameela.

The parish popularly named as above is more properly—Aglish,
Whitechurch, and Kilmolash. As at present constituted it includes
likewise particles of Affane and Ardmore. We find Aglish and
Whitechurch united—probably with the additions of Kilmolash
and part of Ardmore as at present-—as early as the beginning of the
18th century (1704) when Terence Sheehy, residing at Ballingown
and aged 54 years, was Parish Priest. The parish of Clashmore
was, at the same period, under Father Sheehy’s pastoral charge.
The present division is one of the three or four most extensive
parishes of the diocese; it has three churches—Aglish, Ballina-
meela, and Mount Stuart. Mount Stuart, or Toor, is, however, only
a chapel-of-ease, erected shortly after 1826 by Lord Stuart of Decies
for the accommodation of his mountain tenantry.

In 1826 took place the famous Stuart’s Election which resulted
in the return to Parliament, from Co. Waterford, of an advocate
of Catholic Emancipation in the person of Henry Villiers Stuart
of Dromana. The election was fought with heroic determination
by bishop and priests, and (especially) by the poor Catholic people
against all the despotic power and influence and all the resources of
the house of Beresford. The priests and people won and Catholic
Emancipation followed but the cost to CountyWaterford was terrible.
Hundreds were evicted and saw their cabins levelled in the name
of Law for exercising the right which that law gave them—to vote
according to their consciences. Mr. Stuart, a Protestant, subse-
quent to his victory married a Catholic lady and, upon succession
to his father's title as Lord Stuart of Decies, had Mass celebrated
every Sunday and holyday in his mansion at Dromana, paying a
stipend of £50 per annum to the clergy of Aglish for their services.
This arrangement continued long after the deaths of Lord and Lady
Stuart—in fact till 1892, when the Parish Priest, with approbation
of the Bishop, withdrew from it in order that a second Mass might
be said on alternate Sundays in Aglish and Ballinameela. Among
the evidence offered in the Stuart (Dromana) Peerage case was a
letter (1847) from Bishop Foran authorising Rev. Mr, Lonergan,
O.S8.F. to “ duplicate” ¢.e. say a second Mass,-on Sundays—at
Dromana,
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The word Aglish, incorporated in so many Irish place-names,
signifies ** Church.” Our present Aglish is styled in ancient docu-
ments €aglair na nSatlf.e. Aglish of the Foreigners, probably to
distinguish it from another Aglish some six or seven miles distant—
to the west. It is also sometimes called in present-day popular
usage, eaglaif na n'Oéireac f.e. Aglish of the Decies. Ballinameela,
the name of the second parochial church, is of non-ecclesiastical
origin. The more correct but less-used name is Temple Geal or
Whitechurch, possibly derived from the church’s distinguishing
coat of whitewash. Unfortunately the titulars of both Aglish and
Ballinameela are unknown, though there is a fairly prevalent notion
in the locality that the patron of Ballinameela was one of the Saints.
James.

The existing church of Aglish was built in 1856 by Rev. John
O’Meara, then Parish Priest. It was erected to take the place of
a much smaller church building or chapel on the same site. The
modern structure is plain and commodious and capable of seating
about eight hundred people. It is most likely that its surrounding
graveyard has been used for parochial interments ever since erection
of the original chapel on the site. There are not, however, any
inscriptions of particular interest nor are there tombstones to
commemorate the good priests who formerly laboured in the parish.
It is to be feared that during building of the present edifice any
gravestones that came in the workmen’s way were treated with
but scant respect. Even the slab which points out Father Roche’s
grave is half covered by the sanctuary railing and grave flags bearing
inscriptions, which are now illegible, have been set down at the
entrance door to serve as threshold stones, A few perches from
the church—to the south-west, stands, in its ancient cemetery, the
ruin of pre-Reformation Aglish. Just without the latter cemetery
of Aglish at its north-east angle stood the Penal Days chapel of the
parish ; there is nothing now—not even, it is to be feared, a
popular tradition—to indicate the site.

The present church of Ballinameela, commenced, but left
unfinished, by Father Roche about the middle of the last century,
stands where, before it, stood a small thatched chapel. It is a
serviceable cruciform structure capable of seating about eight
hundred people, and, although nearly a century old, it shows little
sign of decay. One of the chalices bears the following inscription :—
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““ Donum Edmi Cashman paroc. albi templi. Orate pro io (sic)
1749.” 1In the attached graveyard is a tombstone :—'* Sacred to
the memory of the Revd. Martin Phelan, R.C.C.. He resigned
his soul into the hands of his Maker on the 4th of July, A.D., 1829,
in the 34th year of his age.” From reference to the Baptismal
Register, it appears, Father Phelan was curate of the parish, of
which also he was a native.

At Curraheen about half a mile from the village of Aglish is,
or rather was till recently, a Franciscan Convent. The Franciscans
first sought refuge here on their flight from Youghal in the time of
Cromwell or a few years later, when, owing to Puritan domination,
their former residence could not be kept up. From Bishop Brenan’s
teports, Parliamentary returns and other sources we learn that a
Franciscan succession was maintained at Curraheen till well into
the third quarter of last century. Possibly the migration from
Youghal took place in the time of Father Bonaventure Cody (other-
wise Archdekin). There is preserved in the Franciscan Friary of
Cork a small silver chalice bearing Father Archdekin’s name and an
inscription to the effect that it was made by him for the Convent
of Friars Minors of Youghal. This chalice was taken possession
of by Rev. Dr. Hally, V.G., on the death of Father Lonergan in
1862 and presented by him to the Presentation Convent of Youghal
‘which stands on site of the ancient Franciscan House. No doubt
Dr. Hally concluded that ‘“ Convent of Youghal ” signified the
original Franciscan Church and Priory of Youghal; the terms
actually mean the community then resident at Curraheen. There was
usually in later times only one friar in residence at Curraheen but,
occasionally, there were two. In a return made in 1801 by Bishop
Hussey to Lord Castlereagh it is stated there was a house of Fran-
ciscans with two subjects at Curraheen. The little friary oratory
was open to the public on Sunday for Mass. The last friar was the
Rev. P. D. Lonergan , who died in 1862, and was buried in the old
graveyard of Aglish. Twenty years ago many of the older people
remembered him ; some of them attended his funeral, and even
served Mass for him. It was he who built the present *“‘Friary,”
surrendered by the Superiors of the Order after his death. The
conferences of the Dungarvan Deanery were held here for a long
period ; as, however, the house was very small the meeting was, in
fine weather, held out of doors—within the circuit of a sheltered
lios. ‘A recumbent and inscribed flagstone in Aglish old graveyard
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marks the last resting place of the fraternity and commemorates
some of the members :—

‘“ Anno Domini 1766
me fieri fecit f. Bath. Archdekin.
Jesus, Maria S. Francis
Here lieth ye body of ye Rev. Father
McCarthy a Franciscan who died ye 22
September
Requiescat in pace. Amen.

Also the Body of the Rev. Bnt. Cody
who died May 10 1739 Aged 84 years.”

As Father Cody’s name does not appear in the 1704 list of
registered clergy we may assume that its bearer braved the Penal
Laws as an unregistered regular; we may also, perhaps, infer that
he was uncle or near kinsman of the filial erector of the monument,
for Archdekin and Cody are the same name. From the Parlia-
mentary returns of 1766 it appears that the friars then in Curraheen
were David Farrell and Bartholomew Cody.

Since 1841 the Catholic population of the parish has decreased
by more than fifty per cent. In 1834 there were 7,001 souls and
in 1890 but 3,012; no doubt there has been further reduction
during the last half century. The Parochial Registers extend
back—baptisms to 1808 and marriages to 1837.

SUCCESSION OF PASTORS.

Rev. Terence Sheehy, as we have seen, was Parish Priest in
1704.

The next pastor of whom we have any account is Rev.
William Ryan whose will was proved in 1747. He is styled “ of
Whitechurch ”’ and ‘* Popish Priest.”

Next there is mention of a Rev. John Fraher whose will was
proved in 1766 ; then come in succession Rev. Dr. James White,
Rev. Edward Fitzgerald, and Rev. Willilam Moran. Edmond
Fitzgerald, P.P., Whitechurch, took the Test Oath in 1775, as
James White had done in 1766. Father Moran was alive in 1801,
when he had Rev. Robert Prendergast as curate.

Rev. William Roche, who resided at Coolahest, was Parish
Priest in 1808 and died in 1840. A monumental slab marks his
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last resting place within the present church of Aglish. It was in
Father Roche’s pastorate that Ballinameela church was built ;
among the subscribers to the building fund were the Duke of
Devonshire, £25, John Odell £5, and Rev. Francis M. Newport £5.
During the term of his pastorate he had in succession the following
curates or quasi-curates : Revs. Michael O’Brien, D. Morrissey,
J. Hickey, J. Brown, P. Ronayne, J. Walsh, James O’Brien, P.
O'Kearney, Michael O’Keeffe, Patrick De Courcey, John Walsh,
Thomas Boyle, O.S.F.; M. Phelan, D. Quinlan, Michael Larkin,
‘W. Wall, J. Curran, Thomas Burke, R. Murphy, Michael Clancy,
and Michael O’Connor. Father Lonergan, 0.S.F., also occasionally
performed parochial duties.

Rev. John O’Meara became Parish Priest in 1840. He had
been curate successively in Tallow and in St. John’s, Waterford.
During his curacy of St. John’s he had taken an active part in
** Stuart’s Election,” 1826. He built the present church of Aglish
in 1856 and died September 7th, 1870. Father O’Meara was a man
of more than average intellect and strength of character; he was
above all a zealous and devoted pastor. During the thirty years
of his pastorate he had as assistants for periods varying from one
year to ten :—Revs. D. Quinlan, Michael Power (he was half brother
to Bishop Pierse Power), John Lenihan, Patrick Walsh (he died
curate in Ardmore), David Morrissey, J. Hickey (who retired and
became a beneficiary of the diocesan Benevolent Fund), P. Wallace,
G. Power, John Shanahan (he died Parish Priest of Ardmore), and
P. Treacy.

Upon Rev. J. O'Meara’s death in 1870, Rev. Garrett Long was
translated from the pastorate of Clashmore to Aglish. Father
Long, a very excellent priest and like his predecessor a man of
much force of character, survived till 1890.

Rev. Wm. Sheehy succeeded, but four years later, he was
transferred to Dungarvan. From 1870 to 1894 the following curates
were for varying periods attached to the parish : Rev. Thomas
Walsh (who became later Parish Priest of Knockanore), Matthew
Walsh (died, Parish Priest of Aglish), Pierce Coffey (later, Parish
Priest of Abbeyside and, later still, of Tramore), Pierce Walsh
(died Parish Priest of Kilgobinet), Michael Casey (died Parish Priest
of Killrossenty), Patrick Lonergan (died Parish Priest of Knock-
.anore), James Cremens, etc.
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On Rev. Wm. Sheehy’s translation to Dungarvan in 1894,
Rev. Matthew Walsh succeeded. Unfortunately (for he was a very
earnest missionary, a good catechist, and an excellent preacher in
Irish) his reign was very short ; he died in 1899.

Rev. Tobias Burke, translated from the pastorate of Kilgobinet,
came next in succession. During Father Burke’s incumbency new
clergy houses for the two curates were erected at Aglish and Ballina-
meela respectively.

Rev. Daniel Walsh, 1917-20, who was appointed at the end of
1917 and Rev. John Gleeson, 1920.

ECCLESIASTICAL ANTIQUITIES, ETC.

The ancient ruined church of Aglish, close to the village, is
specially interesting ; interest mainly centres around the beautiful
early east window which is practically uninjured, and Celtic, or
pre-Invasion in character. The window is broken up by a regular
gritstone mullion into two round-headed opes. A large graveyard,
still extensively used, surrounds the ruined church. Within the
latter, and scattered through the cemetery, are a few monuments
and inscriptions worth examination. Foremost amongst the former
is the upper portion— that is, the arms, head, and part of the shaft—
of a small ancient stone cross ; this will be found within the ruin,
while close to it is an octagonal holy water stoup of sandstone. In
the graveyard stand three diminutive headstones curiously inscribed
with a series of peculiar geometrical figures. There are two similarly
inscribed stones in the old cemetery of Grange, near Ardmore.
The writer has seen these inscriptions claimed as ogham and he has
heard a noted Irish philologist suggest that they are some form of
oriental script. He himself however is presumptuous enough to
maintain that they are nothing more than the results of rude
attempts at ornamentation—the handiwork of some local stone-
cutter or stonemason, of probably, the late 18th century.

Of Templegeal Pre-Reformation Church not a stone upon a
stone survives ; its place has been usurped by a modern Protestant
Meeting House.

Among the ecclesiastical antiquities must be included three
Holy Wells, viz. :—at Ballykennedy (Dromore), Curraghroche, and
‘Woodhouse respectively. Of these the Curraghroche well, known
as St. Columbcille’s, is the best known ; it is still occasionally
resorted to. Fifty years ago its fame attracted multitudes.
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The well in Woodhouse, known popularly as Tobsp Cmin 'Var0,.
is of remarkable size, depth and volume of water. The name
suggests that an effigy of St. David may have stood there,

The ruined church of Kilmolash stands on the bank of the
Finisk river. The patron here is not Molaise of Devenish but a less
known individual of like name (Molaise *“ of Cill Molaise in Deisi—
Mumbhan "’} whom the Martyrology of Donegal commemorates under
January 17th. This ruin is also of more than ordinary interest
as it illustrates several architectural styles and periods.

In addition to the church ruins enumerated there are early
church sites and traces ({rather than remains) at Ballingowan, Canty,
Keereen, Kilcloher, Kilmogibog, Kiltire, Moneyvroe, and Shanakill.
Kilcloher was the site of a religious establishment or cell alluded
to in the Life of St. Carthage. Here the Saint tarried some time
on his way to Lismore. At Kiltire (* Tiré’s Church "), within
the circular church-enclosure, stands an ogham inscribed pillar stone.

In Bewley, quite close to the parish boundary, are the very
scant remains of a supposed house of the Knights Templar.
Neither Ware nor Archdall, Allemand nor De Burgo makes any
mention of Bewley. Its name is generally regarded as Norman-
French—2Beawu Liew or * fair place,” but it is certainly Irish—from
Dest (@ “mouth” or “opening ”’), as local pronunciation of Irish
speakers will prove. There are practically no materials for the
history of this house and the architectural data are almost as un-
satisfactory or non-existant as the historical. On the whqle it
appears most likely that the place was only an outfarm of * grange "’
type dependent on some Templar or Hospitaller house. A single
gable, probably the east end of the church, is practically all that
survives ; this is pierced by an ivy covered ope. Half buried in
a mound, formed of debris from the fallen building, is a stone basin
or bullan. i

At Knockmoan, near the castle of that name, but at the
opposite side of the road, are the remains of a comparatively
late church which appears to have been domestic and would,
most probably, have been connected with the castle.

In a rare version of the ‘“ Maidrin Ruadh,” published in an
early number of “ The Gaelic Journal "’ and contributed by Thomas
Devine, a native of Aglish, there are many local references. The
song itself has been regarded, and with some show of reason, as
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really a politico-religious ballad in the spirit of * Dark Rosaleen.”
By the fox the poet symbolises the priest-hunting gentry of Aglish,
or rather one of their number, and by the harassed geese the poor
Catholics of the parish with their guardian pastor at their head.
The pastor in question has carefully tended his winged flock, and
fed them on milk and grain (the Sacraments and Gospel teachings).
Oh for the hounds (the aid from Spain) to chase the marauder far
from the homes of Aglish !

A distinguished native of the parish was Catherine, “ The Old
Countess of Desmond,” alluded to by Sir Walter Raleigh to whom
she was personally known. She was born at Dromana in 1464, and
was daughter of Sir John Fitzgerald, Lord of Decies, and wife of the
Sir Thomas Fitzgerald who, at the age of 76, became 12th Earl of
Desmond in 1529. Thomas died the following year and was suc-
ceeded by the ill-fated “ Great” Earl. Having endured much
hardship and extreme vicissitudes of fortune, Lady Catherine died
in 1604 at the marvellous age of 140 years. The common story of
her death through a fall from a tree and her alleged walk to London
are picturesque—though more or less evident— fabrications (Vide
** The Old Countess of Desmond ” by Richard Sainthill, Proceedings
R.ILA. Apr., 1861)



Parish of Ardfinnan, Grange and
Ballybacon.

This modern ecclesiastical division really embraces six ancient
parishes scil :—Ardfinnan, Ballybacon, Derrygrath, Neddins, Roches-
town, and Tullaghmelan. Of these, two—Neddins and Roches-
town—are each in two parts, separated by the River Suir. With
the exception of Ardfinnan the names of all appear to be non-
ecclesiastical. Ardfinnan derives its name from St. Finian—the
Leper, who, it is claimed, founded a church here in the Tth century.
No traces of this early church survive but its former site is indicated
by the present Protestant Church and graveyard on the hilltop at
east side of the river. A series of grass-grown mounds in the im-
mediate neighbourhood may be of early monastic association.
The church of Ardfinnan was impropriate in the Hospital of Kil-
mainham to which also belonged the churches of Mortlestown,
Kilmaloge and Rathronan in the same deanery. Up to the
Reformation Ardfinnan was itself the head of the deanery.

The present church of Ardfinnan was erected in 1838 on a part
of the commonage appropriated for the purpose and the first Mass
in the new church was said on January 6th, 1839; the foundation stone
had been laid by Mr. Francis Mulcahy of Neddins. The building was
intended as a chapel-of-ease for residents of Ardfinnan village and
neighbourhood. As befits its makeshift and hasty erection the
church—quadrangular in plan—is rather a poor structure. The
ancient (post-Invasion) parish of Ardfinnan was dedicated to the
Blessed Virgin.

Ballybacon church is only a few years older than Ardfinnan.
1t replaced a thatched chapel of the 18th century which occupied
the same site, and was allowed to stand till the shell of the present
fabric was completed around and over it, in 1830. The present is
a very serviceable building—of a type characteristic of the Eman-
cipation period—plain, substantial, roomy, and easily cleaned.
Forty perches or so from the modern church, and at the opposite
side of the road, are the remains of the pre-Reformation parish
church, early English in character. The name Ballybacon is of
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purely secular origin, scil. :(—Daite Ui Pescam (O’Peakin’s, or
O’'Beakin’s, Homestead) but is not shared by the parish with any
townland.

Emancipation and the hope of it gave an immense impetus to
church building in the first half of the 19th century. Rev. Pierse
Walsh had only just completed the fine church of Grange in 1829
when he set about building a corresponding church at Ballybacon.
Grange church, like Ballybacon, was erected on site of, and over
and outside, its thatched predecessor which was minus a sacristy.
The church of Grange serves the two ancient parishes of Tullagh-
‘melan and Derrygrath, in each of which is an interesting pre-Refor-
mation church ruin and an ancient cemetery.

As showing the mutual happy relations which, even in the tithe
years, could, and sometimes did, exist between the Protestant
incumbent and his Catholic neighbours the following is of interest.
During the spring of 1837 the Catholic farmers of Ardfinnan sowed
six acres of wheat for Rev. Mr. Kettlewell ; this was to mark the
Catholics’ gratitude for the clergyman’s humanity in the matter
of tithe collection.

The Parochial Registers go back to 1814 (Marriage) and 1808
{Baptismal).

SUCCESSION OF PASTORS.

Rev. Nicholas Mulcahy was Parish Priest of Ardfinnan in the
mid 17th century and was hanged by Cromwell from a tree in front
of the priest’s door (Murphy, “ Cromwell in Ireland ).

At the beginning of the 18th century we find our present
Ardfinnan divided into—or rather, between—three distinct parishes
(“A List . . . . of the Popish Parish Priests, 1705.”) William
Hurru (Hearn), residing at Ardfinnan, was rtegistered as Parish
Priest of “Ardfinane, Ballypekane and Neddane” while Denis
Fogarty, who resided at Knockagh, was pastor of ‘ Cahir,
Deregrath, Rochestown and Mortlestown.”” At the same time
Garrett Prendergast, residing at Garranvilla, was Parish Prest of
Tullaghmelan (See under Cahir Priest, ¢nfra).

Rev. John Doyle, D.D., was Parish Priest in 1762 and that year,
on June 16th, he, together with Rev. Nicholas Sheehy, was presented
by the Grand Jury of Clonmel as an unregistered priest. ~ Musgrave
{** Irish Rebellions ") records that in 1762 Father Doyle called on
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the Marquis of Drogheda, then commanding a body of military at
Clogheen, and besought him not to march out against the rebels
(Whiteboys, etc.). The Marquis’s regiment killed great numbers
of the country people and took Lord Cahir’s chaplain a prisoner.
‘Sleator’s Public Gazetteer ” of May 8th, 1762 announces that “ one
Doyle of Ardfinnan and one Sheehy of Clogheen, two popish priests
guilty in the same traitorousscheme are fled from justice.” Guilt,
before, or without, trial, is assumed. The same journal under date,
May 24th, informs its readers that John Doyle, Parish Priest of
Ardfinnan was conducted to Clonmel by a party of Sir- James
Caldwell’s Light Horse and committed to the gaol of that town by
John Bagwell, Esq., “for being concerned in the Whiteboys.”
Father Doyle escaped the fate of Father Sheehy; he died in his
bed May 27th, 1773, and lies buried in Ardfinnan old graveyard where
an inscribed tombstone marks his grave.

Rev. Thomas Burke succeeded ; he died November 8th, 1794,
aged 57 years. Hehad taken the test oath nineteen years previously.
An inscribed tombstone indicates his last resting place in Ballybacon
old cemetery.

The succession here becomes somewhat obscure ; also it appears
anomalous. Rev. David Farrell is supposed to have succeeded
Father Burke as pastor but it is more likely that Father Farrell
was merely administrator and that the real or canonical Parish
Priest was Rev. Thomas Flannery who himself acted as
administrator of the Bishop’s Parish, Clonmel. In what year
Father Flannery actually succeeded to Clonmel does not appear ;
it was probably in 1810, on the death of Dean Hearn. At that date
too, most probably, Father Farrell succeeded to Ardfinnan; he
died in February, 1816 and was buried at Tubrid. Tubrid was, at
this time, and had been for a century and more, a favourite burial
place of the local clergy. Our Father Farrell was probably a brother
to Rev. Edmund Farrell who died in 1787 and to whose memory
there is an inscribed headstone in Tubrid. Probably, again, both
were brothers of the Mr. James Farrell who was hanged at Clogheen
in 1766—paying with his life for his temerity in giving evidence on
behalf of Rev. Nicholas Sheehy.

Rev. Pierce Walsh, a native of the parish, succeeded ; he was
translated hither from Ardmore and, during his term of office, as
we have seen, he built the present churches of Ballybacon and Grange.
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In his time likewise was erected the present church of Ardfinnan.
The last named building is said to have been erected in his time
tather than by him for the fact seems to be that the parishioners
of Ardfinnan, who felt themselves aggrieved by the long Sunday
walk to Grange or to Ballybacon, built the church on their own
initiative and, it appears, without the consent, or with but the
minimum assent, of the Parish Priest. Rev. Pierce Walsh died
December 21st, 1844, aged 74 years, and was buried in Ballybacon
church where a mural tablet marks his grave.

Rev. James O’Connor came next in succession. His pastorate
lasted nine years. He died in Carrick-on-Suir towards close of
1851 and was buried in Grange but there is no monument to his
memory.

Rev. Michael Burke was the next pastor. He died comparatively
young (at the age of 52) on February 25th, 1857 and was laid to rest
within Ballybacon Church where there is a mural tablet to his
memory. :

Rev. Walter Cantwell, whose name and memory are still treasured
throughout the parish, succeeded. He came to Ardfinnan from
Tramore where, for many years—probably since his ordination,
twenty-nine years previously—he had been curate to his uncle.
The parishioners of Tramore and Corbally made him a presentation
of £122, on his departure. His long pastorate of twenty-six years
‘was signalised by uncommon zeal. His solid preaching and edifying
life are still producing fruit in the vineyard that once he tilled. He
died March 19th, 1883, and was laid to rest in Grange church where
his grave is indicated by a mural tablet.

Rev. Cornelius J. Flavin became Parish Priest in 1883, the year
of his predecessor’s death, and, after eight years’ vigorous work,
was transferred (in 1891) to St. Mary’s Clonmel.

To Father Flavin immediately succeeded Rev. William J.
Phelan who had been a chaplain in Waterford from his ordination to
1891. He died suddenly at a clerical conference in Clonmel, October
22nd, 1902. During Father Phelan’s pastorate were built two semi-
detached residences for the curates, in Ardfinnan village.

Father Phelan’s place was filled, by the appointment thereto
in November, 1902, of Rev. William Sheehy, D.D., President of

St. John’s College, Waterford. Rev. Dr. Sheehy was transferred
to Carrick-on-Suir in 1916,
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Rev. Michael F. Walshe succeeded and held office till his death
in 1935.

Rev, John McCarthy, 1935.

ECCLESIASTICAL ANTIQUITIES, ETC.

Foremost amongst the ancient church remains of the parish
is Lady Abbey (Carmelite), within a mile of Ardfinnan village.
There is no reference to this house in Archdall or Alemand, but see-.
Report on Carmelites in Ireland (Spicileg. Ossoriense, vol, 1, p. 295).
The Heads and Commoners of Clonmel, in a presentment of the
year 1537, found that the Prior of this house wasliving in flagrant,
continued and open immorality and that there was no Divine Service,
though the office was endowed to the extent of a plowland. The
existing remains are practically confined to the monastic church.
This latter is 95 feet long internally by 22 feet wide and is divided
into pave and choir with a square tower over the chancel arch.
The decorated two-light east window seems to postulate for the
foundation—at any rate for erection of the church—a fourteenth,
or early fifteenth, century date. On south side of the churchisthe
Lady Chapel, clearly a later addition. There are no vestiges of
cloisters or domestic buildings but the choir has two entrance doors—
onein either side wall.  There is also a main entrance (to the nave}
at the south west angle of the building. The precincts of the church
on the south side, have been turned into a small, comparatively
modern, graveyard.

There are pre-Reformation parish church ruins-at Ballybacon,
Derrygrath, Tullaghmelan, Neddins and Rochestown. In con-
nexion with Rochestown and Neddins it is to be noted that both
parishes were bisected by the Suir; the two parts of Neddins
maintained however a quasi-connexion by a river ford, while Roches-
town was furnished with a second church—in the transfluminal
portion of the parish. The western portion aforesaid was at some
subsequent period cut off and added to Tubrid, for we find it under
the latter head in the Down Survey, or, at any rate, in the Ordnance
Survey.

Of Ballybacon old church (52 feet by 24 feet 6 inches
internally) only the south side wall has fallen; both gables as
well as the surviving side wall are densely covered with ivy. The
church had a great (12 feet high) east window of one light only.
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Lying within the church ruin is a square (2 feet) Baptismal font
with decorative carving on the sides. A large cemetery, still in
use, surrounds the church. Twllamelan church ruin (60 feet by
32 feet), within a nearly circular cemetery, has immensely thick
walls (4 feet). Though both side walls and the west gable stand
no architectural features survive except the pointed doorways at
opposite sides. All windows, etc., are hopelessly mutilated. As
at Tullamelan so at Neddins—the side walls and west gable of the
old church still stand but the east gable is mostly restoration.
Interior measurements are 50 feet 10 inches by 25 feet 6 inches.
There are two flat-arched doorways at opposite sides and there
was a western gallery. Rochestown church was small {45 feet 6
inches by 22 feet 6 inches) and, like the three last, choirless. No
architectural feature beyond a wide ogee-headed east window
(5 feec by 6 feet) survives. Set in the east gable, but now
quite obscured by ivy, is one of those strange sculptures known
as Sheela-na-Gigs. The present effigy, by the way, was the first
figure of its type to be discovered in Ireland and it has the
honour of giving a name to this class of object. Derrygrath ruin
indicates a church on a fairly ambitious scale. Here the church
consisted of nave and chancel and there still stands a good pointed
choir arch (9 feet wide by 10 feet high) in chamfered sandstone.
On either side of the altar were opes to light the chancel. The nave
had two doors. One lancet ope, splaying widely, lighted the
nave from the west. The total internal length is slightly under
60 feet with a width of 22 feet 6 inches in the nave and 15 feet
in the chancel. Within the nave stands the tombstone of
Rev. Maurice Looby of Nicholastown, who died in 1764.

Besides the ruined churches enumerated there are many early
church sites throughout the parish, scil. : at Ardfinnan, Ballindoney,
Kilmalogue (C. Mo Luag), Killaidamee (C. &1rroe Mrve), Killbally-
gorman, Kildanoge (C. Domnéig), Kilamaneen (C. Mo fmgm),
Lodge (C. na vfpaocén), and Kilmurry and this list does not
profess to be complete.

Among the noted places in the parish is Lodge, where lived, in
the house still standing, Edmund Sheehy known locally as Buck
Sheehy, who was legally murdered in 1766 for daring to appear as a
witness on behalf of his cousin, Rev. Nicholas Sheehy. Edmund
Sheehy was grandfather on his mother’s side to the gorgeous Countess
of Blessington (See under Newcastle infra). At Clocully was held,
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in 1677 under Archbishop Brenan, the diocesan Synod commonly
but erroneously, credited to Curraghkiely, Co. Waterford. Clocully,
where there are remains of a small castle, was a general meeting
place of the clergy at this period as appears from sworn depositions
in connexion with the Titus Oates plot.

Through the whole length of this parish, for some twelve miles,
runs the legendary Rian Bo Phadraig or Track of St. Patrick’s
Cow, an ancient roadway connecting Cashel with Lismore and the
latter with Ardmore. (See Journal of the Royal Society of Anti-
guaries, vol. xv, fifth series, p. 110; see also under Cappoquin
par. antea.).

Amongst the altar plate of the parish is a small hexagonal-
based chalice inscribed :—** Gulielmus McCarty de Clocully Medicus
et uxor Anastatia me fieri fecerunt. Anno Domini, 1717.” In
possession of Mr. John S. Mulcahy, Neddins, is a second ancient
chalice inscribed :—** Pray for the soul of Nicholas Blakefite Peters,
who died 19th of June, 1686.”

Distinguished ecclesiastics, natives of the Parish, include the
late Most Rev. Archbishop Prendergast of Philadelphia, and Rev.
John O’Brien of Mount St. Mary’s College, Maryland, author of
a well-known ‘‘ History of the Mass "’ (ob. 1879).
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Parish of Ardmore and Grange.

Ecclesiastically the district embraced within this parish is
one of the most historic localities in Ireland. Here, according to
his ancient * Life,”” St. Declan established himself as bishop some
years previous to the coming of St. Patrick. The question of St.
Declan’s exact period is one of the problems of early Irish church
history ; into the question it is not our business now to enter.
Most probably it will be found, when the materials have been more
critically examined and their evidence sifted, that Declan’s mission
was more or less independent of Patrick’s and of Welsh origin or
inspiration. Whether Declan was really predecessor, contemporary,
or successor of the National Apostle his period was undoubtedly
very early. His Irish ** Life "’ preserved in a MS. of Michael O’Clery’s
in the Royal Library, Brussels, attributes to Declan the conversion
-of Decies. On the other hand there is no evidence that St. Patrick
ever preached within the latter territory. The annals throw
but little light on the succession of bishops at Ardmore. Ultan is
commonly stated to have succeeded Declan. One Eugene is
generally referred to as Bishop of Ardmore in 1174, under which
date he is alleged to have been a subscribing witness to a charter
granted to the Abbey of Cork. Finally Moelettrim O Duibhe-
Rathra, Bishop of Ardmore, is recorded in the Annals of Inisfallen
to have died in 1203. Itis to this Bishop Moelettrim that we owe
restoration of the cathedral now in ruin and, possibly, erection
of the ruined church known as Disert-Declan. St. Declan’s
Oratory, in the graveyard of Ardmore, certainly ante-dates by
centuries the two buildings referred to, and even the Round Tower,
though one of the very latest specimens of its class, is probably
older than the cathedral. The Feast of St. Declan is still celebrated
with much solemnity at Ardmore on July 24th. At the request of
Most Rev. Dr. Sheehan and at the instigation of a late Parish Priest,
Rev. John Walsh, the Holy See has attached a Plenary Indulgence
on the usual conditions to church and feast. There is an immense
influx of pilgrims on the feast day and on the Sunday nearest to
the 24th. In 1847 it is estimated the number present was fourteen
thousand, and in 1894 it had fallen to five thousand. Of late years
there has been a revival of the celebration,
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The present churches of the parish were erected by Rev. Patrick
McGrath during his pastorate, scil., Ardmore in 1837 and Grange
in 1839. Both buildings are of the plain, spacious, and substantial
type, characteristic of the second quarter of last century.

Up to the year 1847 Ballymacart, or Old Parish, was united
with Ardmore and Grange, but in the year named a re-arrangement
was effected, Old Parish being cut off and attached to Ring. Before
the division the population of the whole parish was eight thousand.
At present it is about two thousand ; in 1892 it stood at two thousand
two hundred and twenty.

The Parochial Registers begin—Baptisms, 1816, and Marriages,
1827.

SUCCESSION OF PASTORS.

Popular tradition refers to a local potentate, remembered only
as Skinner Dubh, who smothered a priest and his hearers in a cave
at Ardmore, cir., 1672.

Rev. Richard Power, residing at Russinns (Rusheens), was
registered Parish Priest of ““ Ardmore, Lisguenane, and Kinsale-
begg ” in 1704. He was then aged 56 years and had been ordained
in Spain.

Rev. Patrick Fitzgerald seems to have been pastor in 1747.
His chalice is preserved in Old Parish.

Rev. Philip O’Hahassey was (on authority of an Irish MS.}
Parish Priest in 1765.

The next pastor of whom we have account is Rev. Walter
Mullowney, whose will is dated 1773. He resided at a farmhouse
in Ballyillinan.

In the poems of Donnchadh Ruadh MacNamara is reference
to a Father Thomas Griffin, Parish Priest of Ardmore. His period
would, presumably, have been between Father Mullowney’s and
Father Pierce Walsh’s. Father Griffin was evidently something
of a poet himself for MacNamara addresses some verses to him in
reply to a poem. of Father Griffin’s on Rev. James Keating (See
under Ballyporeen). He is named, too, in the will of E. Barron of
Woodhouse, 1769.

During Father Griffin’s pastorate or part of it the parish minister
of Ardmore was one Philip Ryan, a pervert priest. He is referred



PARISH OF ARDMORE AND GRANGE 75

to in a Maynooth MS. wherein he is bracketted with Sheaghan
Caoch Power of Tallow and he seems, like Power, to have been a
religious—apparently of the same order as the latter. Ryan had
evidently been Parish Priest of Ardmore.

Next in succession came Rev, Pierce Walsh who was translated
in 1816 to Ardfinnan and Grange (see under Ardfinnan Parish).

Father Walsh’s immediate successor was Rev. Michael Tobin ;
he was translated (in 1836) to Cahir, where he built the spacious
church which is still in use. During Father Tobin’s pastorate of
Ardmore he acquired by gift, from Sir Richard Musgrave, an acre
of land for a graveyard at Grange. In August, 1828, his curate,
Rev. Patrick Carroll died of fever contracted in attending a sick call.

Rev. Patrick McGrath succeeded in 1836. During his pastorate
were erected the churches of Ardmore, Grange, and Old Parish as
we have already seen. He was a man of unassuming piety and
wonderful energy and was esteemed and loved by his people.
Like his two immediate predecessors he was translated to another
pastorate—Ballylooby. This transfer took place at the close of
1846 and during the vacancy Old Parish was cut off from Ardmore
and joined to Ring, as above described.

Rev. Garrett Prendergast, whose practical sympathy with the
poor famine stricken people is still a living memory, was appointed
Parish Priest in the miserable year, 1847. During the ‘‘ bad times
he distributed food on Sundays to two hundred persons. He was
spared only ten years—dying in 1857, and lies buried in Ardmore
Church where his tombstone bears the following inscription:—
‘ Rev. Garret Prendergast, P.P., Ardmore and Grange; died
Januvary 2nd, 1857.”

Rev. Patrick Wall was appointed Parish Priest of Ardmore
and Grange in the year 1857. He governed the parish with great
prudence and energy for eighteen years, and built a National School,
which was afterwards swept away by the encroaching sea. He
also furnished the churches of Ardmore and Grange, which were
mere shells at his appointment; on account of the great poverty of
the people nothing could be done by his predecessor to adequately
equip them at date of their erection. Father Wall died in 1875
and was buried in the church of Ardmore, and to his memory
the people erected by subscription a side altar of marble dedicated
to the Sacred Heart of Jesus. A slab inserted beside the memorial
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altar is inscribed : “* Pray for the soul of Rev. Patrick Wall, P.P.,
to whose memory this altar was erected by the parishioners of
Ardmore and Grange.”

The Rev. John Shanahan succeeded to the pastorship in 1875
and, during his time, he built the present National Schools of Ard-
more. After successful administration of the parish for nine years
he died, possessed of only two or three shillings, on the 11th March,
1884. His monument, within the church at Ardmore, is inscribed :
—'* Priy for the soul of the Rev. John Shanahan, P.P., of Ardmore
and Grange ; died 11th March, 1884, aged 68 years.”

Rev. John Walsh was appointed Parish Priest in March, 1884,
and took up his residence at Ballyquin House. He was an effective
Irish preacher and his homely, but withal forceful, exhortations
will be long remembered in the parish. Father Walsh was killed
by a fall from his horse while returning from attendance at a sick
call, in 1901.

Rev. Patrick Walsh, a native of the parish, next succeeded,
being translated from Abbeyside. He administered the affairs of
the parish for five years and died in 1906. His end came unexpectedly
like his predecessor’s ; he was found dead on the floor of his sitting
room and had been seen in apparently perfect health an hour or
two previously.

Rev. John Casey was appointed to the pastorate on the death
of Father Walsh and resigned four years later to accept the pastoral
charge of Passage and Killea. During Father Casey’s brief term
he erected the present fine parochial residence. He had as curate
Rev. John O’Shea who, on a winter’s day in 1911, performed
an act of heroism which attracted widespread notice and was
specially honoured by King Edward VII. A ship was driven by the
gale into Ardmore Bay where it struck. While the breakers were
pounding it, Father O’Shea got together a crew, launched a boat
and, at imminent peril, boarded the ship only to find that all aboard
had perished save a single seaman who too succumbed before the
gallant rescuers were able to get him ashore.

Rev. John O’'Donnell, 1911-14 ; transferred to Kill.

Rev. John Lennon was appointed to the pastoral charge in
July, 1914, but he resigned within a few months and was succeeded
by Rev. James Everard, who was transferred to Modeligo seven
years later. »

Rev. Henry Galvin succeeded in June, 1921.
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ECCLESIASTICAL ANTIQUITIES, ETC.

The antiquities of the parish are of surpassing interest to the
Irish historian or antiquary ; some of them have been already alluded
to. At Ardmore itself are the ruins of three churches, a perfect
round tower, a famous holy well, some ogham inscriptions, a boulder
popularly called St. Declan’s Stone and another stone that seems
to have been the pedestal of a High Cross. Of the three ruined
churches the most important is the Cathedral, containing a Roman-
esque nave, and semi-cyclopean masonry in the choir; choir and
nave are joined by a transitional chancel arch of striking character
and considerable beauty. The external face of the west gable is
broken up into a series of arcades and panels, filled with sculptured
figures in the style familiar to students of the high crosses. The
second church, sometimes called St. Declan’s Grave, to east of the
cathedral, is really a primitive oratory, the only example of that
class of building surviving in the diocese. On the cliff edge,
half a mile from the cathedral and tower, is the third church. This
was erected, possibly by Bishop Moelettrim already alluded to, on
the site of a little cell built here for himself by the venerated founder
of Ardmore in his last years. In this cell which, says the Saint’s
*“ Life,” he loved very much, St. Declan breathed his last, consoled
by the ministrations of his disciple MacLiag. ** St. Declan’s Stone,”’
on the beach a few perches to east of the village, is a rough boulder
of conglomerate resting on two slight projections of rock. Wonder-
ful virtues were attributed to this stone and on the Saint’s feast
day hosts of pilgrims from far and near resorted to it. It was the
custom for devotees to crawl through the cavity beneath the boulder,
but of late years the practice has been, to a great extent, abandoned.
The 12th century, “ Life” thus chronicles Declan’s connexion
with the stone :—the Saint paid a somewhat lengthened visit to
his friend, St. David, in the latter’s city of Menevia. When the
visitor was about to embark for Erin one of his muin#ir, Luan by
name, handed the Saint’s bell to a brother monk with the intention
that the latter should see it safely on board the ship. In the hurry
of embarkation however the monk forgot the bell which he had
temporarily placed on a rock by the shore. It was not till half the
voyage across the Irish Sea had been completed that the bell was
remembered. Declan was exceedingly grieved and troubled at the
loss. He had recourse to prayer and soon the stone supporting the
precious bell was seen floating towards them on the waves.  There-



78 WATERFORD AND LISMORE

upon the Saint directed his companions to steer in the wake of
the floating rock, for wherever, he declared, the boulder should
come to land, there he should build his city and there should be the
place of his resurrection. The boulder, which is the subject of the
foregoing legend, is to be distinguished from another relic of St.
Declan— the “Dud Deagldm,” for which curative powers were
also claimed and a heavenly origin. The latter object, a stone, was
of small size—only a few inches square—and was last heard of
some seventy-five years ago, in Dungarvan. Its subsequent fate,
it has been impossible to trace. In the grounds of Monea House,
Ardmore, is a dressed block of limestone, known as Clo¢ 4 Dats, in
which Marcus Keane and other fanciful people see an object once
connected with phallic, or other pagan, worship! This is apparently
the plinth of an ancient cross and the mortise for reception of the
shaft came, in a later and less reverent age, to be used as a dye
bath—hence the modern name. Allusion to the cross suggests the
observation that in the parish are places called, respectively, Cross-
ford (&¢ na Cpoipe) and Cpotp Aova so named, presumably, from
termon crosses marking the limits of St. Declan’s sanctuary lands.

On the townland of the same name stand the rather insignificant
remains of the ancient church of Grange, called also Lisginan.
The remains in question consist of portion of the north and south
side walls and a moiety of gable of a plain early English church.
In the graveyard attached are a stunted ogham-inscribed pillar
stone and two diminutive headstones curiously inscribed with a
series of peculiar geometric figures of similar character to those
alluded to under Aglish.

Other ecclesiastical antiquities of the parish are a holy well
(Cobap ns mban Riagalca) on the townland of Ballylane, and
primitive church sites at Grallagh and Kilnockan respectively.

RELIGIOUS HOUSE.
CONVENT OF MERCY,

This is a branch house from the Convent of Mercy, Cappoquin.
It was founded in 1900 and consists, at present, of a community of
four members who are all engaged in the work of primary education
under the National Board. From their first arrival, till 1923, the
nuns lived in a small house towards west of the village, but,
in the year named, they removed to their present more commodious
convent on a fine site overlooking the Bay of Ardmore.
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Parish of Ballyduff.

This parish is of quite recent formation as a independent
pastorate. Up to the year 1866 it formed portion of Lismore. On
the death of Rev. Dr. Fogarty in the year named, Ballyduff became
a separate parish with the Rev. David Power as its first pastor.

Ballyduff is approximately the ancient parish of Mocollop,
which latter seems to have been absorbed into, or united with,
Lismore at a very early period. At the end of the 16th century
{temp. Bishop Miler Magrath) for instance, the boundary line
between Lismore and Mocollop had been forgotten. The patronage
of the parish is uncertain ; there was, fifty years ago, a faint recol-
lection that, up to seventy years previously, the feast of St. Michael
the Archangel had been observed by the celebration of Holy Mass
in the church. In a remote corner of the parish there is a holy
well called St. Michael’s to which multitudes from the counties of
Limerick, Cork, and Tipperary resorted, through devotion, at
Michaelmas. The ‘“ pattern ™’ took place on September 29th. In
course of time crying abuses crept in, so as to make it necessary for
the Rev. Dr. Fogarty, the Parish Priest, to interfere and interdict
the carnival. The well is called Tubbernakulla or the “ Well of the
Penitential Station,’”” and the townland bears the same name. Ova
is literally ““ oil "’ but in a secondary sense it signifies a place or
station for penance. .

The single church of the parish was built about one hundred
years ago, during the pastorate of the Rev. Edmond Wall, Parish
Priest, Lismore and Ballyduff. It is cruciform in plan, and since
its renovation, it presents exteriorly a dignified appearance.

The only graveyard in use is the old cemetery attached to the
Protestant Church at Mocollop, about which there is hardly anything
of interest, A schoolhouse endowed by Colonel Hillier of Mocollop
Castle stood till recently at the entrance to the graveyard. Here
practically all the pupils were Catholics and the priests had free
access at all times to the school. It was the last survival in the
diocese of the old half-subsidised, half-pension schools which pre-
ceded National Education.

The Parochial Registers do not extend further back than 1857.
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SUCCESSION OF PASTORS.

The first Parish Priest of the newly constituted parish was, as
we have seen, Rev. David Power, appointed in October, 1866. He
was a man of unusual ability and energy. Durlng his time as curate
in Tooraneena he had built the handsome church of the Nire. On
his appointment to Ballyduff he renovated, and partly rebuilt the
church there. He also erected schools at The Furnaces, on the
extreme northern boundary of the parish.

Father Power was succeeded, on his death in 1870, by the Rev.
Patrick Slattery, who had been many years connected with the
parish as curate of Lismore. About four years before his death,
scil., in November, 1890, he resigned the parish, when the Rev.
John Casey was appointed Adm., and so continued till death of
the pastor on the 21st February, 1894,

Rev. Michael Power succeeded Father Slattery and was trans-
ferred in 1896 to Ballyneale.

Rev. David O’Connor became Parish Priest in April, 1896.
In April, 1901, Father O’Connor was transferred to Ballylooby
after he had completed negotiations for erection of new schools .
at Ballyduff.

Rev. Edmund Meagher, 1901-2.

Rev. David O’Connor, now in failing health, was re-transferred
to Ballyduff in February, 1902. By the close of 1902, Father
O’Connor’s malady had increased so much that it was necessay to
appoint an administrator. Rev. James B. Coghlan was appointed
and continued in office from November, 1902, to October, 1903,
when Father O’Connor died.

Rev. John Moran was appointed to the vacant pastorate in
November, 1903, and held it till his death, July, 1912. During
Father Moran’s administration there was erected an excellent
curate’s residence at a cost of £800.

Rev. Thomas Condon succeeded, July, 1912 ; then, in succession,
came Rev. Maurice Foley (1916), Rev, Patrick Fitzgerald (1918),
Rev. Michael Callanan (1924), and Rev. Thomas Galvin (1931).

Father Fitzgerald was transferred to Clogheen in 1918 and
Father Galvin to Newtown and Kill in 1934.

Rev. Michael Dowley succeeded in 1934 and thus, within the
sixty-six years since its creation, Ballyduff has had twelve parish
priests in addition to two administrators.



PARISH OF BALLYDUFF 81

ECCLESIASTICAL ANTIQUITIES, ETC.

As greater portion of the parish is mountain, till recently
unoccupied, there are not many traces or remains of early ecclesias-
tical settlement. There are Holy Wells at Tubbernahulla above-
mentioned, at Ballyheafy (Tobsp Nsorts), and at Tobber. The
last, called ‘“ Tobar Mochuda "’ and of considerable depth, is situated
on a hill top. In addition there are early church sites, on the town-
lands of Garrison, Tobber, and Flower Hill, respectively ; the first,
known as “ Cill Breac,” has a circular enclosing fence and within
the second, beside St. Carthage’s Holy Well just alluded to, stood
till sixty years ago, a rude and ancient stone altar. Local Irish
speakers gave CitL ‘Ouigedn as the name of the third (Flower Hill)
site. Hardly any remains of the ancient church of Mocollop, in
the cemetery of the same name, survive. The castle of Mocollop
was gallantly defended against Cromwell’s forces in 1650 by Richard
Maunsell whose portrait, with his wife’s and with some military
stores, was in 1826 found artfully concealed in the castle.



Parish of Ballylooby and Tubrid

This modern ecclesiastical division includes the ancient parishes
of Whitechurch, Tubrid, and Tullaghorton with portion of what
was once Rochestown and extends from summit of the Galtees on
the north to summit of the Knockmealdown range on the south.
Tubrid, one of the parishes comprised in the union, is remarkable
as the place of Dr. Geoffrey Keating’s birth and pastoral labours.
Here, Father Eugene O’Duffy and Keating sleep together in the
little mortuary chapel which, notwithstanding the troubles of the
times, they built at Tubrid. The parish has two churches—at
Ballylooby and Duhill respectively.

The present church of Ballylooby was originally built in 1813
by Rev. John Burke, and is dedicated to the Blessed Virgin and St.
Kieran. It was remodelled and all but rebuilt in 1929 by the Rev.
M. Walsh, P.P. An older church, its immediate predecessor, ran
east and west on the same site, that is, nearly at right angles to
direction of the present structure. Ground being limited for
erection of the new church in 1813 it became necessary to purchase
an extra twenty-six perches of land from one Patrick Burke, at a
compensation of £60 per acre. When the church was built Burke
refused to give up possesion of the land on the plea, which was false,
that he had not got payment in full; he actually erected a wall
within the church so as to cut away the portion of the building
standing on the land purchased from him. Writs were served on
members of the church committee for trespass beyond this boundary
wall. The scandalous controversy continued for three or four years,
when the dispute was finally settled by arbitration. The Burkes
carried this animosity so far as to throw stones at the people going
to Mass. But, a short time afterwards, there did not remain a member
of the Burke familyinthe parish ; thelast, nicknamed “the Barrister,”
was found dead in a quarry. Duhill church, the building of which
was commenced in 1829 and completed in 1830, is dedicated to
St. John the Baptist (Beheading). It was renovated at a cost of
£1,000 in 1929,

The Parochial Registers begin with the year 1828,
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SUCCESSION OF PASTORS.

The list of Parish Priests is unusually long and, it may be added,
unusually complicated.

Father Eugene O'Duhy, or O’'Duffy, was vicar, i.e. pastor, of
Tubrid in 1644. He was author of a biting satire, in Irish and in
metre, on the apostate Miler MacGrath; he was also co-operator
with his future successor, Dr. Geoffrey Keating, in erection of the
Mortuary chapel at Tubrid (see Introduction).

Geoffrey Keating, D.D., is generally regarded as the next
pastor of Tubrid parish. Though he was so renowned a man we
know surprisingly little of his life and nothing certain of his death
(see Introduction).

Rev. William English died Parish Priest of Tubrid in 1669,
From his will, formerly in the Record Office, Dublin, it appears
that Tubrid was, at one time, a favourite burial place of deceased
priests. Archbishop Brenan of Cashel was buried here in 1693.

Rev., William English II was registered as Parish Priest of
“Tubrid, Tullahoran and Whitechurch ”’ in 1704. He was then
sixty years of age and resident at * Knockcananby ”’ (s.e. Knockan-
buidhe, one of the sub-divisions of Knockan townland).

A Parliamentary Return of 1731 gives Thomas Farrell as
tesident priest of Tullahorton that year.

Rev. Maurice Condon died Parish Priest of Tubrid in 1782.
He had been pastor since, at least, 1776, for in the latter year, John
Anglin of Ballylaffan names him as his executor.

Rev. John Hearn was pastor in 1801 and probably many years
earlier. He died, 1809, aged 64 years. His residence was at
* Summerhill, near Clogheen.” It was he who supplied Halliday
‘with a copy of the well known Keating inscription at Tubrid.

Rev. Timothy Flannery, who was foster-brother of Rev. Dr.
Flannery, V.G., and who died in 1811, was the next pastor. His
obituary notice appears in the *“ Clonmel Advertiser,” August 20th,
1811, together with a graceful tribute in Latin verse from a contributor
who signs himself D. H., and who probably was Daniel Hickey, a
writer, about this time, of Greek and Latin verses for Cox’s ‘‘ Irish
Magazine.”

Rev. John Burke, already mentioned as the builder of Bally-
looby church, was probably the immediate successor of Father
Hearn; he died in 1822,
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Rev. Michael Fitzgerald succeeded ; he had been “ principal
coadjutor > of Trinity Within, Waterford.

Rev. Eugene Condon succeeded and, two years later, he was
transferred to Tallow.

Rev. Patrick O'Donnell, transferred from Abbeyside (1830}, died
Parish Priest of Tubridin 1846. It washe who erected Duhiil Church;
at any rate the building was completed in his time. He also built
the present parochial house as well as the Duhill School-house.

Rev. Patrick McGrath, translated from Ardmore, succeeded.
He was further translated (1852) to Cahir.

Rev. Stephen Lonergan, 1852-73.

Rev. Patrick O'Donnell II, who had been administrator of the
parish 1872-3, succeeded ; he died in 1876.

Rev, Robert Foran, who had been administrator of St. John’s,
was inducted, 1876. He was kinsman of Bishop Nicholas Foran
and a priest of remarkable piety and humility ; he died in 1893.

Rev. Richard O’'Gorman,1893-1901.

Rev. David O’Connor, translated from Ballyduff. He purchased,
for the parish, the present parochial residence from the represent-
atives of the late parish priest ; the cost was about £800. Father
O’Connor was, at his own wish, retransferred to Ballyduff the fol-
lowing year.

Rev. Richard Mockler, 1902-21,

Rev. Michael Walshe was appointed Parish Priest in 1921.
Under his direction the parishioners restored, and almost rebuilt,
Ballylooby Church in 1928-9. He was created Canon in 1935.
He also renovated Duhill Church, as we have seen.

ECCLESIASTICAL ANTIQUITIES, ETC.

The Mortuary Chapel erected by Fathers O'Duffy and Keating
has already been alluded to ; only theroofless walls survive. Thesite
of the ancient parish church was occupied later by a modern Protest-
ant church, recently demolished. Over the door of the Mortuary
Chapel is a slab bearing the following inscription :—
“ Maria.
1118 £ I—R
ORATE, PRO Aiab9 p. Eugenij: Duhy vic. de Tybrud: et D. poct.
GalF. keaTing hui9 sacelli FundaToru : necno et Pro oib9 alijs Ta

sacerd. Quam Laicis quoru corpa. in eod. jaceT sa A° Doni 1644”



PARISH OF BALLYLOOBY AND TUBRID 85

Relieved of contractions the foregoing inscription is expressed :—

Orate pro Animabus Patris Eugenii Duhy, Vicarii de Tybrud,
et Domini Doctoris Galfridii Keating, hujus sacelli Fundatorum ;
nec non et pro omnibus aliis, Tam sacerdotibus quam Laicis, quorum
corpora in eodem jacent sacello. Anno Domini 1644,

[Pray for the souls of Father Eugenius Duhy, Vicar of Tybrud,
and of Geoffrey Keating, D.D., Founders of this Chapel ; and also
for all others, both Priests and Laics whose bodies lie in the same
chapel. Inthe year of our Lord 1644].

On Keating the following epitaph also has been written :
“In one urn in Tybrud, hid from mortal eye,
A poet, prophet, and a priest doth lie ;
All these, and more than in one man could be,
Cocentered were in famous Jeoffry.”

Although the name of Dr. Geoffry Keating is well and widely
known in connection with his History of Ireland and the romantic
and falmost insuperable difficulties under which the latter was
written, strange to say scarcely anything is known traditionally of
him in the parish of his birth and the scene of his missionary
labours.  The place of his birth is Burgess, about one mile from
the old church of Tubrid. A farmhouse occupied now by a family
named Cahill is pointed out as occupying the site of the Keating
homestead. Here the future historian was born in, or about, 1570
when Elizabeth was Queen and Drury her Deputy in Ireland.
His writings show Keating to have been a scholar, a graceful poet,
a skilled writer in Latin and Irish and a patient enthusiast in the
collection and study of the annals and bardic remains of his country.

Exclusive of the remains at Tubrid there are four ruined
churches within the parish :—Castlegrace, Whitechurch, Burgess
and Ballydrenan. Regarding Ballydrenan it is to be noted that
this church formerly belonged to Rochestown, that ancient parish
being cut in two by the River Suir. In course of time two churches
—one on either side of the river—were built and, later on, the
western half ‘became merged in Tubrid parish. Castlegrace
(Tullaghorton) church was of greater than usual capacity—69 feet
by 24 feet 6 inches externally—and it stands, minus one half of
its south side wall, in a fair state of preservation. In plan the
structure conforms to a pattern common in Decies—choirless, with a
side window, or pair of side windows, lighting the altar, and a door
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near the west end. At Castlegrace we have moreover a double-
light east window. Whitechurch ruin, of local gritstone rubble and
measuring roughly 51 feet by 17 feet internally, is a plain rectangle.
In the east gable are two pointed window opes about 6 feet by 1 foot
each and the altar was further lighted by a similar ope in the south
side wall. The remains are in a fair state of survival and the much
used adjoining cemetery shows traces of an original circular outline.
But scant remains of Burgess church survive ; they are confined to
a fragment of gable ten feet long and twelve feet in height. There can
hardly have beena cemetery ; indeed the rocky outcrop on which the
ruin stands renders gravedigging impossible. The church is, or was,
known to local sheanachies as Teampult Dinn 'Veagdin  The ruin of
Ballydrenan closely resembles the remains at Whitechurch.

Adjacent to the old burial ground of Tubrid is a noted holy
well sacred to St. Ciaran whose name we find in both the Irish and
the Latin ““ Life ” of St. Declan. There is a second holy well, now
dried up, at Kilcoran and yet another (St. John’s) on the south
boundary of Magherareagh.

In addition to the church ruins already enumerated early
(Celtic) ecclesiastical sites are pointed out at Kilcoran (C. Cuapdm),
Killinure (C. an tuvap), Kilgainey (C. Famine) on Kilroe townland,
Killballyboy (C. Hane 11i Huroe) and Ballylaffan.

Another distinguished name connected with Ballylooby parish
is Archbishop John Brenan’s. During portion of his episcopate
Dr. Brenan had his residence, or rather place of refuge, at Rehill
where stood a small residential castle or manor house of the Catholic
Barons of Cahir. Here, half a century earlier, Dr. Keating had
also found a retreat and it was probably here that the venerable
historian died. Archbishop Brenan likewise died at Rehill, whence
his funeral took place to Tubrid, three miles away. It was at
Rehill too that the Archbishop performed his last recorded episcopal
function, scil. :—an ordination to priesthood in 1692.

Rt. Rev. Michael Tierney, late bishop of Hartford, U.S.A., was
a native of Ballylooby, where he was baptised in September, 1839.

A silver chalice, still used in the parish, bears the names of
Revs. Messrs. Egan and Condon and Frater Denis O’Connor and
the date 1777. Another similar chalice bears the name—Rev.
Maurice Condon.



Parish
of Ballyneal and Grangemockler.

This ecclesiastical union comprises the medieval parishes of
Kilmurray, Ardcollum, Moclaire or Grangemoclaire, Templemichael,
and Garrangibbon. The last named, though an official (civil)
parish with an ancient church site, does not seem to be of equal
antiquity to the other four; at any rate, it is not listed, under its
present name or any form of the latter, in taxation or visitation
nor in Archbishop MacCarvil’s claim. There are two churches—
one at Ballyneal and the other at Grangemockler {otherwise Muilean-
nagloch). The present church of Ballyneal was erected in 1840 by
Rev. P. Morrissey on the site of an older church built half a century
earlier. Grangemockler Church was built in 1805 and re-roofed
and practically re-edified under Rev. Michael Power, in 1897 at a
cost of £2,000. Rev. C. Flavin, while curate in the parish, procured
erection, at Grangemockler, of a parochial hall, which is attached
to the church building. Rev. M. Power likewise improved and
decorated Ballyneal Church at a cost of £800.

The Parochial Registers begin, 1839.

SUCCESSION OF PASTORS.

The registered Parish Priest in 1704 was William Boulger,
who was then aged B7 years, and resident at Bleanaleen in the
parish of Garrangibbon.

The next in succession, of whom we have record, is 2 Rev.
Felix Brunnock, who resided at Ballinacluna and was a native of
the parish. Father Brunnock’s mother was a Cleary, and both the
Brunnock and Cleary families are still represented locally. The
latter family, by the way, gave a succession of priests to the church
for nearly two hundred years. Father Brunnock’s term of office
was very brief ; he was appointed in 1780 and died the following
year. '

A Rev. Nicholas Whelan, stated to have been formerly Parish
Priest of Ballyneal, died at Carrick, June 19th, 1797. He may have
been Father Brunnock’s immediate successor. Apparently he had
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ceased active missionary work some time previous to his death;
his body was buried by charitable subscription.

Local tradition gives a Father Darcy as the next Parish Priest ;
he is stated to have been appointed in 1781, but the statement
seems irreconcilable with the alleged pastorate of Rev. Nicholas
Whelan. Father Darcy built the first church at Ballyneal ; its
predecessor had been at Curraghadobbin. This account of Father
Darcy is somewhat unsatisfactory and puzzling. One suspects
that there is some confusion of him with the Rev. Michael Darcy
of Carrick-on-Suir. The alleged Father Darcy of Ballyneal is
stated to have died in 1790 and the Rev. Michael Darcy of Carrick,
certainly died that year. It may well be that Father Darcy,
pastor of Ballyneal, from 1781 to 1788, was, in the latter year,
transferred to Carrick, and it is not without significance that Rev.
Michael Darcy of Carrick-on-Suir is buried at Kilmurray, the old
cemetery of Ballyneal. Rev. Stephen Dwyer, O.S.A., then residing
at Dovehill (Ardcolum) took the Catholic Qualification oath (17th
and 18th Geo. III) in 1782,

Rev. Thomas O’Connor succeeded. He lived at Templemichael
where he built a residence, still standing and now occupied by Mr.
James Cahill

Rev. Mr. Ryan was appointed coadjutor to Father O’'Connor
in 1809 and afterwards succeeded him as Parish Priest ; he died
himself in 1824. During his pastorate he resided at Veremount,
near Carrick-on-Suir,

Rev. Patrick Morrissey came next in succession. His long
pastorate concluded with his death in 1864. He it was who erected
the present church of Ballyneal in 1840. During the Young Ireland
movement the parish was in an uneasy condition. John O’Mahony,
the future Fenian leader and the translator of Keating, was a parish-
ioner and an active propagator within the parish of advanced
political views. The local curate, Rev. Patrick Power (afterwards
Parish Priest of Cappoquin), seems to have been a disciple, if not a
co-worker, of O’Mahony’s; he founded a Forty-Eight Club at
Ballyneal.

Rev. John Dee succeeded in January, 1865 and held office
till his death in 1886.

Rev. Robert Power, who had been administrator of the Cathedral
Parish, Waterford, was the next Parish Priest ; he died in 1895.
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Rev. Edmond Foran, transferred from Ring, succeeded. He
lived only eleven months from his induction.

Rev. Michael Power, translated from Ballyduff, was appointed
in 1896 ; he died, 1923.

Rev. William Ryan, 1923.

ECCLESIASTICAL ANTIQUITIES.

Under this head come the remains, hardly identitiable in two
or three cases, of no fewer than seven ruined churches—Grange-
mockler, Templemichael, Garrangibbon, Kilmurray, Curraghdobbin,
Macreary, and Ardcolum.

Kilmurray Church, though of comparatively large size, was
choirless. It has a double-light east window—each ope about 7 feet
by 7 inches, The altar was, as usual further lighted by a single
ope—in the north wall. There are the usual two doors at opposite
sides and facing one another and an unusual doorway additional,
possibly not original, in the west gable, In the adjoining graveyard
a recumbent 17th century slab has the following, now with difficulty
decipherable :—'“ Hic Jacent generosi Conju [ges Con]stantinus Neale
et Honora Purcel de Balyneale, Ille obytt 12 Mart, 1629 : illa 4 Mar
oo . quorum filjus et heres D. Joannes Neale ejusque uxor
Honora Walsh pro se suisque hereditario jure posteris hoc
monumentum extruxerunt Apr. 9,16 . . . . Orate pro aetr.
victoriis eorum.” A family of O’Neales (apparently they did not
consider themselves allied to the Ulster stock) was settled in the
parish as early, at least, as the time of Elizabeth. Some remains
of their castle still survive on the townland which bears their
name and gives its present popular name to the parish. It is
stated that the last holder of the O’Neill estate died a fugitive in
Rome and the present representatives of the family (O’Neills of
Lisronagh) show a rosary beads of amber and silver presented to
him by Pope Innocent X. Dovehill (Ardcolum) is a refreshing
exception to the ruined churches of the barony. Though standing
without graveyard or surrounding fence it has been repaired and
is kept protected. The remains comprise east gable, all south
wall and part of wall opposite, and the rubble masonry is
three feet thick. The church has three window opes besides
a large rude credence and a square-headed doorway in south
wall. At the west end was the usual wooden gallery. Ardcolum
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is very probably an old Irish foundation, rebuilt in the 14th
century; this is suggested by the masonry—rubble sandstone below
and limestone above. The foundations of Macreary church (47 feet
by 20 feet internally) are traceable and a small portion of east wall
still stands. Delapidation here is quite recent; the ruin is,
unfortunately, unprotected. Grangemockler old church, below the
north-east flank of Slievenamon and near the frontier of the diocese,
is of good sandstone rubble and looks native Irish (z.e. Celtic)
masonwork. Only the east gable survives with a small fragment
each of west and south walls. Foundations are traceable and prove
the dimensions to have been 53 feet by 24 feet 9 inches internally.
Notwithstanding the thickness (3 feet 5 inches) of the walls the east
gable is in some danger of collapsing outwards. An attempt was
evidently made, probably centuries ago, to counteract this outward
inclination by erection of a buttress which has quite closed up the
east window. Of Templemschael, Garrangibbon and Curraghdobbin
the remains are insignificant if not nil. The first and second have
old graveyards and the third may have been merely a Penal Days’
chapel. There are also, in the parish, a couple of semi-sacred wells,
viz :—Tovap na Cailire on Curraghdobbin, and Tobap Paopsis on
Garrangibbon, as well as early church sites (independent of the later
churches) on the townlands of Curraghdobbin and Grangemockler.
Templemichael church by side of the Lingaun stream marks the
site of the “4¢ na gCapbao " of Celtic hagiology and early civil
history. Local seanachies aver that the road leading north from
the ancient cemetery is the way by which St. Patrick travelled,
and this tradition is almost certainly a faint echo of the former
importance of the place. Possibly allusion in the name is to the
flight of the Ossorians before the victorious Desii after the battle
of Magh Femin in the late 4th century A.D.

Among distinguished ecclesiastics born in, or connected with,
the parish are Most Rev. Dr. McCabe, a former bishop of Ardagh,
who was educated in a classical school at Grangemockler, Right
Rev. Dr. Maher, first bishop of Port Augusta, South Australia, and
Rev. Dr. Patrick Browne, the present Professor of mathematical
physics, Maynooth College.



Parish of Ballyporeen.

Like Ballyduff antea, this is a parish of comparatively late
formation. There is indeed a corresponding pre-Reformation
parish of Templetenny but this had been, for nearly two centuries,
merged in, or united with, Shanrahan. An early 19th century
chapel of the parish was at Carrigvisteale, where, on a knoll, its
foundations are still to be seen. On completion of Burncourt church
—probably in 1816—Ballyporeen, alias Templetenny, alias Carrig-
visteale was erected a separate pastorate with Rev. Peter Sexton
as first Parish Priest. The thatched chapel of Carrigvisteale con-
tinued in use as the only church of the new parish down to 1828,
when the present commodious church of Ballyporeen was built—
under invocation of Our Lady’s Assumption ; the latter is the only
public church in the parish. Our parish, notwithstanding its
largely mountain character, has suffered less, proportionately, from
emigration, etc., than many of its neighbour parishes more gene-
rously dowered by nature.

Within the parish lie the far-famed Mitchelstown Caves, on
the large (3,493 a.) townland of Coolagarranroe. These, however,
have little, if any, historic association ; the latter attaches rather
to Desmond’s Cave (lamh na Coopna¢ Staire) a quarter of a mile
further west, within which, in Elizabeth’s time, was captured the
Sugan Earl of Desmond.

The Parochial Registers begin—Marriages, 1814; Baptisms,
1817.

SUCCESSION OF PASTORS.

Rev. James Holane, residing at Carrigvisteale and seventy-two
years old was Parish Priest of Templetenny in 1704,

“The Clonmel Advertiser,” January 11th, 1814, announces
the death, four days previously and at Ballyporeen, of Rev. Mr.
Anglin, Parish Priest. This might lead to the inference that Bally-
poreen was an independent parish previous to Father Sexton’s
time. But Father Anglin was really pastor of the united Clogheen
and Ballyporeen parish but resident, for convenience, in Bally-
poreen or its immediate vicinity. Similarly, Rev. James Keating
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might seem, from his inscribed chalice in Ballyporeen, to have
been pastor of that place only; like Father Anglin, however, he
held Clogheen also.

Rev. Peter Sexton was appointed first Parish Priest of Bally-
poreen in 1816 ; he resigned in 1828 and died in retirement at
Tallow some years later.

Rev. Patrick Burke, 1828-1847. Under him the present
church was erected in 1828,

Rev. Patrick De Burgo, who had conducted a classical school
in Clonmel, 1847-67. Father De Burgo, or * de Burke " as he was
usually called, did not look with favour on the Irish language, the
use of which within his parish he vigorously, and too successfully,
combatted. ’

Another representative of the De Burgos succeeded—Rev.
Michael Burke, 1867-75.

Rev. Patrick Delaney, D.D., formerly president of St. John'’s
College, Waterford, 1875-94. Dr. Delaney was translated to
Dungarvan in 1881 and, thence, after a few months, to Cappoquin,
where his stay was shorter still ; he returned to Ballyporeen before
end of the year.

Rev. Thomas Walsh, 1894-1903.

Rev. John Everard, 1903-10; transferred to Clogheen.

Rev. Patrick Keating, 1910-31.

Rev. John O’Shea, 1931 (see under Ardmore par.).

ECCLESIASTICAL ANTIQUITIES, ETC.

The only items to be catalogued under this head are the church
ruin of Templetenny (Teamputl Tumne 7.e. ' Church of the Swamp,”
in evident allusion to its situation on an island of dry land in what
must have been anciently a marsh), a holy well (Tobap Rig an
*Vornans) at Curraleigh and early church sites at Kiltankin (“Cnu
Tamcin), and Skeheenarinky (Cnu thic Caipin or Oipin). To the
foregoing must of course be added the remains of the later
penal days’ chapel of Carrigvisteale already alluded to and, likewise
the site of a, perhaps, still earlier chapel at an ancient tree and cross
roads known as ‘‘ the old altar "’ on the same townland. On the
neighbouring townland of Coolagarranroe is another (presumably)
penal days site known as Ciaiyr an Sapmnn.  Templetenny, near
western boundary of the diocese, was a large and apparently
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important church. It consisted of naveand chancel, but the chancel
has disappeared. The nave, measuring 28 by 21} feet, was spacious
for its period. Hardly any architectural features survive beyond
the pointed chancel arch, a window ope (6 feet by 1 foot 3 inches)
at the west end and, apparently, a bell-cote on summit of the
thickly ivy-coated gable. Both west and middle gables, of good
rubble masonry, stand to their full original height of about twenty-
three feet from present level of the ground.

It may, and indeed ought, be mentioned here that another
derivation proposed for our present church name, scil :(—
Teamputl 4 ctSomnatg (Church of the Stockade) suggests a highly
interesting connection—with St. Fionnchu of Brigown. Among
Fionnchu’s foundations was a church, with attached community,
styled Tamnachbuadh and this has been equated with our
Templetenny.

RELIGIOUS HOUSE.

The small Convent of Mercy, Ballyporeen, is a branch of the
Cahir house of that institute. Its erection was commenced in 1887,
during the pastorate of Rev. Dr. Delaney. Mr. Thomas Fogarty
donated a sum of £600 towards the foundation. The community
at present numbers six members.



Parish of Cahir.

The present parish represents the old parishes of Cahir, Mortles-
town and Outragh. There is only one public church, which is
dedicated to the Mother of God, the ancient patroness of Cahir.
This was erected in 1833, during the pastorate of Rev. Michael
Tobin, as an inscribed slab in the church wall (exterior) testifies :(—
Hujus ecclesiae primum lapidem Jecit Reverendus Michael Tobin,
7 Maii 1833, Reverendis Stephano Lonergan et Geraldo F. Long,
cum aliis multis adjuvantibus.” The church was rapidly approach-
ing a state of ruin when, half a century later—compelled thereto
by episcopal fiat—the Parish Priest, Rev. Maurice Mooney, took
the work of repair in hand and erected the present chancel. An
older church, immediate predecessor of the present spacious building,
was erected on the same spot in 1791. Previous to 1791 the par-
ishioners worshipped in a thatched chapel which stood close to the
modern gate entrance of Cahir Park. The precincts of a lordly
demesne might seem an ill chosen site for a penal days’ chapel,
but the Lords of Cahir were Catholics, who gave whatever pro-
tection they could to the harassed clergy of those woeful times.
In 1895 a plot of land, three quarters of an acre in area, was obtained
on lease from Lady Margaret Charteris as an addition to the burial
ground. Rev. William O’Donnell (1924-33) secured a further
extension ; he also bought for the parish the present fine parochial
house. A curate’s residence was erected in 1904, mainly through
the exertions of Rev. William P. Burke, then a curate in the
parish.

SUCCESSION OF PASTORS.

William Lonergan and John Cahill, chaplains of Cahir, were
granted English liberty, 15653,

Rev. Denis O’'Mulrian, “late parson of Cahir ” was granted

a pension of 13s. 4d. (31 Jac. I). He had been formerly member
of the Augustinian Priory of Cahir,

Rev. Robert Adams, D.D., died pastor of Cahir about middle
of the 17th century. We recover his name from a reference thereto
in the “ presentation ’ of his successor, 1649,
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On June 25th, 1649, the patrons (Sir George Matthews of
Thurles and his wife Eleanor Butler, as representatives of the Baron
of Cahir, a minor), nominated Rev. Constantine O’Donnell to the
vacant parish and petitioned the Bishop, Dr. Patrick Comerford, to
grant confirmation. This is, perhaps, the last recorded presentation
by a layman in the diocese of Waterford and Lismore.

Rev. Denis Fogarty, residing at Knockagh, was registered as
Parish Priest of * Cahir, Deregrath, Rochestown and Mortlestown "’
in 1704, Father Fogarty was alive eighteen years later, for Robert
Keating of Knockagh, gent., by his will (dated September 8th,
1722) directs that he be buried at Derrygrath and bequeaths to
Rev. Denis Fogarty, ““ out of £56 which he owes me,”” 30s. towards
repair ““ of the Masshouse in Cahir.”  Another member of the
Keating family, John K. of Rochestown, gent., (will proved 1763)
also directs that he be buried at Derrygrath *in the tomb of my
ancestors "’ and he leaves to his Parish Priest, * fr. Darby Dooreny,"”
the sum of 20s.

Rev. Denis Lonergan appears to have succeeded. By the will
of Maurice Flood of Cahir Abbey, dated 1728, 20s, are bequeathed
to Rev. Denis Lonergan.

Rev. William O’Donnell died Parish Priest of Cahir in 1765
and his will was proven the same year. The will is of some general
interest and deserves a little notice; it directs that testator be
buried in Cahir old churchyard with his good predecessor, who can
hardly have been the apostate O’Connor ; it directs moreover that
his books be disposed of for the good of his soul, to his brother
priests of the diocese. Testator was possessed of three sets of
breviaries and he left his *“ Missal, pyxes and ayle-box *’ for the use
of the parish. To Lord Cahir he bequeathed his snuffbox and large
size silver rosary which had been given to him by the legatee’s
father. There is reference in the will to a second rosary beads—
of the now obsolete type, with silver thumb-ring ; this is left to
Rev. Denis O’Connor of Clogheen, while to Father Edmond Butler
is left an old set of Breviaries. During, or about, Father O’'Donnell’s
time the Lord Cahir (9th Baron) became a Jesuit ; he was ordained
in 1753 and died at Hereford in 1786. It is probable that Father
O’Donnell was the chaplain to Lord Cahir who was arrested for high
treason in 1762. Apparently he was a native of the parish and,
apparently also, his coadjutor in Cahir was Dr. Geoffrey Keating,
who succeeded him.
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Rev. Geoffrey Keating, D.D., died at Clonmel in 1791. He
had studied theology at Salamanca, and was grand nephew of his
famous namesake, the historian. The Baptismal Register commenced
by him is still preserved in Cahir. In this Dr. Keating invariably
and suggestively names male illegitimate children—*“Oliver.”” An
elegy to Dr. Keating appeared in “The Waterford Herald,” Septem-
ber 1st, 1791 ; from this it appears that he was actively building
a church in Cahir at the date of his death.

Rev. Michael Keating, brother of his predecessor, succeeded and
held office till his death in 1809. The will of William Loughnane,
Cahir, Parish Priest, was proved in 1797. Probably ‘* Cahir"”’
here means vicinity of Cabhir.

Rev. Thomas Keating, brother to his two immediate pre-
decessors, came next. He had been Parish Priest successively
of St. John’s and Dungarvan before his appointment to Cahir. He
died in 1814, and his elegy, signed “ Juvenis,” appeared in ‘‘ The
Waterford Chronicle,” June 21st, of that year. In a subsequent
issue of the paper appears a long letter from ‘‘ Veritas *’ stating
that the verses were a plagiarism and substantially the composition
of Rev. Thomas Burke (subsequently P. P. of Tallow). In Bally-
gunner Church, and still occasionally used, is a silver chalice which
belonged to Father Keating and bears his name. A Rev. James
Keating, probably another brother, was cotemporary pastor of
Clogheen. These Keating brothers were buried, the writer
has reason to think, at Derrygrath. On the other hand popular
tradition in Cahir—and this is not to be contemned—points to Rev.
Dr. Keating's grave slab (uninscribed) within the precincts of the
present Catholic church of Cahir. A Rev. John Buckley, Cahir, took
the Test Oath in 1780 ; he may have been Dr. Keating’s assistant or
perhaps, a Regular,

Rev. John Power came next in succession; he died in Sep-
tember, 1830.

Rev. Michael Tobin, translated from Ardmore, succeeded. He
died in March, 1852, having built the present church of Cahir.

Rev. Patrick McGrath was, like his predecessor, translated
from Ardmore but—unlike Father Tobin—indirectly, via Bally-
looby.

Rev. Maurice Mooney was appointed Parish Priest on the death
of Father McGrath in 1865 and survived till 1891, His activities
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or lack of them, more than once brought upon him the reprimands
of his bishop and, often, the disapproval of his people. He was
an occasional very minor client of the Muses, but, truth to tell,
the verses seldom rose above doggerel.

Rev. Patrick Sheehan, who had been administrator of the
Cathedral, survived but a short time—dying in 1892.

Rev. Robert Power, appointed in 1892, held the pastorate for
thirty-two years.

Rev. William O’Donnell, transferred from Clogheen, succeeded
in 1924. He survived till 1933.

Rev. Michael Crotty, translated from Abbeyside.

ECCLESIASTICAL ANTIQUITIES.

The chief items to be enumerated under this head are a ruined
Augustinian Priory at Cahir, the ruined churches of Cahir, Mortles-
town, Outragh, Loughloher, Ballylegan and Ballymacadam, * St.
Patrick’s Stone ’ at Grangemore, ““ Qur Lady’s Well ” and ““Tober
Iosa ”’ on Cahir Abbey townland, and early church sites at Clonmore
(cnu obnarr), Kilcommon (C. Comdm), Killeenbutler, Killeigh (C.
L1az) and Killemly (C. emuiig).

The Priory of Cahir, founded in the early 13th century by a
Norman Knight, Geoffrey de Camvil, was a house of Augustinian
Canons Regular. That it was a place of considerable importance
is evident from the scale of its buildings as well as from the list of
its possessions granted by Henry VIII to one Thomas Browne.
Included in the latter grant are 80 acres of Priory demesne, 20
acres in Killemly, 76 acres in New Grange, 60 acres in Great Grange,
a mill, weirs in the river, rents, revenues from various churches and
rectories, etc. This did not exhaust the priory estate which also
included (Pat. Rolls, Jac. I.) Ballymacadam, Loughloher, etc.
The Priory ruins, though extensive, are badly preserved and some
of the buildings have been turned to base uses. All except the
church tower and choir are sadly delapidated. A public cemetery
surrounds the chancel on three sides. The monastic church, which
had neither aisles nor transepts, was large and had a square tower
at junction of nave and choir. It is evident that the great tower,
which communicated, on its south side, with the eastern cloister
wing, was designed for residential purposes. On its ground floor
the tower had a pointed doorway which gave entrance to th e church

"
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from the north. Interesting features here are two carved panels
of interlacing, more Hibernico, on the soffit or inner face of the arch.
Hardly anything remains of the Refectory, etc., in the south range.
The vaulted Chapter Room, however, with its other apartments of
the east range survive albeit in a deplorable state of ruin. At its
southern end the east range terminated in another tower less massive
than the church tower already described. Edmund O’Lonyrgane,
Prior, surrendered his abbey of Cahir, 31, Henry VIII, and was
rewarded with a pension of £3 6s. 8d. per annum, and other emolu-
ments. Two additional religious of the House were also awarded
pensions scil. :—Denis O’'Mulrian and John Donaty. Cahsr parish
church ruin, in its ancient cemetery, is of greater than ordinary
size and architectural pretension. Owing to the fact that it was
used for Protestant worship up to 1820 it is in a tolerable state of
preservation. It comprises nave and chancel joined by a now partly
built up arch and its masonry, of the local limestone, is three feet
thick throughout and four feet thick in the west gable which had
to carry the bell. From apex of the gable in question springs a
small bell-cote. There is evidence of much alteration during the
centuries. Of Mor#lestown church nothing survives save (when
the writer last saw the place, thirty odd years since), a pile of its
ancient building material lying derelict by the roadway. Demolition
of this church ruin was, let it be recorded, intentional and systematic
at the hands of a parish priest (the poetaster, Father Mooney) who
proposed using the stones in some projected building. The church
ruin at Owuiragh is a plain rectangle in plan with both gables still
standing and portion of the side walls. The remains are so enveloped
in ivy that detailed examination is difficult. The building was of
comparatively large size and had no division into nave and chancel.
Ballylegan church (53 feet by 14 feet and 13 feet 2 inches,
internally) consisted of nave and chancel. A strange feature
here—as in Cormac’s Chapel—is the difference of axis between
nave and chancel. Only the very ruinous west gable, and mere
fragments of the side walls, survive and these stand unprotected
in-an open field on the edge of a later stone quarry. There are no
traces of interments. Lowughloher was a small building (31 feet
6 inches by 18 feet) and choirless; the side walls are fairly
preserved and the gables are perfect. A narrow window (6 feet
by 7 inches) in the east gable is the only remaining archi-
tectural feature; this, though round-headed is not of native Irish
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character, From the east gable there projects on the inside a
small flagstone bracket—apparently to support a statue. The
ruin stands in its old graveyard—still in occasional use. Bally-
macadam church ruin has recently been supplied with a corrugated
iron roof to suit it to the purpose of a barn ; it standsin a farmyard
and there is now no evidence of a former cemetery. All the walls
survive to their original height and there are four opes or windows—
all of lancet character. The east window is in two lights, each
6 feet by 6 inches. The building was of unusual size for a rural
population—60 feet by 28 feet, externally. Ballymacadam church
was, doubtless, a chapel-of-ease, for convenience of monastic
tenants and Loughloher and Ballylegan were similarly designed.
Killemly, too, if it survived into the Hiberno-Norman penod was
probably a similar chapelry.

‘" §t. Patrick’s Stone " is a roadside boulder of limestone which
is regarded with much veneration and is popularly believed to have
been associated with the national apostle, the imprint of whose
knees is seen in it! Probably the boulder is a termon-stone
originally set up to mark the southern boundary of the Priory
estate. Of the holy wells *“ Tobar Iosa - especially still retainsits
olden repute ; the traditional prayer recited here runs :—

‘“To m-Deannurde V14 Vuic, & lora Naorta,
Tana mé 5o 'oT1 ti 4’ Seapdn mo reéi ouic,
A 0 1apard  cabaip 1 geancar ‘0é uaic,
50 mbeannurde Via mipe,
Tora Deannuigte Naorhta.”

Through the eastern section of the parish runs the Rian Bé Phadraig,
or legendary “ Track of St. Patrick’s Cow,” which was probably an
ancient roadway from Cashel to Lismore, etc. (see under Cappoquin
parish, snfra). Knockagh, a townland of the parish, has been
identified by O’Donovan as the *“ Ard Feirchis” of the Leabhar
Gabhala and therefore the residence of Feirchchis the poet who killed
Lughaidh Mac Conn, monarch of Ireland, as the latter stood by a
pillar stone distributing gifts to the poets of Ireland at Derrygrath.

An interesting memorial of the Catholic Lords Cahir is a rare
old print engraved in 1750 by Michael Hanbury of Dublin. A copy
in the writer’s possession, is humbly inscribed to the Right Honorable
Theobald Baron of Cahir. It depicts St. Patrick surrounded by a
number of Irish Saints and pseudo-Saints among whom are SS.



100 WATERFORD AND LISMORE

Loman, Dolough, Gobinet, Brian Boru, Owen Roe O’Neill, David,
King of Dublin and even King Leoghaire and his wife. In the
writer’s possession is likewise a second print—of less edifying
character and of less than doubtful taste—copies of which were till
recently to be found here and there in Cahir town and vicinity.
This was designed and published by the Parish Priest as a lampoon
on Mr. William Butler of Ballygarron, the Cahir land-agent, against
whom Father Mooney imagined he had a grievance—over a school
site or something of that kind. The incidents and individuals have
been mostly forgotten even locally ; the individual prone on the
ground is Butler, who receives, at Father Mooney’s hands a weird
castigation of the kind associated, in their legendary lives, with
irate old Irish Saints. Others included in the group are Hon. Col.
and Lady Margaret Charteris, local priests and nuns, etc. Poor
Father Mooney’s denunciations were not very seriously taken and
they hurt nobody except, perhaps, their author.

RELIGIOUS HOUSE.

The Sisters of Mercy founded their Convent at Cahir on Whit
Monday, 1863. They came from Cappoquin under Mother M. Teresa
Phelan as first Superior, and made their temporary home at Cahir
in a partially furnished house on the Mall. On their arrival in Cahir
the Sisters at once opened private schools and commenced the other
pious works of the institute—visitation of the sick, etc. The present
large schools were built by the parish in 1864, and five years later
they were placed under direction of the National Education Board.
Through mediation of the tenants (especially of Mr. Samuel Burke},
the present convent site was, in 1876, obtained from Lady Margaret
Charteris, and, after manifold difficulties, the community in 1877
commenced to build. The foundation stone was laid by Count
Moore, July, 1877, when the sermon on the occasion was preached
by Dean O’Brien of Limerick. The contract price for one half the
present fine convent was £6,000 but this included fees of architect
and clerk of works. In 1881 building work recommenced and the
present completed structure was the result.

The list of Superiors is as follows :—
Mother M. Teresa Phelan, 1853-76.

,» Bernard Vaughan, 1876-87
,» Louis Halpin, 1887-90.

2

L2
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Mother M. Gertrude Foran, 1890--94.
Josephine Browne, 1894-1900,
,» . Cecilia Nolan, 1900-06.

»» . Josephine Browne, 1906-09.
Peter Robinson, 1909-15.

» 1 Cecilia Nolan, 1915-19.

» s Josephine Browne, 1919-26.
Peter Robinson, 1926-32.

» » Baptist Moore, 1932.

In 1883 a filiation was sent to Portlaw where a branch house
was opened on June 29th. This foundation was largely due to a
large bequest for the purpose made by the late Parish Priest of the
latter place, Rev. John McGrath. The same year a second colony
went out to take charge of the Workhouse Hospital, Clogheen, and
yet a third to undertake a similar work of mercy in Clonmel. In
1886 was opened the branch Convent of Clogheen and the following
year another branch Convent in Ballyporeen, for a fuller account
of which see under their respective parishes. At present the com-
munity numbers thirty-two members—exclusive of the Clogheen,
Clonmel and Ballyporeen offshoots, and in addition to their several
schools under the National Board, they conduct an advanced
Boarding School in Cahir.



Parish of Cappoquin.

This, like Abbeyside, Ballyporeen and Ballyduff, is a parish
of comparatively late origin. Unlike Abbeyside, etc., however, it
represents no ecclesiastical division of pre-Reformation times;
formerly it was part of Lismore parish from which it appears to
have been detached during the episcopacy of Dr. Creagh—about
1750. Geographically the parish is very long and narrow, stretching
from summit of the Knockmaeldown range to the River Bride, or
about sixteen miles. It has but a single public church, which is
situated centrally ; this dates from first quarter of the last century.
Lease of the site is made out (June 13th, 1819} from Sir John Keane
to John Hely, Esq. and Michael Kerrissy at one shilling per year,
for ever, if demanded. Erection of the present church—a plain
but neat and substantial edifice—was completed in 1822, when
the sacred building was dedicated under patronage of Our Lady’s
Nativity. Previously the pro-parish church was a humble thatched
chapel, furnished with three wooden galleries, which stood at a
place called Glenwheelan, about a mile to west of Cappoquin, on
the Lismore road. The present church has been repaired and
renovated several times—notably by Rev. Michael Spratt in 1856,
when the surrounding wall, topped by iron railings, was erected.
Again in 1872 the church floor was tiled and seating accommodation
provided. Present day readers require to be reminded that in
former times in Ireland—and even up to half a century since—the
church had few, if any, seats and that the worshipper knelt, without
support, often on a clay or concrete floor. Under such circumstances
and in those times arose the unseemly fashion which still persists
of kneeling on one knee only, like a sharpshooter.

At Mount Melleray Abbey is a semi-public chapel wherein a
considerable proportion of the parishioners fulfill the obligation
of Sunday Mass. As part of the parish is quite adjacent to Lismore
and correspondingly distant from Cappoquin, another large section
of the flock worships regularly in the former place.
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The new cemetery of Cappoquin was solemnly blessed on
October 6th, 1910 by Ven. Archdeacon McGrath as the delegate
of the Bishop. Previous to acquisition of this cemetery there was
not a place for Catholic burial within the parish if the few square
perches of ground attached to the parish church be excepted.

SUCCESSION OF PASTORS.

Rev. Michael Keating, ‘ Capperquin” was a subscriber to
Butler’s “ Lives of the Saints " published in 1779, This is the Rev.
Michael Keating who became Parish Priest of Cahir in 1791. It is
probable that he was the first formal Pastor of Cappoquin. Maurice
Lenihan, a reliable authority and a Waterford man, states (““ Lim-
erick Reporter’” June 30th, 1877) that our Michael Keating was
grandnephew of Dr. Geoffrey Keating the historian and that he
became Parish Priest of Cappoquin in 1750. He was translated
to Cahir in 1791.

Rev. William Loughnane died Parish Priest of Cappoquin in
1797 (Will, P.R.O.).

Rev. Thomas Flannery, P.P.,, Cappoquin, died in Clonmel
April, 1810, and is buried in St. Mary’s Church, of which his dis-
tinguished foster-brother, Rev. Dr. Flannery, V.G., was Parish
Priest. The Flannerys were natives of Stradbally and, in connexion
with the christening of one of them, a somewhat ludicrous incident
is related in the life of Donchadh Ruadh, the poet.

Rev. Patrick Whelan, appointed in 1810, was translated to
Modeligo in 1819. He is buried in Modeligo.

Rev. John Walsh, next in succession, held the pastorate for
thirty years, resigning in 1849 ; he is buried in the church at Cappo-
quin.

Rev. Michael Spratt, translated from Knockanore, succeeded.
He died in June, 1870, and is likewise buried in the church.

Rev. Patrick Power became Parish Priest in June, 1870, and
was translated to Dungarvan, in 1881, He died, however, before
taking possession of the latter parish and was buried within the
church at Cappoquin. Father Power was the author of the well
known work “ Catechism : Doctrinal, Moral, Historical, and Litur-
gical,” in three volumes, which has gone through many editions.
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He was a native of the environs of Cappoquin and was brother to
the venerable bishop of the diocese, Most Rev. Dr. John Power
(see under Ballyneal Parish, antea).

Father Power was succeeded, as Parish Priest of Cappoquin, by
Rev. Patrick Delaney, D.D., transferred thither from Dungarvan,
whither he had been translated from Ballyporeen. His pastorate
of Cappoquin endured only a month or two; he came in June,
1881, and left (re-translation) in August for Ballyporeen.

Rev. Francis O’Brien was translated from Kill in 1881 and
was again transferred, eleven years later, to SS. Peter and Paul’s,
Clonmel.

Rev. Thomas McDonnell was translated from Tooraneena in
1891 and transferred in 1894 to SS. Peter and Paul’s.

Rev. Patrick Spratt, translated hither from Kilsheelan; he
built the present parochial house, was raised to a canonry on forma-
tion of the Diocesan Chapter in 1902, and transferred to St. Mary’s,
Clonmel in 1906.

Rev. Philip Dunphy, Bishop’s Secretary for many years, was
appointed in July, 1906. Canon Dunphy died July, 1927.

Very Rev. Canon Whelan, D.D., who had been P.P. of Kil-
sheelan since 1919, succeeded in 1927. He died 1934.

Rev. Thomas Fitzgerald, 1934.

ECCLESIASTICAL ANTIQUITIES, ETC.

There are within the parish the remains of two ancient churches,
at Okyle and Relig Deglain (Drumroe) respectively. The former
is a very interesting ruin, furnished with a decorated Gothic (14th
century) east window and an external angle cell of unique character.
At Relig Deglain only foundations of the church are traceable ;
the early church here is presumed, on the evidence of the Saint’s
life, to mark the place of Declan’s birth. Teste the Justiciary Roll,
35, Ed. I., M. 52, the Templars held one messuage with buildings,
lands, and tenements at New Affane within this parish.

There are two holy wells—OQur Lady’s, above the town on the
hill slope, and Tobap an Tupaiy, still occasionally visited, near
Camphire. In addition there are early church sites at Okyle (distinct
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from the ruin just referred to), Kilbree (C. pige), Cappoquin
(within the demesne and close to the holy well above mentioned) and
Ralph (near western boundary of the parish).

In the church of Cappoquin was preserved, for a century and
a half, a small silver chalice once owned by Dr. Geoffrey Keating,
the historian. On the evidence of this chalice Dr. Keating has been
erroneously claimed as parochus, at one time, of Cappoquin. The
history of the sacred vessel is probably this :—it remained in the
historian’s family and thus came into possession of Rev. Michael
Keating, who is assumed to have been the first Parish Priest of
Cappoquin. Father Keating brought the chalice with him to Co.
Waterford and on his transfer to Cahir he left the sacred vessel
behind because, possibly, it was the only chalice in the parish at
the time. The interesting relic has recently been transferred for
safety to the Cathedral, Waterford.

Three small antique silver chalices, two of them of the 17th
century, likewise belong to this church. They are inscribed
respectively :—

“ Pray for the soul of Hugh Flyn and Margaret His Wife.
Amen. Anno Dom™ 1684.”

““ Orate pro aid D*¢ Catherinae Shee quae hunc calicem fieri
fecit, A° 1629.”

* Jacobus Launders me fieri fecit in usum parochiae de Cappoquin,
1803.”

Sometime in the first decade of the last century a school was
opened in Cappoquin by Patrick Denn, well known in his day and
remembered ever since as a writer of religious verse. A future
bishop of Waterford, Dr. John Power, was a pupil of Denn’s, at
Cappoquin. Denn'’s school was situated in the Main Street, near
the present Protestant Church, and it was attended by a large
number of grown boys and a few girls. Our devoted schoolmaster,
who was also a poet, acted as parish clerk, and taught Christian
Doctrine in the church on Sundays. He is the author of several
small Irish devotional and catechetical books, published through
the good offices of a Tallow man, Daniel Mulcahy, who had estab-
lished himself as a bookseller in Cork. Denn’s best known pro-
ductions are ““ Aighneas an Pheacuig Leis an mBas” and an Irish
translation of Bishop Challoner’s “ Think Well on It.” The former
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work has been several times published. Denn ended a good and
useful life by a holy death at the age of seventy-two, and was in-
terred in the churchyard at Cappoquin close to the north boundary
wall, wherein an inset tablet marks his grave. The tablet bears
the following eulogistic inscription :—

“ Of your Charity pray for the soul of
PatrICK DENN, whose remains repose
beneath this slab. The religious works

written by him in the Irish language

met with general approval and are

proofs of his learning as a Irish
Scholar and his zeal and piety as
a sincere Christian. His holy life was closed
by a happy death on the 5th July, 1828. Aged 72
Erected by Rev. P. Power.”

The pious guardian of the poet’s memory was the Rev. Patrick
Power, P.P. (1870-1881).

Among the ecclesiastical antiquities of Cappoquin ought be
included the legendary Rian Bo Phadraig or Track of St. Patrick’s
Cow, an ancient double earthwork, or rather trench, which runs
north and south through the parish for some seven or eight miles.
The earthwork, which local legend associates with a cow belonging
to St. Patrick, appears to have been an early roadway-—connecting
perhaps Cashel and Ardmore vig Lismore. It is possible, of course,
that the Rian is not a roadway but a territorial boundary mark
like the Claidhe Dubh of Fermoy or the Black Pig’s Dyke of Ulster,
but in physical character as well as in its tradition, it differs widely
from the two last; they are simply dykesor ditches—the Rian
has the appearance of a track, though in sections mountain torrents
have channelled it into a watercourse. For a fuller account of the
Rian with map, see Journal, Royal Society of Antiquaries of Ireland
vol. xxxv., pp. 110-129.

RELIGIOUS HOUSES.

I.—MouNT MELLERAY ABBEY.

Mount Melleray Abbey, a Cistercian house of the strict obser-
vance, situated on the southern slope of the Knockmealdown
Mountains, at a distance of about three miles from Cappoquin, is
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the first house of its order to be erected in Ireland since the sup-
pression of monasteries in the 16th century. Its parent house was
the Abbey of La Meilleraye in Brittany, whence the Irish members
of the community were expelled by Government decree in 1822 on
the score of their foreign nationality. By ways and means that
now seem providential, but which at the time seemed hardships,
the homeless monks were guided to Co. Waterford, where, in 1832,
sufficient land for their settlement was leased them by Sir Richard
Keane. On the eve of Ascension Thursday, 1832, Father Vincent
Ryan, superior of the new community, took formal possession.
Father Vincent, who, upon the new house’s elevation to abbatial
rank three years later, became its first abbot, was a native of Water-
ford city whence a strong religious vocation had drawn him half a
century previously. The newly secured land was unreclaimed
mountain on which the only building was a three roomed cottage.
After some years of bitter struggle, and after many privations
besides those ordained by their austere rule, the community found
themselves housed, with most of the land fenced and some of it
reclaimed and with a substantial but simply-furnished church in
which, by the way, the canonical offices have never once, since that
time, been omitted.

The Cistercian, it may be noted here, is a contemplative order
and its rule is of much rigour. The monks’ chief employment is
prayer—oral and mental—and singing of the Divine Office; to
this are added agricultural labour, long vigils and rigid fasting., At
Mount Melleray the rule is observed in its pristine severity; the
monks never eat meat or fish, they rise at two o’clockin the morning
and they observe perpetual silence.

In its early years the mountain monastery found good friends
in the bishop and priests of the diocese. Dr. Abraham, the bishop,
earnestly recommended them to the charity and good offices of his
clergy and the latter, with the able-bodied men of their parishes,
helped the monks to break up and fence the réidk, or wild mountain
land. Quite romantic and worthy of Carthage’s time, is the story
of the midnight marches to Mount Melleray of the entire male
population of parishes, the long days’ gratuitous toil on the mount-
ain side, the return homeward the following evening and night.-
Modeligo was the first parish to move ; it sent a mitheal of four
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hundred men to help the monks; carrying spades and grafans the
men marched to work with musicians at their head. Sometimes,
where the parish was large, the volunteers came in relays and on
successive days, Ballynoe (dio. of Cloyne) men, marching home after
their day’s labour at the monastery, met, in the night, another
body of their fellows on the way to Melleray to begin another day’s
work !

The first stone of the present monastery was laid in 1833 by
Sir Richard Keane in presence of the Bishop and a numerous assemb-
ly of clergy. A stirring appeal in Irish was made on behalf of the
building fund by Rev. Roger Murphy, curate of Aglish. Two
years later the monastery, now nearly completed, was raised to
the dignity of an abbey with Dom Vincent as its first abbot. The
abbatial blessing—such was the spirit of the time, even six years
after Emancipation—had, for prudence sake, to be conferred in
private.

Abbot Vincent was succeeded, in 1848, by Dom Bruno
Fitzpatrick. Under Abbot Bruno’s rule the abbey progressed for
nearly half a century. Considerable areas of the reclaimed mountain
had become grazing and tillage land, belts of timber had grown up
affording welcome shelter from the mountain blasts and the abbey
had prospered so far as to be able to send out two new foundations,
viz. :—New Melleray, Dubuque, U.S.A., and Mount St. Joseph’s,
Roscrea. Mount Melleray Seminary dates also from this period.
The Seminary proper is the successor of a small college established
by Abbot Vincent in 1843 ; its chief function is the early training
of candidates for the sacred ministry ; it also specialises in the
practical teaching of agriculture,

Abbot Carthage Delaney succeeded Abbot Bruno in 1894, and
was spared for fifteen years to consolidate and amplify the work
of his predecessor. He died, May, 1908,

The next abbot was Right Rev. Maurus O’Phelan, a native of
Decies, a noted speaker, preacher and writer of Irish, and an
excellent administrator. He was never known to say an uncharitable
word. He conceived the idea of a new monastic church on a scale
worthy of a great Cistercian Abbey and devoted much attention
in his late years to plans and to ways and means for its erection.
He died, universally regretted, in 1931. When death overtook him
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he was already engaged in erection of a Collegiate chapel, near the
entrance gate to the abbey, for use of the seminarians.

Right Rev. Abbot Stanislaus Hickey, who succeeded, had but
a brief term of office. He died in February, 1933—little more than
a year from his elevation. While attached to Mount Melleray
Seminary he had published a well known Manual of Moral
Philosophy for the use of students.

Right Rev. Celsus O’Connell, a native of Cloyne and Abbot of
St. Mary’s, Leicester, succeeded.

I1.—CONVENT OF MERCY.

The Convent of Mercy, Cappoquin, founded in November,
1850—a filiation from the Convent of Wexford—was the first
house of the order to be established in the diocese. It owes its origin
primarily to the zeal of Rev. M. Spratt, P.P., and was intended, in
the first instance, as a bulwark against proselytism and danger to
female morals. The original community consisted of only three
members, who occupied a vacant house opposite the parish church.
Soon after their arrival the sisters opened school in a building on
site, or thereabout, of the present Industrial School. Rapidly
increasing in number they acquired further accommodation through
purchase of adjoining houses. By 1854 they were able to send out
a daughter community to Dungarvan and, in 1864 they sent another
foundation to Cahir. Father Spratt, who had been a father and
tower of strength to the young community, died in 1870, bequeathing
his house, land and whole estate to the sisters. On the newly
acquired land they were able, three years later, to erect the present
Industrial School, for junior boys. In 1875 another new foundation
was sent out—to Stradbally and yet another, three years later, to
Kilmacthomas. At the request of Bishop Cani of Queensland, a
small band of three sisters set out from Cappoquin in 1892 for
missionary work in distant Rockhampton. Finally, in 1903, a
branch convent was established in Ardmore.

After more than half a century’s occupation the old provisional
convent buildings had become unsuitable and inconvenient. In
1903 a new convent building was erected on a new and splendid
site outside the town and overlooking the beautiful Blackwater

valley.



110 WATERFORD AND LISMORE

Superiors :—

Mother M. Vincent Fanning, 1850-59.

”»

"

»

Joseph Mahoney, 1859-71,
Catherine Devereux, 1871-77.
Teresa Dwyer, 1877-83.
Catherine Devereux, 1883-86.
Augustine O’Shea, 1886-89.
Catherine Devereux, 1889-90.
Evangelist Crosbie, 1890-93.
Joseph Cullen, 1893-99.
Evangelist Crosbie, 1899-1902.
Joseph Cullen, 1902-08.
Berchmans Kirwan, 1908-14,
Joseph Cullen, 1914-20.
Stanislaus Bonfil, 1920-26.
Joseph Cullen, 1926-27.
Stanislaus Bonfil, 1927-33.



Parish of Carrickbeg and Windgap.

The present union embraces the ancient parishes of Kilmoleran,
Disert, and Fenough. The Patron Saint of Carrickbeg is Saint
Molleran who is, possibly, St. Aileran the Wise, of the Irish martyr-
ologies. No special devotion is practised in his honour, nor as far
as the writer has been able to discover has there ever been any if
we except the association of his name with a holy well. The Patron
of the church at Windgap is Saint Bartholomew, in whose honour
there are no special devotions. It is very curious, by the way,
how many old churches in Ireland are dedicated to St. Bartholomew
under his Irish name, Parthalon.

The belfry and tower and almost all the northern side of the
parochial church of Carrickbeg are remains of the old Franciscan
Friary, which was originally erected in 1336 through public charity
upon a site given by James, first Earl of Ormond. This friary was
surrendered to the Crown in 1540. The present church is wider
but shorter than the Franciscan church which it has replaced.
The old church extended west as far as the present public road—
that is, it projected about seven yards beyond the vestibule of its
modern successor. At the western end, facing the road, was a very
large arched doorway and the walls, it is said, were built on arches
to cope with the slope of the ground. Rev. Michael Power it was
who restored the old Franciscan church to Catholic usage, in 1827.
The ruin of the monastery was at the time in possession of Richard
Sausse, Esq., who, with characteristic generosity and piety, made it
over in trust to five laymen for the use of the parish. The donor’s
name is commemorated on a mural tablet within the church :—
‘ Sacred to the memory of Sir Mathew Sausse, fourth son of Richard
Sausse, Esqr., of Carrick-on-Suir and Annsboro, Co. Kilkenny,
late Chief Justice of the High Court of Bombay ; the first Roman
Catholic who ever sat on the Indian Bench, of Ancient Lineage
the model of a highminded gentleman, he married on 27th November,
1866, Charlotte youngest daughter of Lord Lovat, and died without
issue on the 5th November, 1867, aged 58 years, a religious death,
at Killarney House, the seat of Viscount Castlerosse. This slender
tribute to his beloved memory and worth was offered by his only
surviving brother, Sir Richard De La Saussaye, Major-General of
the Armies of Spain.” In the year 1827 a case relative to the
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Convent of Carrickbeg was stated for Counsel, in the person of
O’Connell. The querists proved that, by purchase, this Monastery
with the monastic lands became vested in Henry Straffan, Esq.,
and were bought from his successor by Richard Sausse, Esq., of
Carrick, in whose possession they then were. The Monastery
aforesaid, was in the parish of Kilmolleran in the County Waterford,
and since its surrender by the late Guardian was suffered to fall
into decay. The Roman Catholic clergyman and his parishioners.
were then rebuilding it for the purpose of divine worship, but the
Protestant rector, who had no church, threatened to possess himself
of it when repaired. The parish was vicarial and rectorial, and the
vicar was in possession of the parish church (Protestant), where
he and his curate regularly officiated. The rector had a sinecure,
as there was never more than one church in the parish. Under
these circumstances O’Connell was asked to say if the Roman
Catholic clergyman and his flock could be prevented from using
the friary, which was private property, when rebuilt as a place of
worship, or could the Protestant rector, then or at any future time,
take possession of it. O’Connell advised the querists to be under
no apprehension from the threats of the Protestant rector, who had
clearly no right to obstruct them in repairing the Monastery
or in holding it when these repairs were completed. On thfs
assurance the church was rebuilt, and it has ever since been
used as the Catholic parish church, the rector not deeming it wise
to interfere. Adjoining the church is a graveyard suitably enclosed
by wall and railings. Before the present church had been secured
for Catholic worship the people used a Penal Days’ building which
stood to the rear of the modern Courthouse. This old church was
cruciform in plan, with galleries in the transepts, and a gallery
also opposite the high altar. There still stands a fragment of
wall against which back of the altar rested ; this shows traces
of windows and even of the altar piece, which consisted of a painted
picture of the crucifixion. There was also a little chapel, or a house
used as a chapel, by the roadside, opposite the old lime kiln, about
one hundred and fifty yards from the new bridge. Whether this
was predecessor, cotemporary, or successor of the old chapel just
described there is nothing to indicate. The present church of
Windgap was built in the year 1870 by Rev. Nicholas Phelan on
the site of an older chapel, regarding the age of which there is no
information.
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The Catholic population of the parish is estimated at nineteen
hundred, and baptisms number about twenty-two in the year.

The Parochial Registers begin at 1807.

SUCCESSION OF PASTORS.

Rev. William Kennedy, residing at Carrickbeg and ordained
in 1675 by the Archbishop of Paris, was Parish Priest of Dysert in
1704 ; in the same year Cornelius Mahoney, residing at Gurteen,
was registered as pastor of Fenough.

In 1762, at the age of 75 years, died Rev. John Duggan who is
stated to have been Parish Priest of Carrickbeg for forty-two years.

Rev. William Lonergan succeeded and survived till 1804. On
September 2nd, 1786, a public meeting in Carrick denounced the
Right Boys and especially those concerned in threatening and ill-
treating Father Lonergan and in attempting to burn the friary.
Under date October 14th, 1797, ** Finn’s Leinster Journal " records
that Rev. Mr. Lonergan had publicly denounced one Stephen
Devany, a notorious perjurer and approver, for ‘‘ informing "’ against
certain parishioners of Carrickbeg.

Rev. William O’Meara, 1804—6 ; he was translated to Mothel.

Rev. Michael Rourke, 1806-13: translated to Portlaw.

Rev. Patrick Wall, 1813-1822; he was translated to Mothel
and, later, to Stradbally. Father Wall was patron, for many years,
of the Irish scribe, Thomas O’Hickey.

Rev. John Quirke, 1822-25; for many years he had been
curate in Trinity-Without.

Rev. Michael Power, popularly known as ‘' The Master,”” was
appointed in 1825 but transferred to Stradbally in 1834. It was
he who built the present serviceable parish church, literally on the
ruins of the old Franciscan edifice. A tablet inserted in the front
wall commemorates erection of the church by the ‘ parishoners”
which gave occasion to the witty Parish Priest of Carrick to observe
that his confrere of Carrickbeg had knocked an ““ eye ’’ out of his
parishioners.

Rev. Patrick Gaftney, 1834-49.
Rev. Timothy Dowley, 1849-52 ; translated to Mothel.
Rev. John McGrath, 1852-57 ; transferred to Portlaw.

I
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Rev. Richard Henebry, 1857-62.
Rev. Robert Henebry, 1862-66.
Rev. Nicholas Phelan, 1866-74 ; transferred to Kilsheelan.

Rev. Edmund Mooney, 1874-1902; he died aged 82 years.
Father Mooney erected the present Parish Priest’s residence.

Rev. Martin Power, 1902-7 ; he was transferred to Dunhill.

Rev. Philip Power, 1907-20; he resigned in 1920 and died
five years later.

Rev. William Ormond, who had been Administrator since
1918, became Parish Priest in 1920.

ECCLESIASTICAL ANTIQUITIES.

There are four ancient cemeteries, all still in use, but in only
two are there any remains of the pre-Reformation church, scil. :(—
Churchtown (Disert Nairbre) and Carrickbeg (Old Friary). In
Fenough and Kilmoleran there are practically no remains. The
ruin at Churchiown consists of two or three yards of featureless
side wall. Within the surrounding cemetery are two or three
interesting inscriptions on recumbent gravestones. One, bearing
date 1587, commemorates John Butler Fitzgerald, of Bolendisert,
and his wife ; another, less ancient by some sixty years, marks the
last resting place of Charles Everard, grandson of Sir John Everard
of Fethard. Churchtown is also variously known as Ballintemple
and Disert, Dysart, or Desart. It is the Disert Nairbre of the Irish
Martyrologies, etc.—a notable place in pre-Invasion times. A
religious establishment was founded here, as early as the 6th century,
by St. Aidan or Moguz, probably the patron of Ferns. There appear
to have been two saints of the name, both Ulster men, both nearly,
if not exactly, cotemporaries, and both connected with Wexford—
one as Bishop of Ferns the other as Abbot of Clonmore. When
Mogue (according to the account in Colgan), with his companions,
reached the eastern shore of Waterford harbour on their journey
to Decies they sought in vain for boats to transport them across.
On the saint’s suggestion however the horses were urged forward
to the water, on which they walked across dry shod ! Attached
to the parish church of Carrickbeg is the second ancient cemetery
alluded to; this is, of course, the old Friary burial ground, and it
very probably covers the site of the ancient cloisters. From the



PARISH OF CARRICKBEG AND WINDGAP 115

nature of the place the cloisters can hardly have been placed in
Carrickbeg at the north side of the church as they usually are in
Franciscan houses. The old cemetery known as Retig na Muc at
Carrickbeg, contains the site of the ancient parish church of Kil-
moleran. There are no remains of the church, though probably
some of its materials were used in erection of a pretentious mausoleum
to one Morgan Hayes, somewhat noted in his days as a duellist, etc.
‘The cemetery is remarkable for the number of inscribed monuments
. to old-time priests of Carrick and Carrickbeg. A recumbent, grave
‘slab with a long Latin inscription covers the ashes of Dr. Creagh,
_ Bishop of Waterford and Lismore, who died 1775.  The old cemetery
at Fenough encloses, as is evident from its circular outline, the site
of an early Celtic church. Within the cemetery or at its entrance
there stood, forty years ago, an ogham inscribed pillar stone which
has since disappeared.

A quarter of a mile or thereabout from Carrickbeg, on the old
Mothel road, is a reputed holy well—St. Molleran’s—to which
devotees, it is said, at one time, resorted. There are also at Cooclna-
muck two wells bearing minor reputations for supernatural virtue
of some sort. One is St. Anthony’s, which formerly had a
* pattern ”’ but has now lost not only most of its ancient
reputation but practically its very name. The other, * St.
Vallery’s,”” is better remembered. The real name of this latter is
Toberavalley (Tobap o Destat, z.e. “ Well by the Roadway ")
which ignorant place-name rendering has made ‘* St. Vallery’s ” !

The parish has two ancient chalices with inscriptions :—(a)
“* Pray for the Rt. Honourable Justin, Earl of Fingall, who caused
this chalice to be made, 1728 *’ and (b) “ Emit me Joannes Walsh,
1789.”

Among distinguished natives of the parish Rev. Dr. Michael
O’Hickey claims a place. He was born in 1860 at Carrickbeg, but,
owing to death of his mother while he was yet an infant, he was
brought up by his widowed aunt, Mrs. O’Brien, proprietress of a small
weaving factory. He studied first in the local schools and, then, in
St. John’s College, Waterford, where he was ordained in 1884,
Having served some years on the Scotch mission(Diocese of Galloway),
he was recalled to Ireland and appointed curate of Kill, where he
secured for his successors the present pleasantly situated curate’s
residence. This latter by the way had been a former parochial
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house. Upon introduction of Religious Knowledge inspection
Father O'Hickey was made the first examiner under the scheme,
but, about a year later, he was called to Maynooth College to fill
the chair of Modern Irish vacated through the illness of Father
O’Growney. While in Maynooth Father O’Hickey had conferred
on him, konorts causa, the degree of D.D. In 1909, owing to an
unfortunate difference of opinion with the College president (Dr.
Mannix) and the trustees, Dr. O’"Hickey had to withdraw from May-
nooth. Thence he proceeded to Rome for the purpose of testing
legality of the action against him. His case dragged on, in slow and
weary course for seven years, when it ended in Dr. O’Hickey’s
death, from heartbreak, in 1916. Dr. O’Hickey’s writings, which
are distinguished by trenchant vigour, are mostly polemical and
consequently ephemeral—evoked by the controversy over suggested
essential Irish in the new National University curriculum. Owing
mainly to Dr. O'Hickey’s fervid propaganda in the newspapers
-and in pamphlets Irish did become an essential subject for all
National University students and consequently for students of
Maynooth. The reader who wishes to follow this matter further
will find in Rev. Dr, Walter McDonald’s clear, if pungent, state-
ment (“ A Maynooth Professor ') material for the purpose. Dr.
O’Hickey also did some useful literary work in collecting and editing
the works of forgotten Co. Waterford poets like John Walsh and
Michael Cavanagh of Cappoquin,

RELIGIOUS HOUSE.
FranciscaNn CONVENT.

The Franciscan Convent of Carrick-on-Suir (Carrick-mac-
Griffin), in the Barony of Upperthird, Co. Waterford, was founded
in 1336, by James, first Earl of Ormond. John Clynn was the
first Guardian, but, soon after his appointment, he retired to the
Convent of his Order at Kilkenny, where he is said to have written
the greater part of his “ Annals of Ireland,” a Latin work of
considerable historical importance. On the 21st February, 1347,
a licence was granted to the second Earl of Ormond, permitting
him to alienate a me